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CENTROTEC Sustainable AG
has a presence in over 50 countries, with its own subsidiaries in 13 countries. 
The principal group companies are Wolf, Brink Climate Systems and Ned Air in theClimate Systems segment, 
which have specialised in heating, climate control and ventilation technology e.g. in the form of solar thermal 
systems, heat pumps, CHP units, biogas treatment plants, and climate control and ventilation systems with 
heat recovery for residential and commercial buildings; in the Gas Flue Systems segment, Ubbink and  
Centrotherm have focused on plastic gas flue and air ducting systems. CENTROTEC is therefore Europe’s only 
listed full-service provider of energy-saving solutions for buildings, with a comprehensive range of heating,  
climate control and ventilation solutions, alongside solar thermal systems. These high-quality product solutions 
are manufactured exclusively in Germany and the Netherlands.

CENTROTEC and its

Representatives

Subsidiaries

Climate Systems

01 Wolf GmbH, Mainburg, DE
02 Wolf France S.A.S., Massy, FR
03 Wolf Iberica S.A., Madrid, SP
04 Wolf Technika Grzewcza Sp.z.o.o., Warschau, PL
05 Dreyer & Bosse Kraftwerke GmbH, Gorleben, DE
06 Kuntschar + Schlüter GmbH, Wolfhagen, DE
07 Wolf Energosberegayuschtie sistemi OOO, Moscow, RU
08 Brink Climate Systems B.V., Staphorst, NL
09 Brink Climate Systems Deutschland GmbH, Ahaus, DE
10 Ned Air B.V., Kampen, NL

Gas Flue Systems

01 Ubbink B.V., Doesburg, NL
02 Centrotherm Systemtechnik GmbH, Brilon, DE
03 Ubbink France S.A.S., Nantes, FR
04 Ubbink N.V./S.A., Gentbrugge, BE
05 Ubbink UK Ltd., Brackley, GB
06 Centrotherm Gas Flue Technologies Italy S.R.L., Verona, IT
07	 Centrotherm Eco Systems LLC, Albany, US
08 Ubbink East Africa Ltd., Naivasha, KE

Medical Technology &  
Engineering Plastics

01 Möller Medical GmbH, Fulda, DE
02 Centroplast Engineering Plastics GmbH, Marsberg, DE
03 Rolf Schmidt Industri Plast A/S, Kolding, DK



Gearing
[Net interest bearing debt/equity]

* Earnings per share, undilluted

** After elimination of gains from transactions with minorities. Figures incl. special factors for 2005: EUR 1.13, for 2006: EUR 0.88

*** Excluding results from shareholdings

CAGR Compound Annual Growth Rate (2003 - 2011)

Share price
 [in EUR]

Revenue
 [in EUR million] 

 CAGR +21 % p. a.

 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

116 135 153

396 406
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476 467 480

EBITDA
 [in EUR million] 

 CAGR +12 % p. a.

EBIT
 [in EUR million] 

 CAGR +8 % p. a.

EPS*
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Five-Year Comparison

* Quotation in EUR

** Weighted average shares outstanding (basic; in thousand)

  
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

Changes
2011 to 2010

  [EUR ‘000] [EUR ‘000] [EUR ‘000] [EUR ‘000] [EUR ‘000]   [Percent]  

Total revenue (reported)    406,417     476,081     466,613   479,650 537,841 12.1

Climate Systems    274,111   319,308   309,524   331,769 381,782 15.1

Gas Flue Systems      96,359     118,822     128,111   112,835 116,347 3.1

Medical Technology & Engineering Plastics      35,947       37,951       28,978   35,046 39,712 13.3

Earnings             

EBITDA      43,622       48,808       46,641   54,582 46,898 (14.1)

EBIT      27,552       32,171       29,037   36,158 24,770 (31.5)

EBIT yield (in %)        6.8         6.8         6.2   7.5 4.6

EBT      18,463       25,785       12,727   34,541 (404) (101.2)

EAT      16,501       18,635         5,216   25,572 (9,401) (136.8)

EPS (in EUR, basic)   1.01         1.13        0.33 1.54 (0.55) (135.7)

Balance sheet structure 31/12/             

Balance sheet total 361,773 378,384 379,646 399,561 425,690 6.5

Shareholders’ equity 109,066 127,804 132,674 160,816 157,453 (2.1)

Equity ratio (%) 30.1 33.8 34.9 40.2 37.0

Property, plant and equipment 94,128 94,702 91,252 91,946 95,180 3.5

Intangible assets 37,427 36,571 37,542 39,265 46,765 19.1

Goodwill 60,482 60,911 60,914 61,074 69,738 14.2

Net financial liabilities 121,778 114,101 86,451 71,123 60,113 (15.5)

Net Working Capital  54,497 65,124 53,642 57,572 56,030 (2.7)

Cash flow statement             

Cash flow I (EAT & depreciation/amortisation) 32,571 35,272 22,820 43,996 12,727 (71.1)

Cash flow from operating activities 32,666 24,847 45,025 35,840 41,843 16.7

Cash flow from investing activities (19,097) (17,928) (18,006) (22,077) (28,875) 30.8

Employees 31/12/             

Total (in FTE)  2,390   2,605   2,614   2,663 2,906 9.1

Shares      

Number of shares** 16,427   16,525   16,610   16,750 17,164   

Highest quotation* 18.36 16.14 10.80 17.50 24.25   

Lowest quotation* 11.00 6.85 6.05 9.15 10.61   

Year-end quotation* 13.85 10.60 9.44 16.00 11.28   



Integrity
For CENTROTEC, integrity means a consistently 
fair, transparent, honest and incorruptible way 
of behaving, both for the enterprise and for the 

individual.

For us, that means we have to say what we 
think, and do what we say!

Social Responsibilty
CENTROTEC bears social responsi-
bility both for its employees and for 
its wider corporate environment. It 
is important for us to regard emplo-
yees as human beings, not merely a 
resource, and to address their indivi-
dual needs as effectively as possible.

Entrepreneurial Action
For every employee, entrepreneurial 
action means treating the company 
as if it were his or her own, and de-
monstrating the responsibility and 
foresight that this would entail. This 
offers opportunities for both the 
company and the individual.

Acting sustainably
means meeting today’s needs without 
endangering the scope of future 
generations to do likewise. The way 
energy is used and the consequences 
of its use are of key importance for a 
sustainable society. To achieve that 
goal, CENTROTEC supplies afforda-
ble solutions for saving energy and 
putting renewable energies to a wide 
range of uses in buildings.

Core Values

Social Responsibilty

Entrepreneurial Action
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CENTROTEC promotes this entrepre-
neurial spirit by granting its emplo-
yees and subsidiaries the maximum 
possible freedom of scope.

In developing, manufacturing and 
selling our solutions, we strive for 
the highest possible standards of 
resource efficiency and sustainabi-
lity. For each individual, this action 
begins with a sense of personal 
responsibility towards the wider 
community.

In addressing the corporate environ-
ment, CENTROTEC operates ethically 
and responsibly, and furthermore 
shows independent initiative in pro-
moting living conditions and social 
cohesion within its direct sphere of 
influence (good corporate citizenship).



Company Structure
CENTROTEC	Sustainable	AG

Medical Technology &
Engineering Plastics
100 %

medimondi AG  
Fulda, DE

Möller Medical GmbH 
Fulda, DE

Centroplast  
Engineering Plastics GmbH  
Marsberg, DE

Rolf Schmidt  
Industriplast A/S  
Kolding, DK

Gas Flue Systems
100 %
Ubbink B.V.  
Doesburg, NL

Centrotherm  
Systemtechnik GmbH  
Brilon, DE

Ubbink France S.A.S  
La Chapelle sur Erdre, FR

Ubbink N.V./S.A. 
Gentbrugge, BE

Ubbink UK Ltd.  
Brackley, GB

Centrotherm Gas Flue  
Technologies Italy S.R.L.  
Verona, IT

Centrotherm Eco Systems LLC
Albany, US

Ubbink East Africa Ltd.
Naivasha, KE

Centrotec  
J I Asia Pte. Ltd.  
Singapur, SG

SOLAR23 GmbH
(60 %) Ungerhausen, DE

Climate Systems
100 %

CENTROSOLAR Group AG
(26 %) Munich, DE

Industrial Solar GmbH
(38 %) Freiburg, DE

Bond-Laminates GmbH 
(25 %) Brilon, DE

At Equity Investments

Wolf GmbH  
Mainburg, DE

Wolf France S.A.S.  
Massy, FR

Wolf Iberica S.A.  
Madrid, ES

Wolf Technika  
Grzewcza Sp.z.o.o.  
Warschau, PL

Wolf Energosberegayuschtie  
sistemi OOO
Moscow, RU

Wolf Klimaattechniek B.V. 
Kampen, NL

Kuntschar + Schlüter GmbH  
Wolfhagen, DE

Dreyer & Bosse 
Kraftwerke GmbH
(80 %) Gorleben, DE

Brink Climate  
Systems B.V.  
Staphorst, NL

Brink Climate Systems  
Deutschland GmbH  
Ahaus, DE

Ned Air B.V.  
Kampen, NL
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	 4 Brief an die Aktionäre

 The product range has been 
systematically updated and 
gradually refined over the past 
few years to place greater em-
phasis on user-friendliness and 
efficient all-in systems. Exam-
ples include a range of heat 

"

	 4 Letter to Shareholders



Letter to Shareholders
Dear	Shareholders, The business performance of the CENTROTEC Group’s companies 
in the 2011 financial year revealed a mixed picture. The group’s biggest segment, Climate 
Systems, maintained the positive trend of recent years and the smallest corporate segment, 
Medical Technology & Engineering Plastics, overcame the aftermath of the financial crisis 
with a healthy rise in revenue and also increased its operating profit after elimination of 
non-recurring effects. On the other hand business for the fastest-growing corporate  
segment of recent years, Gas Flue Systems, was disappointing.

pumps offering market-leading performance, an innovative 
air ducting system for controlled home ventilation, a passive-
house compact system that combines controlled home  
ventilation with solar thermal and a gas condensing boiler, 
and a gas-solar centre that brings together solar thermal  
and efficient condensing boiler technology in a single  
appliance. Dr Gert-Jan Huisman
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In 2011 the latter segment was unable to build on the positive trend of the recent past and a marked 
downturn in photovoltaic activities led to disappointing trading results. We have taken appropriate action 
and shut down unprofitable business areas. The measures include in particular the shedding of all major 
activities in the photovoltaic market, which experienced considerable upheaval in 2011 as a result of the 
very aggressive price strategies of Asian suppliers, coinciding with the abolition or curtailment of feed-in 
tariffs and financial incentives in many European core markets.
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At group level, we increased revenue to EUR 538 million, a rise of 12 %. The mainstay of this growth was 
the Climate Systems segment, where sales of energy-efficient heating, climate control and ventilation 
systems continued to develop positively. Furthermore, the inclusion of Dreyer & Bosse Kraftwerke GmbH 
in consolidation from August 2011 contributed around EUR 21 million to the rise in revenue. All in all, we 
thus achieved the revenue target of EUR 520 to 535 million that we set at the start of the year, though 
our organic growth of 7 % placed us just short of this range at EUR 517 million. However, we clearly 
missed the original target for the operating result (EBIT) of EUR 40 to 42 million and were 32 % down on 
the previous year’s earnings of EUR 36.2 million. The main factors behind this development were the ad-
justment of the portfolio, involving a non-cash, non-recurring write-down of EUR 9 million, and the below-
par business performance in the Gas Flue Systems segment. We were also exposed to the turbulence 
of the photovoltaic market through the equity investment result for our 26 % interest in CENTROSOLAR 
Group AG. Thanks to its flexible procurement strategy and focus on smaller roof systems, along with its 
strong sales position, CENTROSOLAR is much better placed than many of its competitors; it was never-
theless unable to stave off the considerable market turmoil since 2011. At the earnings per share (EPS) 
level that is of relevance for you, the investor, we have to report a negative but non-cash earnings contri-
bution of EUR -1.13 from the CENTROSOLAR investment; this reflects the write-down of the investment 
by EUR 15 million that was applied in the third quarter.

Now that the Gas Flue Systems segment’s portfolio has been adjusted, we will focus once more on its 
core business of plastic gas flue and air ducting systems and build on its ample expertise in that area. 
At the same time we will continue with our drive to internationalise, turning our attention in particular to 
future growth markets for energy-efficient technology for buildings, such as North America.

Let us also take stock of the positive developments in the past financial year of 2011. In the Climate Sys-
tems segment, we were able to extend our market position with innovative system solutions for energy 
saving in buildings in the relevant target markets. Both in our core markets and internationally, we won 
over a large number of new customers and successfully built on existing ties with customers. This is re-
flected for instance in a further increase in our market shares and in evidence of our growing customer 
satisfaction ratings. At operating level we were able to make further process improvements, and we also 
compensated e.g. for the substantial price rises for materials in the first quarter of the past financial year 
by implementing profitability improvement programmes and price increases. New products were further-
more added to the innovative product range, which was presented to a growing circle of customers and 
prospective buyers at such events as the Frankfurt ISH in March 2011, the world’s largest exhibition for 
heating, climate technology, renewables and sanitation.

As well as developing its own product innovations, CENTROTEC once again made new corporate invest-
ments that extend its strategic position after having held back for a number of years. We have added to 
our range of solutions in the field of renewable heat in taking a majority stake in the biogas CHP manu-
facturer Dreyer & Bosse and acquiring an interest in the solar thermal process heat specialist Industrial 
Solar. In view of the capability of biogas to cover the base load in power generation, this is a crucial buil-
ding block in the energy supply of the future; in Germany, more power is already generated using biogas 
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than with photovoltaics. Solar process heat in the 130°-400°C temperature range as generated by Indus-
trial Solar’s high-efficiency Fresnel collector system will produce greater energy efficiency and a higher 
CO2 saving in many industrial processes and in solar cooling.

For the 2012 financial year that is now under way, we expect the general environment to prove more 
difficult as a result of the unsettling effect of the sovereign debt crisis in the eurozone, and we have 
detected initial signs of a slowdown in the market over the past few months. At the same time, we are 
firmly convinced that our strategic decision to focus on innovative energy-saving solutions in buildings is 
the right one. Even if the headlines were dominated by other topics in 2011, various reports banished to 
the fringes of our attention point to a recent dramatic rise in CO2 emissions into the earth’s atmosphere, 
highlighting the ever-growing need to act on climate protection if we are not to endanger the very basis 
of life on this planet by pushing it beyond the tipping point. Our even broader product range of systems 
that save energy and use renewables in buildings features suitable technologies and solutions for heating, 
ventilation and climate control, promoting the compatibility of energy conservation and therefore climate 
protection with comfort. Despite the generally more difficult economic environment, the CENTROTEC 
Group therefore operates in an industry of the future and is well positioned to capture further profitable 
growth – both in its established core markets and in the future international growth markets. For the 
current 2012 financial year, we therefore expect to see further revenue growth and, because the non-
recurring charges from the adjustment to the portfolio were realised in full in 2011, a significant improve-
ment in earnings.

Building on our desire to develop our company successfully in the global growth market for energy effici-
ency in buildings, we again kept up our efforts to improve energy conservation and climate protection 
within our own company in 2011. We systematically recorded our own CO2 emissions for the first time 
and submitted a report to the Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP), the world’s leading database for informa-
tion on industry’s emissions and climate protection strategies. We also published our first Sustainability 
Report, which will both serve as a source of information for investors, media, customers and government 
agencies, and be gradually refined in future years as a particular incentive to optimise the sustainability 
and CO2 emissions of operational processes and products.

With our innovative energy-saving solutions for buildings and the market position we have achieved to 
date, we also aim to continue helping to save energy and protect the climate, while developing the  
CENTROTEC Group successfully in this global market of the future – to the advantage of our sharehol-
ders, customers, suppliers and employees, and to sustain the very basis of our livelihood on this planet.

 With best wishes,

 Dr Gert-Jan Huisman
 [Chief Executive Officer]
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Dr Gert-Jan Huisman

Dr Gert-Jan Huisman (CEO, born 1968), 
a Doctor of Business Management, has 
been the CEO of CENTROTEC Sustainable 
AG since 2002. A Dutch national, he has 
held management positions in Germany 
for long years, including as branch mana-
ger of a bank. He in addition worked at 
McKinsey & Company for several years as  
Senior Consultant and Project Manager.

Anton Hans

Anton Hans (CFO, born 1965), Business 
Manager, was appointed deputy Manage-
ment Board member in May 2007 and 
Chief Financial Officer in January 2008.  
He has also taken charge of Finance at 
Brink Climate Systems. Prior to joining 
CENTROTEC, Anton Hans worked as a 
Senior Consultant for Reporting with focus 
on IFRS at Ernst & Young.

Dr Christoph Traxler

Dr rer. nat. Christoph Traxler (born 1968), 
a member of the CENTROTEC Sustainable 
Management Board since early 2004, is 
responsible for the business area Medical 
Technology & Engineering Plastics of  
CENTROTEC Sustainable AG. The theo-
retical physicist and former Engagement 
Manager of McKinsey & Company, has 
turned the company Möller Medical into 
an innovative medical devices manufactu-
rer and developer with an own, successful 
product brand.

CENTROTEC 
The	Management	Board



Report of the Supervisory Board
Dear	Shareholders, The Supervisory Board of CENTROTEC Sustainable AG performed the 
tasks resting upon it in accordance with the law, the articles of incorporation and the rules 
of internal procedure during the 2011 financial year, in regularly advising the Management 
Board on the running of the company and monitoring its activities.
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We cannot be satisfied with the overall result for the CENTROTEC Group in the past financial year of 2011. 
Particularly the photovoltaic activities in the Gas Flue Systems segment, not strictly part of our core busi-
ness, had a negative impact on the balance sheet. A consistent response was adopted to the loss-making 
situation by adjusting the portfolio and taking appropriate action, so that business is focused once more 
on the core skills in the sphere of heating, climate control and ventilation technology.

In the business areas of energy-efficient heating, climate control and ventilation technology, which have 
long represented the strategic core of the CENTROTEC Group, the 2011 financial year proved a success. 
This was reflected in a sales performance that easily exceeded overall market growth, the number of new 
customers acquired and, last but not least, the continuing positive earnings trend in Climate Systems, the 
strategic core segment – even though the economic environment became distinctly more difficult in the 
course of 2011.

Over the next few years CENTROTEC will maintain its strategic focus on energy-saving systems in buil-
dings. It will steadily build on its strengths in the technology, production and sales areas, and systemati-
cally eliminate the weak points. Its aim remains to achieve profitable growth in the international emerging 
market for saving energy and using renewables in buildings, and thus to increase the value of the com-
pany still further. The Supervisory Board supports and advises the Management Board in connection with 
such moves and critically scrutinises any such plans, while demonstrating the necessary receptiveness to 
new developments.



Guido A Krass 
[Chairman]

Guido A Krass (born 1957) is an industrial lawyer and entrepreneur who has 
been focussing on rapidly growing mediumsized businesses since 1986. As 
a founder and important shareholder of CENTROTEC he is actively involved 
in terms of strategy and human resources management. He is able to call 
on a worldwide network of contacts in generating new business ideas and 
identifying interesting acquisition targets.
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The Supervisory Board held a total of five regular meetings in the 2011 financial year. In regular reports 
on the business position, the Supervisory Board was informed in detail and in a timely manner by the  
Management Board of the current business progress of the company, including above all the develop-
ment in its revenue, orders, financial performance and financial position, along with the company’s  
discernible opportunities and risks of future development. Annual, half-yearly and quarterly financial  
reports were discussed by the Supervisory Board with the Board of Management prior to their publica-
tion. Decisions of the Management Board requiring approval were examined and discussed at length 
by the Supervisory Board prior to their approval. Supervisory Board meetings during 2011 were held on 
March 22, March 30, May 26, September 20 and December 15. All Supervisory Board members atten-
ded all meetings in person.

Outside the context of their regular meetings, too, the members of the Supervisory Board discussed forth- 
coming projects and matters of substantive importance with the Management Board and management 
employees of the company in face-to-face discussions and by means of telephone conferences. Written 
reports were furthermore submitted on specific projects and issues. The Management Board always  
satisfied the information and reporting requirements laid down by the Supervisory Board in every respect. 
As the Supervisory Board has only three members, no committees were formed. All matters were dis-
cussed by the full board.

In the 2011 financial year there were again no conflicts of interest among Management Board and Super-
visory Board members that are to be disclosed to the Supervisory Board without delay and of which the 
Shareholders’ Meeting is to be informed.

The topics discussed at the Supervisory Board meetings comprised fundamental and strategic matters 
concerning the holding company, segments and individual companies, and in particular the further 
expansion of markets and technologies, but also individual matters of major importance and with far-
reaching consequences from the viewpoint of the group. The individual matters discussed comprised:
> The strategic direction and business policy of the group, the segments and the group companies
> General business performance and financial reports to be published
> Acquisitions in progress and in preparation, as well as possible options for acquisitions
> Major or strategically significant investment decisions
> Various topics concerning the operating companies and the progress of important areas of business
> The risk position, in particular strategic, operating and financial risks as well as risk management
> IT and information security
> The financial reporting process and internal system of control
> Matters of financing
> The corporate culture and social issues
> Observance of the Corporate Governance Code
> Changes to regulatory and negotiable instruments law
> Remuneration structures of the Management Board and management employees
> The efficiency of the Supervisory Board’s own activities

The Supervisory Board and Management Board discussed corporate governance within the company at 
length during the year under review and jointly issued an updated Declaration of Compliance on the Ger-
man Corporate Governance Code in accordance with Section 161 of German Stock Corporation Law, and 
made it permanently available to the shareholders on the company’s website. Other topics of detailed 
consultations included issuing the audit mandate to the auditors following their election by the Share- 
holders’ Meeting, monitoring their independence and the services provided by them, and determining 
their fee.
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The Supervisory Board considered the Management Board’s remuneration system in the latter’s absence 
and the remuneration of the individual members of the Management Board. Mr van der Stege left the Ma-
nagement Board of CENTROTEC Sustainable AG with effect from December 8, 2011 and responsibility for 
the Gas Flue Systems segment has been taken on by the Management Board Chairman, Dr Huisman.

The accounts, annual financial statements, management report, consolidated financial statements 
and group management report at December 31, 2011 have been examined by the auditors Pricewater-
houseCoopers AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Essen, who have given their unqualified certification 
thereof. The above documents and the proposal by the Management Board on the appropriation of the 
accumulated profit were made available to each member of the Supervisory Board in a timely manner. 
These were discussed at length with the auditors at the Supervisory Board meeting on March 21, 2012, 
when the auditors reported on the principal findings of their audit. The auditors of the accounts further-
more established that the Management Board has set up a suitable internal system of control and risk 
management system.

The Supervisory Board has considered at length the disclosures made in the management report and 
group management report. Reference is therefore made to the corresponding comments in the manage-
ment report and group management report, which the Supervisory Board has examined and supports.

The Supervisory Board has examined the annual financial statements, management report and consoli-
dated financial statements, including group management report, as prepared by the Management Board, 
together with the dependence report drawn up by the Management Board as a precautionary measure. 
The examination by the Supervisory Board has revealed no cause for objection. The annual financial 
statements of the group parent and the consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2011 were 
approved by the Supervisory Board. The annual financial statements of the group parent issued by the 
Management Board are hereby established. The proposal by the Management Board on the appropriation 
of the accumulated profit was approved by the Supervisory Board.

The Supervisory Board expects that CENTROTEC Sustainable AG will further consolidate and extend its 
position in the worldwide growth market for energy-saving building technology, and achieve a good return 
on investment, in the interests of its shareholders.

The employees of the CENTROTEC Group, who have made a major contribution to the success of the 
company through their considerable dedication, expertise and creativity, deserve our particular thanks. 

 Best wishes,

 Guido A Krass
 [Supervisory Board Chairman]

 On behalf of the Supervisory Board, Brilon, March 2012
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Full range of heating systems
Oil	and	gas	condensing	boilers	/	biomass	systems	/	heat	pumps
Modern heating systems use fossil fuels such as gas and oil in high-efficiency condens-
ing boiler systems, capture the sun’s energy by means of solar thermal systems, run on 
biomass or incorporate heat pumps. Our aim is to combine comfort and convenience 
with maximum energy efficiency and ease of operation. That includes such aspects as 
user-friendly operation, starting-up and servicing.

Meanwhile the technical complexity of overall systems is on the increase, with them 
now commonly incorporating components involving heating, solar, climate control and 
ventilation technology. The user’s requirements, too, are becoming more demanding – 
for instance when they want optimally regulated temperature zones in a building all year 
round, coupled with efficient use of energy.

The focus is therefore always on the system as a whole. Control engineering concepts 
are optimally coordinated; plug-and-play connections and pre-installed programs are 
the key to keeping the starting-up process quick and therefore economical.

The product range of the CENTROTEC subsidiary Wolf covers all modern heating,  
climate control and ventilation systems and provides efficient system solutions for 
every application.
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Corporate governance has been a central component of CENTROTEC Sustainable AG’s corporate philo- 
sophy for many years. The Supervisory Board and Management Board have considered the Code at 
length in each amended version and incorporated the recommendations into their actions. As a result, 
CENTROTEC Sustainable AG complies in all key respects with the recommendations of the German Cor-
porate Governance Code as amended most recently on May 26, 2010. The Declaration of Compliance 
below indicates and clarifies the departures. 

Management and governance structure 
In keeping with German Stock Corporation Law, CENTROTEC Sustainable AG has a two-tier management 
and governance structure that comprises a three-member Management Board (at the reporting date of 
December 31, 2011) and, as laid down in its articles of incorporation, a three-member Supervisory Board. 
The Management Board and Supervisory Board work together closely in the interests of the company. 
The Management Board coordinates both the strategic direction and principal transactions with the Su-
pervisory Board. 

The Management Board is independently responsible for the running of the company and conducts its 
business. In doing so, it focuses on achieving a lasting improvement in the value of the company. It is 
bound by the law, the provisions of the articles of incorporation and the rules of internal procedure for 
the Management Board, as well as by the resolutions of the Shareholders’ Meeting. The Management 
Board informs the Supervisory Board regularly and promptly of all relevant topics concerning the strategy 
and its implementation, the targets, the company’s current performance, the opportunities and risks, and 
risk management.

The Supervisory Board monitors and advises the Management Board. It specifies the duties of the Ma-
nagement Board to report and inform. The Supervisory Board issues and amends the rules of internal 
procedure for the Management Board. It in addition appoints and dismisses the members of the Manage-
ment Board. It may appoint a Chair of the Management Board. It regularly monitors the effectiveness of 
the internal control and risk management system, as well as the auditing of the financial statements. The 
members of the Supervisory Board are appointed until the Shareholders’ Meeting that gives discharge 
for the fourth financial year after the start of their term of office. The financial year in which the term of 
office commences is discounted.

Diversity and composition of the Supervisory Board 
CENTROTEC Sustainable AG welcomes the amendments to the German Corporate Governance Code 
dated May 26, 2010 on diversity as an important step towards increasing the participation of women 
and international members in the management echelons of the company as well as on the Management 
Board and Supervisory Board.

Taking account of the company’s specific situation, the Supervisory Board has identified specific targets 
in respect of its composition, such as an age limit as well as efforts to ensure that women and interna-
tional members participate adequately. The Supervisory Board will take account of these targets when 
proposing candidates to the electoral bodies, and in particular the Shareholders’ Meeting.

At Management Board level, too, the Supervisory Board strives for diversity in keeping with the German 
Corporate Governance Code, including in particular the appropriate participation of women.

When filling management posts within the company, the Management Board is to adopt an employee-led 
human resources policy and in particular seek the appropriate participation of international experts and 
women. There are already numerous international experts in the middle management of the CENTROTEC 
Group, including the managing directors of the international subsidiaries. In view of the highly technical 
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nature of the industry, there are currently only few women in middle management at the CENTROTEC 
Group. CENTROTEC therefore strives to increase the number of women in management posts, bearing in 
mind its operational circumstances.

Shareholders and Shareholders’ Meeting
The shareholders exercise their rights through the Shareholders’ Meeting and make use of their voting 
rights there. Each share carries one vote. Every shareholder is entitled to take part in the Shareholders’ 
Meeting. The Shareholders’ Meeting takes decisions concerning in essence the appropriation of profits, 
discharge of the Management Board and Supervisory Board, the articles of incorporation and amend-
ments thereto, key entrepreneurial measures, and measures that change the capital such as the issuance 
of new shares, the acquisition of treasury stock and the conditional capital. The participants of the Share-
holders’ Meeting elect the Supervisory Board members and determine their remuneration. 

Remuneration system of the Management Board and Supervisory Board
The Supervisory Board is responsible for determining the remuneration of the Management Board, inclu-
ding the principal contractual features. The remuneration system of the Management Board and Supervi-
sory Board is presented in detail in the remuneration report, which forms part of this report. 

Third-party financial loss insurance (D&O cover) has been taken out for the company’s Management 
Board and Supervisory Board members, incorporating an appropriate excess for the Management Board 
members in accordance with the statutory provisions. An appropriate excess has also been agreed for 
the members of the Supervisory Board, in agreement with the Corporate Governance Code. The mana-
ging directors and administrative board members of subsidiaries are included in this D&O cover.

Transparency
CENTROTEC Sustainable AG has acted openly and responsibly ever since its establishment, and was 
therefore doing so before the company pledged to observe the Corporate Governance Code. The 
overriding objective of CENTROTEC’s corporate communication is to provide prompt, continuous, com-
prehensive and consistent infor mation to all target groups and to maintain a relationship with its share-
holders that is characterised by transparency. In addition to financial data, the financial calendar listing 
all key dates for CENTROTEC Sustainable AG, ad hoc information and press releases as well as a yearly 
document in compliance with Section 10 of German Securities Prospectus Law (WpPG), the latest de-
velopments regarding the Corporate Governance Code and notifiable securities transactions (directors’ 
dealings) pursuant to Section 15a of German Securities Trading Law (WpHG) as well as changes in the 
principal investments and in the overall voting rights pursuant to Sections 26 and 26a of German WpHG 
are published on the CENTROTEC homepage, following disclosure to the German Financial Supervisory 
Authority and the stock market. All the above information is immediately published on the company’s 
homepage and older information is also made publicly available, above and beyond the statutory require-
ments.

Section 15a of German Securities Trading Law stipulates the obligation to report immediately acquisition 
and sale transactions involving shares of CENTROTEC (in excess of EUR 5 thousand p.a.) by Management 
Board and Supervisory Board members or by related parties. Those parties are obliged to notify the com-
pany and the Federal Financial Supervisory Authority (BaFin) immediately of the transactions described in 
this section. CENTROTEC Sustainable AG has passed on all such transactions to BaFin without delay and 
published them on its homepage. 

Legal transactions with companies in which members of the Supervisory Board and Management hold or 
might hold an interest were also conducted in the financial year. As presented in detail in the Declaration 
of Compliance, these did not give rise to any conflict of interests. 



The mandates held by the Management Board and Supervisory Board members on statutorily constituted 
supervisory boards or similar regulatory bodies are listed under page 134.

As in previous years, a dependence report was issued by the Management Board as a precautionary 
measure. We refer to the contents of the dependence report for details. 

At December 31, 2011 the current members of the Management Board held a total of 35,704 (previous 
year 65,704) shares. At that date the members of the Supervisory Board held 2,445,550 (previous year 
2,445,550) shares. 

The current holdings of shares and options by the Management Board and Supervisory Board are docu-
mented on the CENTROTEC homepage.

Financial reporting and auditing of financial statements
The Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared by the Management Board, audited by the indepen-
dent auditors and ratified by the Supervisory Board. The Consolidated Financial Statements and interim 
reports are prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as appli-
cable within the EU, and published in both German and English.

Declaration by the Management Board and Supervisory Board of  
CENTROTEC Sustainable AG, Brilon, on the German Corporate Governance 
Code (Section 161 of German Stock Corporation Law)

Background
On February 26, 2002 the “Government Commission on the German Corporate Governance Code” pre-
sented a code of practice for listed companies. This Code was last updated on May 26, 2010.

Pursuant to Section 161 of German Stock Corporation Law, the Management Board and Supervisory 
Board of a company listed on the stock exchange are obliged to declare once a year whether and to what 
extent the code has been and is complied with:

Declaration of Compliance
The Management Board and Supervisory Board of CENTROTEC Sustainable AG declare that the recom-
mendations of the “Government Commission on the German Corporate Governance Code” in the version 
dated May 26, 2010 are and have been complied with since the last Declaration of Conformity, dated 
December 2010, with the exceptions stated below. 

1) Article 4.2.3 of the Code recommends that the remuneration of the Management Board should com-
prise a variable as well as a fixed component. The variable component is, among other things, intended 
to be performance-related, have a multi-year basis of assessment and possess a risk character. The Code 
quotes stock options schemes as an example. CENTROTEC Sustainable AG has been operating a stock 
options scheme, applicable not only to Management Board members but also to executive staff and other 
employees, since 1999. We believe that the scheme reflects the spirit of the Code, but we draw attention 
to two aspects which might be interpreted as a departure from it.

The Code recommends reference to comparative parameters. The stock options scheme envisages a 
performance target based on the absolute increase in the share price. This form was chosen in order to 
provide an incentive for success in absolute rather than relative terms. In addition a cap on the variable 
remuneration is recommended. In the case of the options, this was realised through allowing their exer-
cise only within a limited time frame (for the last time seven years after issuance). Options received as 
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a result of the attainment of targets are not retrospectively withdrawn by the company, nor the parame-
ters governing them altered. In addition to the aforementioned share price target, the exercising of the 
options is moreover linked to further internal performance targets in order to preserve a demanding but 
equitable form of variable remuneration.

2) Article 5.3 of the Code recommends the formation of committees on the Supervisory Board. These 
shall, however, be dependent on the specific circumstances of the company and the number of members 
of the Supervisory Board. Our Supervisory Board consists of three members, who consider all matters 
concerning the company jointly. Consequently, we do not regard the creation of committees to be appro-
priate in our case. We believe that our view is compatible with the Code, but supply this information as a 
precautionary measure by way of clarification.

3) Article 5.4.2 of the Code recommends that the Supervisory Board includes an adequate number 
of members who – in the board’s own opinion – are deemed to be independent. A member is to be 
regarded as independent if they have no business or personal relations with the company or with its Ma-
nagement Board that might constitute a conflict of interests. In its own opinion, our Supervisory Board 
includes an adequate number of independent members. Although Supervisory Board members do have 
business relations with the company, this does not constitute a conflict of interests.

 Brilon, December 2011

 On behalf of the Management Board:    On behalf of the Supervisory Board:

 Dr Gert-Jan Huisman    Guido A. Krass
 [Chairman]     [Chairman]

Responsibility Statement pursuant to Section 297 (2) fourth 
sentence and Section 315 (1) sixth sentence of German  
Commercial Code

To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the applicable reporting principles for financial 
reporting, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial 
position and profit or loss of the group, and the management report of the group includes a fair review of 
the development and performance of the business and the position of the group, together with a descrip-
tion of the principal opportunities and risks associated with the expected development of the group.

 Brilon, March 21, 2012

 Dr Gert-Jan Huisman
 Anton Hans
 Dr Christoph Traxler

Section 289a
Link to CENTROTEC homepage:
http://www.centrotec.de/investor-relations/corporate-governance/statement.html
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Remuneration Report of the Management Board  
and Supervisory Board
The remuneration report of CENTROTEC Sustainable AG is based on the requirements of the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and German Commercial Code (HGB) while also incorporating the 
recommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code. The report contains disclosures that be-
long to the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements and Management Report in accordance with 
the applicable standards. It therefore forms a part of the audited Consolidated Financial Statements. The 
matters explained in this report are therefore not presented additionally in the management report and 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Remuneration of the Management Board 
The remuneration system for the Management Board including the key contractual elements is agreed 
by the Supervisory Board and regularly examined. The remuneration of the members of the Manage-
ment Board comprises a non-performance-related fixed salary and a performance-related remuneration 
component. In addition to this there are retirement benefits, other pledges and fringe benefits. The level 
of the remuneration of the Management Board members reflects the size as well as the economic and 
financial position of the company, together with how typical the remuneration is when measured against 
its peer companies. Task areas, personal performance and experience as well as attainment of targets 
by the Management Board members are moreover taken into account in determining their remuneration. 
The remuneration system thus sets long-term behavioural incentives and focuses on sustainable develop-
ment of the company.

The Management Board of CENTROTEC Sustainable AG comprised three, four or five members at various 
points in the 2011 financial year. 

The non-performance-related Management Board remuneration is paid in the form of a fixed monthly  
salary. In the 2011 financial year these fixed salaries, including the employer’s social contributions on 
them, amounted to EUR 1,050 thousand (previous year EUR 1,215 thousand). 

In individual cases a monetary bonus is granted; its granting and level are dependent on the attainment 
of certain targets specified at the start of the financial year. Bonuses amounted to EUR 41 thousand in 
the 2011 financial year (previous year EUR 161 thousand). 

The greater portion of the variable remuneration with long-term behavioural incentives is granted in the 
form of stock options via the CENTROTEC stock options scheme. It is dependent on the attainment of 
certain targets based on the specific performance of the company, as well as individual targets. Depending 
on attainment of the targets, the Management Board members receive a certain number of stock options, 
which have a long-term incentivising effect in view of the statutory vesting period and the threshold re-
quirements for their exercising. The rules on the stock options scheme and the number of options that 
Management Board members are able to exercise are shown in detail in the Notes to the Consolidated Fi-
nancial Statements in this Annual Report. In the year under review of 2011, the Management Board was of-
fered the prospect of a maximum total of 152,250 options (previous year 131,000 options). Each of these 
options entitles the beneficiary to purchase one CENTROTEC share at an exercise price of EUR 15.80 (pre-
vious year EUR 8.50), provided certain conditions are met. The maximum number of all exercisable options 
was used as the calculation basis for determining the personnel expense pursuant to IFRS 2. The value of 
the stock options received in 2011 has been determined using a binominal model in accordance with the 
rules in IFRS 2 „Share-based Payments“ and totals EUR 506 thousand (previous year EUR 448 thousand).

The third category of remuneration for Management Board members comprises miscellaneous remunera-
tion that is made substantially in the form of contributions towards pension schemes, the use of company 
cars, and insurance premiums, with a total cost of EUR 173 thousand (previous year EUR 182 thousand). 
No other fringe benefits are provided.
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The remuneration of the Management Board of CENTROTEC fundamentally does not include pension 
contributions for Management Board members. German management board members are able to use 
the company agreement on company pension schemes. Like all other employees, they then make tax-ad-
vantaged contributions from their gross salary. In the Netherlands, as for all employees there, payments 
are made into an industry-specific fund, which guarantees an additional retirement pension on top of the 
state pension. The employee contributes 40 % and the employer the remaining 60 %. The pension entit-
lement for one Management Board member was topped up over and above the specified ceiling. This is 
customary for other employees, too. 

The total remuneration for active and retired members of the Management Board of CENTROTEC  
Sustainable AG in the 2011 financial year amounted to EUR 1,770 thousand (previous year EUR 2,006 
thousand). The remuneration of the individual Management Board members, broken down into non-
performance-related and performance-related components, components with a long-term incentivising 
effect and miscellaneous remuneration, is shown in the following table in thousand euros:

Management Board member Non-
performance 

dependent
component1

Performance-
related

component

Components
with a 

long-term 
incentivi-

sing effect2

Other
benefits3,4

Total
remuneration

2011

Total
remuneration

2010

Active members of corporate bodies

Dr Gert-Jan Huisman 398 0 204 37 639 584

Anton Hans 138 1 87 34 260 247

Alfred Gaffal 
(until March 31, 2011) 72 40 109 2 223 553

Dr Christoph Traxler 290 0 80 4 374 366

Jacko van der Stege 
(until December 8, 2011) 152 0 26 34 212 210

Retired members 0 0 0 62 62 46

Total 1,050 41 506 173 1,770 2,006

1 Incl. employer’s social contributions 2 Valued options (max.)

3 Expense for pensions, company cars and other 4 Short-term component

Remuneration of the Supervisory Board
The remuneration of the Supervisory Board is regulated by Section 18 of the articles of incorporation of 
CENTROTEC Sustainable AG. This specifies that, in addition to reimbursement of their out-of-pocket ex-
penses, the members of the Supervisory Board receive a fixed annual remuneration that was determined 
by the Shareholders’ Meeting on May 20, 2010, and also a variable, performance-related remuneration. 
The fixed remuneration amounts to EUR 24 thousand per member of the Supervisory Board for each full 
year of service. The Chairman receives double and the Deputy Chairman one and a half times the amount 
due to a member of the Supervisory Board. This remuneration of members of the Supervisory Board of 
CENTROTEC Sustainable AG amounted to EUR 108 thousand in the past financial year (previous year EUR 
108 thousand). In addition other expenses amounting to EUR 1 thousand (previous year EUR 2 thousand) 
were claimed, in particular for travel. The statutory level of sales tax due on this remuneration is further-
more paid by the company to the extent that it is billed by a Supervisory Board member. No separate 
remuneration is paid for service on committees, because the three-member Supervisory Board of  
CENTROTEC Sustainable AG does not form separate sub-committees in view of its size. By way of va-
riable and performance-related remuneration, in accordance with the articles of incorporation, each 
member of the Supervisory Board receives remuneration amounting to 0.1 % of the dividend payable for 
a given financial year. For the 2011 financial year, this amounted to EUR 8 thousand (previous year EUR 0 
thousand) following the distribution of a dividend for the first time. 



The market environment
After comfortably double-digit growth in 2009 and further, albeit slower, increases in 2010, most national 
and international indices suffered a setback in 2011. For example the SDAX, on which CENTROTEC is 
listed, slipped by 16 % in the course of the year, having been one of the best-performing indices in 2010 
with growth of more than 40 %. The DAX (down 16 %), MDAX (down 13 %), TecDAX (down 20 %), EURO 
STOXX (down 12 %) and Nikkei (down 17 %) all mirrored this trend. US stock markets were an exception 
here; their slight growth probably reflected their distinctly weak performance in the previous year. 

The substantial rises of almost all indices worldwide since the start of 2012 are a sign that the economic 
prospects of those markets are being seen as fundamentally positive. However, to what extent these 
expectations will be fulfilled is rather difficult to predict, given the lingering risks worldwide in the form of 
substantial debt levels and budget deficits in many countries, coupled with the levelling-out of economic 
growth that is forecast for 2012. 

Share price performance
The price trend for CENTROTEC shares in 2011 falls into two distinct phases. In the first half of the year 
the trading price climbed to its current all-time high of EUR 24.25 in April and remained constantly above 
EUR 2010 until mid-way through the year, and therefore well up on the 2010 year-end price of EUR 16.00. 
Up until then, the price trend of CENTROTEC shares comfortably outstripped all the relevant indices, which 
moved largely sideways in the first half of the year. From mid-way through 2011, the shares’ trading price 
fell sharply in parallel with most indices. As the latter part of the year progressed the shares then shed 
their performance advantage over the benchmark indices, among other reasons following the measures to 
adjust the CENTROTEC Group’s portfolio and especially the negative impact of the CENTROSOLAR invest-
ment; after reaching a year-low of EUR 10.61 the trading price finished the year on EUR 11.28, almost one-
third down on the opening price. CENTROTEC shares consequently shed 30 % over the period under review 
and therefore also failed to match the performance of the SDAX (down 16 %) in 2011. All prices quoted in 
this section refer to end-of-day prices in XETRA trading at Deutsche Börse.

Compared with the issue price of EUR 3.24, the closing price for 2011 nevertheless still represents a 
price gain of around 250 %. This corresponds to an average annual gain in value of more than 10 % for 
each of the 13 years on the stock market. The equivalent growth in the SDAX over the same period was 
only half the CENTROTEC growth rate, at slightly over 5 %.

After the period under review, the trading pride recovered to EUR 13.50 at the start of March 2012, with 
a marked increase in the trading volume. These gains in value outperformed all the relevant benchmark 
indices.

Share statistics
Since the initial public offering in 1998 the shares of CENTROTEC Sustainable AG have been listed under 
securities identification number WKN 540 750, the international number ISIN DE0005407506 and the 
stock exchange code CEV. The shares have also been listed in the SDAX of Deutsche Börse since  
September 2008. Furthermore, the shares are listed in the Prime All Share and other subindices of the 
German Share Index (DAX). 

The capital stock of CENTROTEC Sustainable AG at December 31, 2011 amounted to EUR 17,291,820, 
divided into 17,291,820 no par value bearer ordinary shares carrying full voting rights, each representing 
an arithmetical nominal share of EUR 1 of the capital stock. Compared with the position at December 
31, 2010 the capital stock rose by EUR 329,859. The number of CENTROTEC shares outstanding likewise 
rose correspondingly by 329,859. This change is exclusively attributable to the exercising of stock op-
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tions by corporate bodies and employees of the CENTROTEC Group, who had been granted these options 
in the past as remuneration components with a long-term incentivising effect. Stock options were again 
granted or the possibility of them being granted was offered in the period under review. For further parti-
culars, please refer to Section 10 of the Notes, under “Shareholder’s equity”.
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 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

Total shares at Dec 31, thousand 16,493 16,582 16,716 16,962 17,292

Capital stock at Dec 31, EUR 16,493 16,582 16,716 16,962 17,292

Market capitalisation at Dec 31, EUR million 228.3 175.8 157.8 271.4 195.1

Year-end price, EUR 13.85 10.60 9.44 16.00 11.28

Year-low, EUR 11.00 6.85 6.05 9.15 10.61

Year-high, EUR 18.36 16.14 10.80 17.50 24.25

XETRA trading volume,  average in thousand 43.4 27.9 17.2 29.6 44.1

Earnings per share, EUR 1.01 1.13 0.33* 1.54 (0.55)

Price-to-earnings ratio at Dec 31 13.7 9.4 28.6** 10.4 Earnings negative

* Excluding the investment result  EUR 0.93

** Excluding the investment result 10.2

The Management Board of CENTROTEC Sustainable AG, with the consent of the Supervisory Board, will 
propose to the Shareholders’ Meeting on May 22, 2012 that, as for the previous year, a dividend of EUR 
0.10 per dividend-bearing no par value share be distributed for the 2011 financial year. This move is desi-
gned to allow the shareholders to share directly in the group’s fundamentally positive development. How-
ever in keeping with the successful past practice, the bulk of the group’s available profits will continue to 
be invested in further organic, acquisition-led growth. 

Since the IPO in 1998 the family of Supervisory Board Chairman Guido A Krass has remained the princi-
pal shareholder of CENTROTEC with a holding of more than 50 %. Over and above that, the company has 
no indication that there are other shareholders with a percentage holding running into double figures. 
Several notices that investors’ holdings had exceeded or fallen below the reporting thresholds pursuant 
to Section 26 (1) of German Securities Trading Law were received in 2011. In every case the thresholds 
in question were 3 % and 5 %. Detailed information on this topic is permanently available on the website 
of CENTROTEC Sustainable AG (www.centrotec.de) under the menu item Investor Relations/Share/Dis-
closures S. 26 (1) WpHG).)  Information on changes in the voting rights held is also provided in the Notes, 
under “Other particulars”. CENTROTEC Sustainable AG moreover held an unchanged number of 12,080 
treasury shares at the balance sheet date of December 31, 2011. These treasury shares do not carry any 
voting rights at the company’s Shareholders’ Meeting. All other shares outstanding are not subject to any 
restrictions with regard to transferability and voting rights.

There was another marked rise in the trading volume of CENTROTEC shares in 2011, with the result that 
the total of 12.9 million (previous year 8.8 million) exceeded the previous record figure from 2007 during 
the course of the year on all German stock exchanges. The trading volume in euros was EUR 236.4 mil-
lion, compared with EUR 119.1 million for the previous year, among other factors because of the lower 
average trading price. The shares’ daily trading volume of more than 44,000 in XETRA trading alone (pre-
vious year approx. 30,000) and more than 50,000 on all stock exchanges (previous year approx. 35,000) 
was therefore higher than the figures for most other comparable SDAX companies. XETRA trading ac-
counted for an unchanged 87 % of the total trading volume in 2011.



Investor relations
Since its IPO more than 13 years ago, CENTROTEC has maintained open, prompt and reliable communi-
cation with interested financial market participants in an effort to underpin a healthy long-term price per-
formance and do justice to the confidence that investors have shown in the company. The transparency 
guidelines required by law, such as German Securities Trading Law, German Stock Corporation Law, the 
additional post-admission obligations of Deutsche Börse and the national and international accounting 
standards including IFRS (International Financial Reporting Standard) and the German Commercial Code, 
as well as the rules of the Corporate Governance Code, represent a minimum standard that has become 
steadily more demanding in recent years. Over and above these standards, IR communication work will 
continue to reflect very strongly the needs of the target audiences and is also open to using new chan-
nels, provided it brings corresponding benefits for the interested parties.

In 2011 CENTROTEC made direct contact with various financial market participants at a large number of 
roadshows, in telephone and video conferences and also at the Shareholders’ Meeting. The Investor Rela-
tions area moreover posted the latest information on the homepage of the group website, and was availa-
ble throughout to handle enquiries by phone, correspondence or electronic means. The interest shown 
by the various target groups along these various channels and the further substantial rise in the trading 
volume of CENTROTEC shares are proof of the confidence that is fundamentally shown in the CENTROTEC 
Group thanks to its long-term approach and IR work. Nor has this fundamentally positive perception of 
CENTROTEC been significantly undermined by the ever swifter pace of global changes and the abrupt fluc-
tuations in the business performance that are the result, along with the related risk of forecasting errors. 
However, CENTROTEC analyses its past experience of such developments very carefully in order to learn 
for the future. The still universally positive ratings of CENTROTEC’s prospects are reflected in the studies 
carried out by the following analysts, whose opinions are posted in the IR section of the group homepage 
shortly after disclosure.
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Coverage
Berenberg
BHF-Bank
HSBC

Kempen
M.M. Warburg
Sal. Oppenheim

Solventis
Merrill Lynch
Montega
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Energy-saving systems that maximise energy efficiency and protect the climate
Solar	thermal	–	at	the	heart	of	modern	heating	systems
Innovative solar thermal systems with highly effective solar collectors, a well-insulated 
hot water tank and an intelligent control system are at the very heart of a modern heat-
ing system. By harnessing the sun’s energy, and with no climate-harming emissions, 
they can cover as much as 60 % of the annual energy requirements for hot water.

An innovative control concept integrates solar thermal systems with other heat-gen-
erating systems such as oil and gas condensing boilers, heat pumps or pellet heating 
systems to form energy-efficient, environmentally friendly concepts for supplying hot 
water and heat.

The combination of solar thermal and condensing boiler systems is still one of the 
most energy-efficient and economical solutions for both modernisation and new-build 
projects, thanks to the responsible way in which it uses scant resources and protects 
the climate.
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The CENTROTEC Group – hereinafter also referred to as CENTROTEC – is Europe’s only listed full-service 
supplier of energy-saving solutions and systems for renewable energies in buildings. The product range 
spans system solutions for the areas of heating, ventilation and climate control technology, as well as 
solar thermal, biomass, heat pump technology and co-generation, both for new buildings and for the in-
creasingly relevant renovation market.

The 2011 financial year brought CENTROTEC considerable challenges in a wide range of areas. The core 
markets that are of relevance to the CENTROTEC Group, such as the heating market and the market for 
climate control and ventilation in buildings, remained testing and for the most part exhibited only low 
growth. Due to persistently low levels of construction activity in many European countries, some regions 
even experienced a further decline in the market volume. In addition, a difficult market environment for the 
group’s peripheral activities and the general rise in materials purchase prices eroded the development in 
the net worth, financial performance and financial position of the group as a whole.

1 Structure, strategy and steering

In CENTROTEC’s focal markets for energy efficiency and the use of renewable energies in buildings, 
the CENTROTEC Group has enjoyed steady organic, profitable growth since its IPO in 1998, repeatedly 
bolstering its progress through targeted corporate acquisitions. This buy-and-build strategy has led to a 
technically broad and comprehensive product range. Its sales strength and international presence have 
moreover grown steadily. The incremental gains in market shares in recent years in the target markets for 
integrated system solutions reflect the success of this corporate strategy, which is based on the ample 
entrepreneurial latitude enjoyed by the individual group companies, but also on growing intra-group part-
nerships.

The CENTROTEC Group comprises three segments, of which the largest in revenue terms, Climate Sys-
tems, along with Gas Flue Systems, makes up the core business area for energy-saving solutions and re-
newable energies in buildings. The third segment Medical Technology & Engineering Plastics, which is the 
smallest by revenue and does not belong to core business, develops, produces and sells products in the 
areas of medical technology and high-performance plastics. In addition, CENTROTEC holds a 26.14 %  
interest in the former fully-owned subsidiary CENTROSOLAR Group AG, which has been listed on the 
stock market since 2005 and specialises in photovoltaic system solutions, predominantly roof systems. 
In August 2011, it also acquired a 38 % interest in Industrial Solar GmbH, Freiburg, which arose through a 
succession of spin-offs from the Fraunhofer Institute for Solar Energy Systems and is a specialist provider 
of systems using solar process heat and solar cooling in industry. The investment in this innovative young 
company gives the group a highly promising option for the future by broadening its technology portfolio 
and providing access to its expertise and an international network. The market for solar process heating 
and cooling that Industrial Solar addresses has hitherto remained largely untapped but offers considerable 
growth potential.

As in previous years, the Netherlands and Germany provide the regional emphasis of the group’s reve-
nue. These two countries, where the group’s production locations are based, accounted for approx. 65 % 
(previous year 63 %) of consolidated revenue in 2011. The group’s systematic drive for internationalisation 
seeks to increase the revenues generated outside these core markets. For a more detailed overview of 
the CENTROTEC Group’s structure, please refer to the organisation chart on page 2.

Group Management Report
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CENTROTEC’s corporate philosophy is based on granting considerable entrepreneurial freedom to the 
individual operating units, but also to individual employees. This enables the operating subsidiaries to 
respond to their respective regional markets swiftly, innovatively and in a concerted manner, thus leading 
to a more flexible, market-led approach than if the decisions were being taken centrally. The ability to 
assume independent responsibility and act entrepreneurially moreover motivates employees, helps them 
to identify with their specific company and leads to greater job satisfaction, which in turn translates into 
lower employee turnover and sickness rates. Taking this as the basis, cooperation between the individual 
group companies both across and within segments is being further increased in order to develop joint 
product solutions, strengthen existing ties with customers, access new markets, optimise logistics pro-
cesses and realise synergies in purchasing and sales. The group-wide planning and budgeting system is 
also regularly adjusted to reflect changing requirements so that departures from the targets and changes 
in the general parameters can be identified early on in tandem with the risk management system, and 
appropriate corrective action taken. Furthermore, the ongoing programmes to improve efficiency and cut 
costs play a fundamental part in enabling the CENTROTEC Group to continue operating successfully in 
target markets that are changing ever more rapidly.

2 Economic conditions

2.1 Economic environment

The recovery in the global economy that had begun in 2010 continued in the 2011 financial year, though 
there were signs of a weakening in the second half. In 2011 as a whole, gross domestic product (GDP) 
worldwide rose by 3.7 % compared with 5.0 % in the previous year. In the mainly advanced economies of 
the EU, this growth was much lower at 1.6 % (previous year 1.9 %) and varied widely between the indivi-
dual national markets. Many Southern European countries reported only slight growth or even a contrac-
tion in economic output. In Western European countries, GDP growth rates were mostly in line with the 
EU average, whereas most countries in Central, Eastern and Northern Europe achieved far higher figures. 

development of gross domestic product
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For the second year in a row Germany, the biggest national economy in the EU, reported significantly 
higher economic growth than the European average, at 3.0 % (previous year 3.7 %), thanks to its highly 
export-oriented economy However this growth already started to weaken in the second half of 2011 and 
economic development cooled down abruptly across much of Europe. For the current 2012 financial year, 
the growth forecasts both for Germany and for the whole of Europe have now been significantly scaled 
back and the overall forecast is for significantly slower economic growth, possibly with economic output 
contracting.

Worldwide, much higher GDP growth rates of more than three percent are expected for 2012; as in recent 
years, China, India, Brazil, Russia and various other emerging economies will be the engine rooms of this 
growth. For the EU overall, GDP growth is likely to be under one percent, with certain Southern European 
countries that have been particularly badly affected by the euro crisis again in danger of seeing their 
economic output fall. On the other hand Eastern and Northern European countries are again forecast 
to achieve above-average growth. However, if the economic environment continues to deteriorate there 
could be a recession throughout Europe in the first half of the year. The German economy, which is highly 
dependent on exports, would also be badly affected by such a development.

The CENTROTEC Group’s key markets Germany and the Netherlands are forecast for economic growth 
of just under one percent in 2012. The figures for all European markets for 2013 then show a clear 
improvement on the expectations for 2012. However, these are open to much greater uncertainty than 
has been the case in previous years in view of the rapidly changing picture on financial and economic 
markets.

This macroeconomic data provides the wider economic framework within which the group operates. 
However, there are two more specific benchmark figures that are particularly relevant for CENTROTEC’s 
core business. First, the development in energy prices, usually exemplified by crude oil prices, and se-
cond, the development in building activity. New construction activity, usually in the area of housing con-
struction, is frequently taken as a measure of the latter. The special importance of the renovation market 
nevertheless means this categorisation is less useful than it used to be, but the ready availability of rele-
vant data means it continues to be widely used.

Since the start of 2009 energy prices have risen more or less across the board and, at more than USD 
110 per barrel in February 2012, are roughly seven times the average for the 1990s. Moreover, compa-
red with the average price at the turn of the millennium, the current levels mean prices have more than 
quadrupled. Furthermore, in contrast to the previous record levels of 2008 when there was a speculation-
led bubble, the current price level appears to be a realistic reflection of the energy market due to rising 
demand for increasingly scarce resources. In 2011 the annual average price of USD 107 per barrel of 
crude oil was already significantly above the previous record figure for 2008, and has since continued 
to rise in the early part of 2012. For all the evidence worldwide of efforts to use energy more efficiently, 
this long-term price trend is unlikely to be reversed, because strong economic growth especially in 
emerging economies typically translates into a rise in energy consumption at roughly the same rate. This 
growing hunger for energy in hitherto less developed nations regularly more than outweighs the decline 
in demand from industrial nations. None the less, it is always possible that there will be short-term falls 
in energy prices due to below-par economic growth, even if such falls will not be permanent. Nor is the 
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basic trend in energy prices likely to be fundamentally reversed by increased efforts to exploit natural  
gas by unconventional means, in view of the ecologically critical consequences of its production and 
emissions.

As in the previous year, the building sector throughout Europe put in a very mixed performance in 2011; 
overall construction activity in Europe, especially for new buildings, remained at a very low level. This si-
tuation was prompted by the sharp slump in the construction sector following the financial and economic 
crisis, and has not or only barely improved since. The national new-construction and renovation markets 
that are relevant for most of CENTROTEC’s product solutions made tentatively positive progress in the 
past financial year in Central, Northern and Eastern Europe. On the other hand construction volume again 
fell in the Southern European countries that had been worst affected by the financial and economic cri-
sis, but also in the UK and Ireland. In Germany, far and away CENTROTEC’s most important market, there 
was a slight recovery in overall construction volume in 2011 from a low starting level, after two years of 
contraction. This development in 2011 was underpinned in particular by housing construction, which rose 
to more than 220,000 approved new units (previous year 188,000), and by commercial construction. On 
the other hand the prospects for industrial construction for 2012 have already darkened again due to the 
uncertain economic and financial situation. The market for German housing construction is nevertheless 
expected to grow again in 2012, albeit more weakly. A further rise in demand for energy-saving solutions 
in the renovation sector can moreover be expected. Rising energy costs, growing environmental awa-
reness, regulatory changes and state subsidies are the main driving forces behind developments in this 
area. In addition, the volume of individual construction and conversion projects is often boosted by the 
general trend towards high-grade, integrated and often combined system solutions for heating, climate 
control and ventilation technology. Due to general uncertainty about the future of the euro and the lack 
of attractive investment opportunities, it is also to be expected that spending on building and property 
renovation will become more attractive options and thus give the market a further lift that contrasts with 
the general economic trend.
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2.2 Development of heating and energy-saving technology market

In heating, climate control and ventilation technology there are a large number of regional markets 
with many different market operators. The market as a whole can be differentiated both regionally and 
by product because of country-specific factors concerning climatic conditions and varying national 
regulatory requirements. Despite the range of underlying conditions, all markets exhibit a fundamental 
trend towards greater energy efficiency and convenience in the system solutions that they favour. The 
targets, specifically within the EU, are also becoming standardised at a high level and being implemen-
ted in country-specific ways. There is moreover the trend towards integration of previously separate 
systems in the areas of heating, ventilation, climate control and solar energy. These coordinated, cen-
trally controlled integrated systems are absolutely essential if low-energy or passive houses and other 
similar, increasingly popular energy-efficient designs are to operate efficiently. It is becoming ever 
more common for them to be combined with systems that use renewable energies, hot water tanks 
and ventilation systems with heat recovery. The control technology is increasingly emerging as the 
means of bracketing together the individual system components into a single, integrated system. Fol-
lowing the convergence of heating, ventilation and climate control technology and of renewable ener-
gies, increasingly high-performance systems suppliers will emerge. The consolidation of the European 
heating technology market that is expected as a result of these market developments is progressing 
only slowly and has not yet produced a clear global market leader. There are still more than 200 hea-
ting technology manufacturers as well as over 100 manufacturers of systems using renewable energies 
in the European market. The trend towards full-service suppliers that has been observed for some 
years continued in 2011. For instance, among the major German manufacturers of heating systems 
that lead the way in Europe, there are signs of moves to cover a comprehensive range of products. The 
CENTROTEC subsidiary Wolf paved the way for the German heating industry in adopting a strategy to 
promote energy-saving systems and integrated overall solutions as far back as 2002. The Wolf Group 
remains one of the leaders for integrated system solutions that save energy in buildings, by virtue of 
combining expertise in handling various heating systems and solar technology with climate control and 
ventilation technology.

The big heating technology suppliers are extending their product portfolios mainly by building up their 
own expertise, but also increasingly by making technology-led acquisitions. The industry is furthermore 
looking to expand the regions covered by the sales markets that have traditionally focused on Germany 
and Europe, spreading specifically to the growth markets in Asia and America. The leading players in 
the industry have the necessary resources to handle these developments. Alongside the CENTROTEC 
Group, with its core brand Wolf, there are other German companies among the European leaders: 
Bosch Thermotechnik, Viessmann, Vaillant and Weishaupt. Then there are other leading European com-
panies such as the Dutch BDR Therma (formerly De Dietrich-Remeha-Baxi Group), France’s Atlantic, 
and the Italians Ferroli, Riello and Ariston (formerly MTS Group).
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The past financial year of 2011 again proved to be fundamentally difficult for companies active in the mar-
ket for heating, climate control, ventilation technology and the use of renewable energies. As in previous 
years, considerable differences in the performance of the various regional markets were nevertheless in 
evidence. Despite the clear overall trend towards greater energy efficiency, this was attributable to distinct 
national peculiarities as a result of varying regulatory requirements, strong regional variation in the market 
players, varying climatic conditions and, last but not least, the general economic situation of each country.

For example the German heating market made cautiously positive progress at a low level and achieved 
growth rates of around three percent for heat generators, with slightly higher growth for the use of rene-
wables for heat generation. On the other hand the market in the remainder of Europe declined or remai-
ned flat, despite the mixed picture from one country to the next. Internationally, too, it remained apparent 
that the renovation sector was again significantly more important than new construction. Condensing 
boiler technology also continued to spread, though the market penetration rates in the various countries 
were highly divergent.

The European market for climate control technology likewise put in its best performance in Germany 
and achieved notable growth rates in 2011, whereas the market volume declined in most other European 
countries. A common trait of all markets was strong pressure on prices, particularly for project business. 
To a slightly lesser extent, the same was true of the ventilation market. That market area also progressed 
much better in Germany than in CENTROTEC’s second core market of the Netherlands, for example, and 
in the other sales regions of relevance for the group. Ventilation solutions incorporating heat recovery en-
joyed especially high growth, and are increasingly emerging as the standard in new-build projects thanks 
to ever improving insulation of new dwellings. By virtue of this growing market penetration, this market 
area is growing faster than the new-build figures themselves. Because such measures in the areas of cli-
mate control and ventilation involve greater complexity, their share of the renovation market is lower than 
that of e.g. heating systems. The climate control and ventilation areas fundamentally performed better in 
Germany in 2011, in line with new construction business, than for instance in the Netherlands, where new 
construction activity has been falling for the past three years.

In the long run, the market for heating, climate control and ventilation technology offers very bright pro-
spects because energy efficiency is becoming ever more relevant for reasons of cost and environmental 
protection; comfort, too, is becoming increasingly important for residential buildings in all markets. The 
long-term trends here include the increased use of renewable energies and the growing convergence of 
individual components into all-in system solutions. Then there is the growing share of renovation busi-
ness, which may more than compensate for possible falls in the new-build sector. In the short term, how-
ever, market developments are far less stable and in some cases are prone to sharp fluctuations. These 
are caused by the difficult and incalculable general economic situation, aggravated by unnecessarily 
frequent and regionally highly diverse changes in the regulatory framework.
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A healthy interior climate that requires little energy
Controlled	ventilation	with	heat	recovery
To save energy and reduce CO2 emissions, both new and renovated buildings are being 
made increasingly well insulated and airtight. Depending on how heavily the rooms are 
used, an air exchange rate of between 0.3 and 0.7 times per hour is needed to keep the 
interior conditions agreeable for occupants, so heat losses during ventilation can easily 
mean the benefits of investing in insulation are negated.

That is where controlled ventilation comes in. It maintains the quality of the air inside a 
building but also achieves a very high standard of energy efficiency. With heat recovery 
rates of up to 95 %, energy losses through ventilation of highly insulated buildings are 
reduced by up to two-thirds. That is equivalent to several hundred litres of heating oil per 
year in a single-family house. Living comfort is appreciably improved, energy is saved and 
damage to the building is prevented.

Non-central heat recovery ventilation technology with CO2 monitoring offers similar advan-
tages to central systems, but can also be retrofitted as part of an energy-focused moderni-
sation project.

03
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3 Business performance with revenue and earnings trend

3.1 Key figures at a glance

The 2011 financial year overall was disappointing for the CENTROTEC Group. After a very positive previ-
ous year, during which the full-year forecast had been revised upwards on more than one occasion, the 
early earnings forecast could not be achieved. The reasons were the very weak business performance of 
photovoltaic activities in the Gas Flue Systems segment, resulting in a need to adjust the portfolio, and 
the impairment of the equity investment in CENTROSOLAR Group AG resulting in a non-recurring write-
down of EUR 15.0 million. On top of this, spinal implants business in Switzerland was discontinued, like-
wise leading to a non-cash drop in earnings on top of the accumulated losses for the period under review. 
On the other hand the revenue and earnings performance in the biggest core segment, Climate Systems, 
was decidedly positive with revenue and earnings again growing by a significant amount.

Unless otherwise indicated, all the following financial ratios refer to the financial year of the CENTROTEC 
Group, which corresponds to the calendar year. The financial ratios are quoted in million euros (EUR 
million). However, the percentages have been calculated throughout on the basis of the amounts given in 
thousand euros (EUR ’000) in the Consolidated Financial Statements. For mathematical reasons, there 
may be rounding differences of +/- one unit.

In the 2011 financial year, revenue for the CENTROTEC Group rose by 12.1 % to EUR 537.8 million (previ-
ous year EUR 479.7 million), with roughly two-thirds of this growth achieved organically. As in the previ-
ous years the largest segment, Climate Systems, again posted substantial organic revenue growth, with 
further growth and fresh options for future development coming from strategic acquisitions to boost the 
segment. Overall, revenue for the segment rose by 15.1 % to EUR 381.8 million (previous year EUR 331.8 
million) and was therefore significantly above the bandwidth forecast at the start of the year under review 
of EUR 350 to 360 million. Although revenue for the Gas Flue Systems segment was 3.1 % up on the prior 
year figure of EUR 112.8 million, as already announced in the course of the year this was well below the 
original forecast of EUR 135 to 140 million. The smallest segment, Medical Technology & Engineering 
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Plastics, continued to expand with 13.3 % growth, taking its revenue total to EUR 39.7 million (previous 
year EUR 35.0 million). This easily exceeded the forecast from the start of the year of EUR 35 to 37 
million. All in all, the revenue expectations for 2011 published in January 2011 of EUR 520 to 535 million 
were therefore exceeded. Disregarding the revenue from acquisitions, although the lower limit of the fore-
cast bandwidth was narrowly missed, organic growth of 7.6 % was achieved.

The CENTROTEC Group’s earnings were influenced by certain contrasting developments in the individual 
segments, but overall fell well short of expectations due to the weak performance of the Gas Flue Systems 
segment; as reported during the financial year, the forecasts were moreover clearly missed. A common 
feature of all segments was the big impact of price rises for materials, which could only be passed on 
to customers to a limited extent and with some time lag, and reached new record highs in the first half 
of 2011. Within the operating result, EBITDA was down 14.1 % at EUR 46.9 million compared with a prior 
year figure of EUR 54.6 million. However this figure already includes one-off non-cash expenses for the 
streamlining of the product range, mainly relating to photovoltaic activities in the Gas Flue Systems seg-
ment. At group level, the non-recurring write-downs amounted to an overall EUR 9.0 million reduction in 
EBIT. As a result, consolidated EBIT for the 2011 financial year came to EUR 24.8 million, which was both 
below the prior-year figure of EUR 36.2 million (down 31.5 %) and the original forecast of EUR 40 to 42 
million. Furthermore, the investment result was diminished by non-cash write-downs of EUR 15.0 million 
and the negative earnings contribution of EUR -4.4 million (previous year EUR +4.1 million) from the equity 
investment in CENTROSOLAR Group AG. Despite a slight improvement in net interest and the constant 
tax expense, this produced earnings after tax (EAT) of EUR -9.4 million (previous year EUR +25.6 million). 
Earnings per share (EPS) are thus negative at EUR -0.55 (previous year EUR +1.54). The forecast that was 
downgraded in the course of the year originally envisaged EUR 1.70 to 1.80.

3.2 Climate Systems

3.2.1 Business performance
As in previous years, the Climate Systems segment overall put in a distinctly positive business perfor-
mance with double-digit revenue growth and corresponding increases in market shares in the target 
markets. However there was a markedly mixed performance specifically in the regional markets, but also 
in the various product areas.
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The 2011 financial year saw the companies in the Climate Systems segment set a new combined all-time 
revenue record of EUR 381.8 million (previous year EUR 331.8 million) with growth of 15.1 %, exceeding 
the forecast bandwidth of EUR 350 to 360 million. On top of organic growth that was higher than the 
market average, the acquisition of an 80 % majority interest in Dreyer & Bosse Kraftwerke GmbH in Au-
gust contributed EUR 21.5 million towards this revenue growth.

The Climate Systems core segment thus brought in more than two-thirds of consolidated revenue. As a 
result of the sharp rise in commodity prices between 2010 and well into the first half of 2011, the gross 
profit ratio (= (aggregate operating performance – cost of purchased materials) / aggregate operating 
performance x 100) fell to 48.4 % (previous year 49.8 %). However, it was possible to absorb the impact 
of these price rises on earnings to some degree by progressively adjusting prices throughout the year 
– albeit with a delayed effect – and through ongoing efforts to improve profitability, with the result that 
earnings tracked revenue. The operating result for the segment (EBIT) thus rose by 13.4 % to EUR 28.3 
million (previous year EUR 25.0 million). This represents an EBIT margin of 7.4 % (previous year 7.5 %).

As an average for the year, the segment employed 1,872 full-time equivalents (FTE) (previous year 1,768). 
The year-end total of 1,954 was well up on the prior-year figure of 1,740, in part thanks to the takeover of 
Dreyer & Bosse. There was a correspondingly substantial rise in personnel expenses of EUR 7.4 million 
to EUR 97.7 million (previous year EUR 90.3 million). Nevertheless, by virtue of this increase being lower 
than the rate of revenue growth, the personnel expenses ratio was reduced to 25.7 % (previous year 27.0 
%). As in previous years, it should be noted in this connection that the changes in the temporary workers 
occasionally used are reported under cost of purchased materials rather than under personnel expenses.

3.2.2 Principal developments in the past financial year
2011 brought a wide variety of different and in some cases contrasting trends affecting the business 
performance of the group companies in the Climate Systems segment. On the one hand the further sub-
stantial rise in energy prices from an already high level drove home the fact that the age of cheap fossil 
energy is drawing to a close. For example, the annual average price of more than USD 105 for a barrel 
of crude oil represented an all-time high and emphasises the ever growing economic necessity of saving 
energy. From an ecological viewpoint, the slowly closing window of opportunity for reacting to global cli-
mate change likewise makes it more important than ever to use energy more efficiently. These fundamen-
tal considerations aside, from an operational viewpoint developments that were of particular relevance 
for the companies in the segment were the further market penetration of European heating markets by 
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condensing boiler technology, the growing importance of renewables for heat generation, the low level 
of new construction activity in the housing sector throughout Europe as a whole and thus the growing 
significance of the renovation sector, and the greater significance of the system principle in the sphere of 
building services engineering.

Against this backdrop the group’s biggest segment, Climate Systems, maintained its positive develop-
ment in all major areas in 2011. As before, its healthy business performance was underpinned by the Ger-
man heating market, which remains of key importance for the group’s biggest sub-entity, the Wolf Group, 
and in which the company has steadily strengthened its market position in recent years. In 2011 this 
growth was moreover given a lift by the 4 % market growth in Germany. On top of this, the long-term drive 
for internationalisation continued to make successful progress and there was an increasingly comprehen-
sive product range of energy-efficient heating, ventilation, climate control and renewable energy solutions 
in buildings. The highest growth rates within heating technology, the most important area from a group 
viewpoint, were achieved by the high-efficiency, self-developed heat pump range to which new versions 
were added in 2011, the multiple award-winning, further optimised solutions for condensing boiler tech-
nology, and the solar thermal systems that performed well despite the difficult market environment. Busi-
ness in both the German heating market and in the area of co-generation grew in 2011. In the latter field, 
the segment received a substantial boost in August 2011 through the acquisition of 80 % of the shares of 
Dreyer & Bosse Kraftwerke GmbH. This manufacturer of biogas CHPs, biogas purification and treatment 
plants develops, builds and sells plants with an electrical output of up to one megawatt; it has around 100 
employees at its base in Gorleben, Lower Saxony. Now that it is part of the Wolf Group, Dreyer & Bosse 
will be able to accelerate its profitable growth of recent years in the rapidly expanding biogas and co-
generation market with the help of the other group companies. Collaboration with Kuntschar + Schlüter 
GmbH, which has also been part of CENTROTEC since 2008, will make it possible to realise further syner-
gies especially in the areas of procurement, technology, service and sales. On the other hand the climate 
control and ventilation solutions business area found progress more difficult in 2011. The home market of 
the Netherlands, which is important for this area, suffered badly from low new construction activity in the 
housing sector in 2011. The low level of new construction activity observed in other parts of Europe, too, 
and consequently the weaker sales performance of the Dutch subsidiaries, was compensated for to some 
extend by improved export figures, a higher proportion of renovation business and the successful market 
launch of a new product range of commercial heat-recovery climate control solutions as well as a new 
generation of residential appliances. Despite all the difficulties being experienced by this product area, its 
overall performance was thus satisfactory.

All in all, export business for the Climate Systems segment to countries outside the core markets Ger-
many and the Netherlands put in a very mixed performance in 2011 but fundamentally continued to 
suffer from the record low levels of new construction activity, notably in the Spanish market in the se-
cond half of the year, for example. In France, heating business bucked the trend in continuing to grow. 
Business for energy-saving heat-recovery ventilation solutions for dwellings also performed well outside 
the Dutch home market and continued to do so after the period under review. The same applied to other 
group companies with operations there. Overall, the revenue share outside the two home markets was 
35.0 % in 2011 (previous year 37.0 %) because the growth rates in Germany were higher than in other 
markets. This fundamentally reflects the company’s continuing prominence and strong market position in 
its home markets, specifically Germany.
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The corporate processes of the segment’s companies, which have manufacturing operations exclusively 
in the Netherlands and Germany, were again further optimised in 2011 to allow them to focus on an in-
creasingly global market. Their progress is regularly monitored, and fittingly reflected in the certificates 
and awards they have received. For instance the group’s largest production location, the Wolf Group’s 
main plant in Mainburg, recently received the prestigious accolade of “Factory of the Year” in the highly 
regarded competition sponsored by the trade publication “Produktion” and the management consultants 
A.T. Kearney. In addition to the Wolf plant as the winner of the “Excellence in Assembly” category, other 
winners included production plants of VW, Infineon and Siemens, vividly illustrating the high standard 
achieved by processes at CENTROTEC companies.

3.2.3 Strategic direction and outlook
CENTROTEC envisages that the Climate Systems segment will remain at the very heart of the group’s 
strategy. Together with the Gas Flue Systems segment, this strategic core area will benefit from world-
wide growth in the market for heating, climate control and ventilation technology and the use of renewab-
les in buildings, and to that end has built up a very good market position in recent years with what is now 
a comprehensive and innovative portfolio of solutions.

The medium and longer-range forecasts of further rises in already high energy prices, the need for action 
to hold climate change in check and the convergence of one-off solutions into user-friendly, energy-effici-
ent overall systems for buildings will remain the major trends in CENTROTEC’s key markets in 2012 and 
beyond. Although state subsidy policies are also a factor to some degree, their relevance for this market 
area has dwindled sharply in recent years, especially in view of the inconsistent policy approach that has 
been observed in Germany, and there is even some evidence of it harming the market. It is to be hoped 
that future regulatory frameworks will exercise greater influence on the market’s development than in-
consistent subsidy policies. CENTROTEC’s companies are permanently monitoring these developments 
but in parallel continue to pursue the long-standing strategy of actively building on their market position. 
The gradually increasing market shares and levels of acceptance among end customers and installation 
engineers that are way above the average confirm how successful this strategy is.

For this reason, in close consultation with its sales force and customers, CENTROTEC will continually up-
date and add to its innovative portfolio of solutions for comfortable, efficient heating, climate control and 
ventilation in buildings. This strategy continues to be underpinned by the system principle, which in our 
case means adopting an intelligent way of integrating individual components and the use of renewables 
wherever it is technically feasible and economically helpful to do so. There is still considerable potential 
for condensing boiler technology, which continues to spread in all national markets. The CENTROTEC 
Group develops, manufactures and supplies a comprehensive range of equipment and systems in this 
area, comprising oil and gas condensing boilers, calorifiers and control systems plus matching gas flue 
systems. Condensing boiler technology is thus an example of how expertise from the two core segments 
Climate Systems and Gas Flue Systems can be combined. As well as the efficient use of fossil fuels, the 
product range includes systems that make use of renewables, for example the self-developed range of 
heat pumps, which made a significant contribution to growth in its first full year on the market thanks to 
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market-leading efficiency ratings. The equally good market prospects for co-generation are now being ex-
ploited even more effectively following the takeover of Dreyer & Bosse. Along with its expertise in natural 
and sewage gas systems that are supplied by Kuntschar + Schlüter, CENTROTEC has thus been able to 
substantially boost its own market position and plans to exploit the synergy potential of both companies’ 
corporate processes. In the area of home ventilation systems with heat recovery, greater market penet-
ration compensated for the low new-build figures in many markets. Product innovations in this area and 
especially the growing focus on the renovation market make further growth likely over the next few years. 
In addition, the greater significance of renovation business will further reduce dependence on the latterly 
very fragile new-build market. The same applies to the climate control market, where the new product 
generations coming onto the market in 2012 offer bright market prospects and simplified modular pro-
duction should improve the margins.

CENTROTEC furthermore perceives internationalisation as offering good opportunities to cement its 
positive progress in the segment. The segment’s companies have long been active in the main European 
markets and will continue to increase that presence methodically, while also addressing opportunities 
for growth outside Europe. The 18.4 % rise in capital expenditure to EUR 8.6 million (previous year EUR 
7.2 million) protects the fabric of the companies in the segment and improves their options for further 
growth.

On this basis, the Climate Systems segment’s positive business performance both in 2011 and in pre-
vious years should continue in 2012 and beyond, producing revenue growth that will remain above the 
market average coupled with an edging-up of profit margins.

3.3 Gas Flue Systems

3.3.1 Market environment and business development
In the Gas Flue Systems segment, the business performance of the second half of 2010 by and large con-
tinued in 2011. Continuing sound progress in the core business area of gas flue systems for condensing 
boilers contrasted with a sharp downturn in business for photovoltaic products and components. The 
very volatile market and business performance due to high dependence on regulatory aspects ultimately 
prompted the company to terminate its own activities in the photovoltaic area in the course of the year, 
necessitating write-offs and adversely affecting the segment’s earnings.

Despite these developments, revenue for the Gas Flue Systems segment in 2011 came to EUR 116.3 mil-
lion and was therefore 3.1 % above the prior-year figure (EUR 112.8 million), but well below the bandwidth 
of EUR 135 to 140 million expected at the start of the period under review. The revenue posted by the 
segment therefore contributed more than one-fifth of the group’s total revenue. As in the other segments, 
high materials purchase prices in the Gas Flue Systems segment in 2011 – the ratio rose to 54.9 % in 2011 
(previous year 50.8 %) – put pressure on the gross profit ratio, which fell from 49.2 % in 2010 to 45.1 % in 
2011. However, this figure is not fully comparable because there has been a significant change in the pro-
duct mix over the past three years, especially following the elimination of photovoltaic products from the 
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portfolio. The cessation of photovoltaic and other peripheral activities resulted in non-recurring charges 
of EUR 7.0 million. In addition, start-up costs in the course of the year from activities that have now been 
halted, the continuing drive to internationalise and the development of sales structures diminished the 
operating result to the extent that EBIT fell to EUR -3.2 million, having been EUR +9.7 million in the previ-
ous year.

As a result of the further expansion of the sales force, the Gas Flue Systems segment had 631 full-time 
equivalents (FTE) in 2011 as an average for the year, 6.9 % more than in the previous year (590 FTE). At 
the end of the period under review this figure was 640 (previous year 620 FTE). As a result of this deve-
lopment, as well as due to collectively agreed wage and salary increases, personnel expenses for the seg-
ment rose by 10.3 % to EUR 29.1 million (previous year EUR 26.4 million). This pushed up the personnel 
expenses ratio for the 2011 financial year by 1.9 percentage points to 24.0 %.

3.3.2 Principal developments in the past financial year
2011 was a difficult year for the Gas Flue Systems segment, with a large number of challenges. First, the 
level of housing construction activity throughout much of Europe remained very low. Second, there was 
a further marked rise in commodity prices mid-way through the year, which brought profit margins under 
even greater pressure. In addition, on top of regulatory changes that had already caused photovoltaic 
business in France to slump, 2011 saw Chinese suppliers indulge in even more intense, especially aggres-
sive price-based predatory competition worldwide, prompting an unprecedented deterioration in prices 
in the peripheral photovoltaic market in which CENTROTEC had previously been generating respectable 
profit margins. Although condensing boiler technology made further steady progress against a backdrop 
of high and still-rising energy prices, all in all the negative factors predominated in the past financial year, 
leading to unsatisfactory levels of revenue and above all earnings, as described above.

Our response to these developments in 2011 was to further optimise all corporate processes, step up 
international sales activities and take the decidedly drastic decision to slim down the business portfolio, 
shedding most notably our photovoltaic activities. Business in integrated energy roofs, which had got 
off to an optimistic start with the development of our own products and the takeover of an aesthetically 

revenue trend gas flue systems
[in EUR million]

2007	 96.4

2008	 118.8

2009	 128.1

2010	 112.8

2011 116.3
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very pleasing concept from Systaic following its insolvency, was unable to live up to expectations due 
to enormous pressure on prices in that market, and had to be wound up. These measures, which were 
taken mainly in the fourth quarter, imposed a significant burden on the result for the segment in the form 
of non-recurring, non-cash effects amounting to EUR 7.0 million. The revenue volume here for 2011 was 
also down on the prior-year period due to the weak business performance of these activities. This effect 
will also be evident in the revenue comparisons for the current financial year. The performance of the Gas 
Flue Systems segment’s core business, which revolves around gas flue and ventilation systems, is thus 
all the more positive. The profitable growth achieved in these business areas paved the way for revenue 
growth in the core business area in 2011, for all the problems encountered.

During the period under review, this core area received a boost from product innovations such as the first 
single-wall, all-plastic heating gas flue system in the Dutch market and evolutionary versions of the oval 
air ducting system. We also invested in further automation and in the optimisation of all corporate pro-
cesses, especially in the logistics area. Another major driver of the profitable growth being targeted for 
2012 and beyond is the further internationalisation of business. Measures to promote this process were 
implemented especially in the USA, the UK and Ireland in 2011, with the revenue figures for those coun-
tries already revealing some evidence of their effect.

3.3.3 Strategic direction and outlook
For the 2012 financial year now under way, CENTROTEC believes the Gas Flue Systems segment is very 
well positioned once more following its strategic move to focus on business in gas flue systems for con-
densing boiler technology and home ventilation systems. The plan for the medium term is to return the 
Gas Flue Systems segment to the growth pathway to which it was accustomed in earlier years, with profit 
margins above the group average.

The further development of the markets for condensing boiler technology and home ventilation specifi-
cally in Germany and the Netherlands is very important in this respect. The prospects for the German 
market are very much better than in the Netherlands thanks to the stable economic development of the 
former, and particularly its construction sector; by contrast, in the Netherlands the construction sector is 
already weak and forthcoming tax changes are expected to make the environment yet more difficult. The 
sales prospects in countries outside these two core markets remain positive. The recent years’ efforts to 
internationalise are expected to start bearing fruit in North America and Italy in 2012. Business in North 
America is benefiting from the growth that European suppliers of heating technology are enjoying there, 
as well as from a strong presence in the wholesale trade. Traditional gas flue business should also yield 
growth rates above the market average in France in 2012. In 2011, a total of EUR 6.7 million (previous 
year EUR 10.5 million) was invested in the segment’s further expansion.

On this basis, revenue for the Gas Flue Systems segment is expected to stabilise in 2012 and make a 
positive contribution to consolidated earnings. In the medium term, this segment too should enjoy more 
vigorous growth and yield much higher profit margins.
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3.4 Medical Technology & Engineering Plastics

3.4.1 Market environment and business development
The past financial year of 2011 closed with revenue of EUR 39.7 million for the Medical Technology &  
Engineering Plastics segment. This represents not only a 13.3 % increase on the prior-year total of EUR 
35.0 million, but also a new all-time record, as in the Climate Systems segment. In exceeding the band-
width of EUR 35 to 37 million forecast for the full yea, the serious consequences of the financial and eco-
nomic crisis of 2008 and 2009 were finally put behind us in the period under review and the companies 
in the segment managed to maintain 2010’s growth in operating profit at almost the same level. Overall, 
the segment currently accounts for about one-twelfth of consolidated revenue.

However, the result for the segment does not reflect the positive development in revenue due to non-
recurring, non-cash expenditure of EUR 2.1 million for the deconsolidation of Swiss spinal implants 
business, which fell well short of expectations, along with the accumulated losses already incurred by 
this business area. EBITDA thus reached EUR 2.1 million (previous year EUR 3.8 million) and EBIT, with 
depreciation and amortisation remaining almost unchanged, came to just EUR -0.3 million (previous year 
EUR +1.4 million). Excluding these non-recurring charges from deconsolidation, the segment neverthel-
ess proved operationally strong even it too was on the receiving end of stiff rises in materials purchase 
prices. As a result of increased commodity prices, along with changes in the product mix, the purchased 
materials ratio rose to 38.0 % (previous year 34.7 %). The gross profit ratio, which is traditionally prone 
to high fluctuations because of the heterogeneous product portfolio, thus fell to 62.0 %, down from the 
previous year’s 65.3 %. The EBIT margin was -0.6 % (previous year 4.1 %). Excluding the non-recurring 
charges, it would have risen. At the end of 2011, the companies of the Medical Technology & Engineering 
Plastics segment employed 313 full-time equivalents (FTE), The average total for the year was 315. The in-
crease compared with 2010 was therefore ten based on the year-end position and six FTE as an average 
for the year; along with wage and salary increases, this prompted personnel expenses to rise to EUR 15.1 
million (previous year EUR 14.2 million). Above-average revenue growth meant the personnel expenses 
ratio fell to 36.8 % (previous year 39.4 %).

3.4.2 Principal developments in the past financial year
Business in both the Medical Technology and Engineering Plastics areas fundamentally made very posi-
tive progress in 2011. The efficiency improvements and leaner organisation introduced especially in the 
Engineering Plastics area after the crisis years 2008 and 2009 again proved a boon. The Medical Tech-

revenue trend medical technology & engineering plastics
[in EUR million]

2007	 35.9

2008	 38.0

2009	 29.0

2010	 35.0

2011 39.7
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nology area has pushed through similar optimisation of all corporate processes in now fully occupying 
its sole production location for medical technology in Fulda. That is also the location of the headquarters 
of medimondi AG, which serves as a consolidation vehicle for the companies of the Medical Technology 
& Engineering Plastics segment and in turn has two additional production locations for the Engineering 
Plastics area. The new building in Fulda offers ideal premises for development, production, logistics and 
administration activities, allowing the highly promising Medical Technology business to be nurtured under 
one roof.

The product priorities of brand business in Medical Technology in 2011 again centred on blood transfu-
sion, aesthetic medicine and neurosurgery. In these areas, the product range that is already well estab-
lished in the marketplace is being refined in dialogue with users and carefully extended. For instance, the 
past financial year saw the liquor drainage system LiquoGuard® 7 make its market debut; compared with 
the previous version it offers significantly better functionality and connectivity, along with greater ease 
of use. A new addition in 2011 was an interventional product range for radiology consisting of special 
cannulae and accessories. In the area of high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC), too, which 
involves separating and chemically analysing substances, Möller Medical was able to draw on the spe-
cialist expertise it has built up over the years and attract new customers with the Uberinert product line 
unveiled in 2011. Uberinert combines chemical neutrality with high pressure resistance, and is therefore 
faster than PEEK and cheaper than titanium. New products or advanced versions were also presented in 
the traditional core business area of hose pumps and special cannulae. Due to the unsatisfactory perfor-
mance of Swiss spinal implants business, these activities at the Swiss location were terminated.

In the Engineering Plastics area, demand continued to rise in the past financial year. Over recent de-
cades, demand for engineering plastics worldwide has risen much more sharply than demand for other 
commonly used materials such as glass, steel and paper. This trend continued in 2011 and the two 
group companies benefited overproportionally from this development thanks to their customer-centred 
products, enjoying the highest relative growth in the entire group. There was nevertheless a slight dip 
in demand towards the end of 2011. The extruded semi-finished plastics, ready-cut formats and com-
plex structural plastic parts that this sub-segment makes are the market leaders thanks to a very well 
structured corporate organisation in terms of development, production and delivery speed, and they 
have the potential to perform well even in temporarily weaker markets. On top of this, there is steady 
growth in the volume of business with own brands and products that exploit available expertise for the 
development of new standard products. A prime example of this is CENTROFLEX™, developed initially 
for our own use but brought onto the market in 2011. It is a flexible extraction system that reliably and 
swiftly removes production waste such as chips, gases or smoke, and provides a clean, safe working 
environment in machines in the wood, metal and plastics processing sectors, and therefore permanently 
reduces the rate of damage in production. Another example of the Engineering Plastics area’s innovative 
abilities is CENTRODAL MD, which reached market maturity during the period under review; this is a 
detectable plastic for use in the food industry. It helps to avoid the use of metals and is especially easy 
to machine.

4.4.3 Strategic direction and outlook
The groundwork has been completed for maintaining the positive operating performance of the Medical 
Technology & Engineering Plastics segment, which stretches back almost three years, into 2012 and bey-
ond. The corporate infrastructure has been brought to a very high standard, the products are successfully 
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established on the market, and new developments and advanced versions are being systematically promo-
ted with a strong market focus. The restructuring of medical technology business in 2011 paved the way 
for further profitable growth in this global market of the future. Now that the engineering plastics compa-
nies have a very flexible structure, they too will be able to respond much better to any further downturn in 
the market than was the case prior to the financial and economic crisis of 2008 and 2009. Together with 
the anticipated good development of medical technology business, which is much less cyclically exposed, 
this means the future prospects of the CENTROTEC Group’s smallest segment remain excellent.

In the Medical Technology area, we aim to extend this good position in the current 2012 financial year 
by further extending our premises, preparing to launch additional new products over the coming years 
and building up the sales network internationally. The latter also applies to the Engineering Plastics area, 
which has likewise been enjoying positive market feedback since venturing into aluminium machining as 
a further highly promising production technology for use in medical technology and an additional growth 
option. In addition, there are options for expansion that can be realised in the short term for the Enginee-
ring Plastics sub-segment, which is much more exposed to fluctuating business cycles.

In keeping with CENTROTEC’s buy and build strategy, the Medical Technology & Engineering Plastics 
segment, too, will fundamentally continue to pursue a technology-led acquisitions strategy alongside its 
steady promotion of organic growth. To achieve the latter, the record volume of EUR 6.1 million (previous 
year EUR 3.9 million) was invested in the period under review. On this basis, further revenue growth is 
expected for 2012 even if it is likely to be lower than the level of the previous two years. Subject to the 
market conditions remaining largely constant, the EBIT margin should reach high single-digit figures. The 
medium-term goal remains to secure organic revenue growth in the high single-digit figures, with an EBIT 
margin back up at the level of before the financial and economic crisis.

3.5 Principal investments

As in previous years, the 26.14 % investment in CENTROSOLAR Group AG – hereinafter referred to as 
CENTROSOLAR – constitutes the most substantial investment of the CENTROTEC Group that is not com-
prehensively consolidated. CENTROSOLAR is a formerly fully-owned CENTROTEC subsidiary that was 
hived off through its IPO in 2005 and is now carried as a financial interest of CENTROTEC accounted for 
using the equity method. The 24.95 % interest in Bond Laminates GmbH and, since its takeover in August 
2011, the 38.00 % interest in Industrial Solar GmbH are reported using the same method.

2007	 35.9	 96.4	 274.1

2008	 38.0	 118.8	 319.3

2009	 29.0	 128.1	 309.5

2010	 35.0	 112.8	 331.8

2011 39.7 116.3 381.8

revenue by segment
[in EUR million]

	 Medical	Technology	&	Engineering	Plastics	 Gas	Flue	Systems	 Climate	Systems
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The equity investment method means that except for the item “Result from investments” and conse-
quently the earnings before and after tax that are derived from it, no items on the income statement in 
CENTROTEC’s accounts are affected by these interests. This should be borne in mind when considering 
the performance indicators in order to form a correct impression of the CENTROTEC Group’s operating 
situation.

CENTROSOLAR Group AG faced major challenges in the 2011 financial year as a result of the general 
trend in the industry, after posting record-breaking revenue and earnings figures in 2010. Very sharp 
deterioration in the prices of photovoltaic modules by more than 40 % over the entire year, triggered by 
surplus production capacity worldwide, drove down CENTROSOLAR’s revenue by 27.1 % to EUR 293.9 
million (previous year EUR 403.4 million). The operating result (EBIT) consequently fell to EUR -13.2 
million, in an abrupt turnaround from record earnings of EUR +26.6 million in the previous year. Amid 
this turbulent market environment, and as already indicated by CENTROSOLAR during the course of the 
year, the initial forecasts for both revenue (EUR 420 to 450 million) and earnings (EBIT margin of +4 to  
6 %) proved way above the actual figures. After tax (EAT), CENTROSOLAR thus posted a loss of EUR 16.8 
million (previous year EUR profit of EUR 15.8 million); based on the ownership interest the amount of 
EUR -4.4 million (previous year +4.1 million) is thus incorporated into the income statement of the  
CENTROTEC Group through the result from investments. However, when determining the relevant taxes 
for the CENTROTEC Group the investment result is fundamentally disregarded because it has already 
been taxed at the subsidiaries.

The consolidation process in the photovoltaic market is expected to continue in the current financial 
year. CENTROSOLAR considers itself to be well-placed to withstand such a competitive environment 
and corner a larger share of the industry’s growth following this phase of consolidation. Thanks to ha-
ving built up a comparatively strong sales organisation over a number of years, along with its flexible 
purchasing policy and its continuous improvement processes aimed at optimising costs, the company 
has long been prepared for tackling an intensely competitive environment. CENTROSOLAR moreover 
believes it is well-positioned to set itself apart from the competition by focusing on roof systems and 
being able to offer patented key components such as its anti-reflective solar glass. With its broad-
based financing structure, the company has furthermore given itself leeway and reduced its depen-
dence on individual lenders.

For detailed information on the development of CENTROSOLAR Group AG, please refer to that group’s 
reports, which can be found on the CENTROSOLAR homepage (www.centrosolar-group.de).

By contrast Bond-Laminates GmbH, a manufacturer of thermoplastic fibre composites, has enjoyed 
steady, profitable growth in recent years and contributed EUR 0.3 million (previous year EUR 0.3 million) 
to the investment result. 

The interest in Industrial Solar GmbH acquired in August 2011 is regarded more as a highly promising 
option for the future than as a financial interest that will deliver short-term returns. Its expertise in solar 
process heat in the 130° to 400°C temperature range, which can be generated with high-efficiency Fres-
nel collector systems for many industrial processes and for solar cooling, provides an excellent basis for 
improved energy efficiency and reduced carbon emissions on an industrial scale, making it an attractive 
investment prospect especially in sunny regions.
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04

Energy-focused refurbishment
Passive-house	system	–	efficient	heating	technology	combined	with		
heat	recovery
There is huge potential for saving energy through the energy-focused refurbishment of 
the building stock. Yet realising those savings usually involves much upheaval for the  
occupants. That need not be the case, as demonstrated by the Kroeven refurbishment 
project in Rosendaal, the Netherlands. In this instance 134 single-family terraced hous-
es were renovated to passive-house standard, and there was no need for the occupants 
to move out during the building work, which took only one week.

The passive-house compact system made by ventilation specialist Brink Climate  
Systems was used. The system integrates a condensing boiler system, solar thermal 
and home ventilation into a single appliance, which is therefore quick and cost-effec-
tive to install.

The high-efficiency system is an energy-saving way of supplying the thermally insulated 
houses with space heating, hot water and fresh air, making use of renewables and heat 
recovery. Such buildings have thus taken a huge step towards becoming energy-neutral.
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4 Net worth, financial position and financial performance

Compared to the previous year there has been a change in consolidation, in particular through the com-
prehensive consolidation of Dreyer & Bosse Kraftwerke GmbH. This should be taken into account when 
comparing the entire Consolidated Financial Statements at December 31, 2011 with the prior-year  
version.

4.1 Net worth

In contrast to the marginal changes of recent financial years, the balance sheet of the CENTROTEC Group 
at December 31, 2011 revealed a number of major changes compared with the prior-year figures. The 
increased volume of business from expanded operations fundamentally affected the balance sheet. There 
were also various significant changes to balance-sheet items following the streamlining of the product 
portfolio, predominantly in the area of photovoltaic activities, the impairment of the equity investment in 
CENTROSOLAR Group AG and the acquisitions completed in the course of the year.

As a result of these developments, the balance sheet total at December 31, 2011 grew by 6.5 % to EUR 
425.7 million (previous year EUR 399.6 million). On the assets side of the balance sheet, total non-
current assets of EUR 226.8 million remained roughly steady compared with the previous year’s figure 
of EUR 227.6 million, but there was a substantial shift between the individual line items. Thus, the in-year 
accumulated losses at CENTROSOLAR and impairment reduced the value of equity investments by EUR 
19.4 million and were the main reason behind this item’s fall to EUR 11.5 million (previous year EUR 28.1 
million). On the other hand the acquisitions made in 2011 led to significant rises in the balance sheet 
totals for goodwill, intangible assets and property, plant and equipment. Whereas non-current assets 
remained constant overall, current assets grew by a total of 14.7 % to EUR 198.0 million (previous year 
EUR 172.7 million). This rise more or less mirrored the equally substantial growth in the overall group’s 
business volume.

	 	 	 Equity

	 	 	 Financial	liabilities

	 	 	 Other	liabilities

equity and liabilities
[in EUR million]

	 2010	 2011

399.6
425.7

160.8
157.5

112.2
108.3

126.5
159.9

48.1

15.8

63.7

74.8
11.5

95.2

46.8

69.7

	 Goodwill	 Inventories

	 Intangible	assets	 Trade	receivables

	 Property,	plant	and	equipment	 Cash	and	cash	equivalents

	 Equity	investment	 Other

assets
[in EUR million]

	 2010	 2011

399.6
425.7

41.1
15.9

57.6

64.5
28.2

91.9

39.3

61.1



 Group Management Report 51

The predominantly non-cash, non-recurring effects of 2011 led to negative earnings after tax of EUR -9.4 
million (previous year +25.6 million) which, combined with the distribution of the first dividend, reduced 
shareholders’ equity by a total of EUR 1.7 million. On the other hand payments received from the exercis-
ing of a total of 329,859 stock options amounted to EUR 3.3 million (previous year EUR 1.6), increasing 
the issued capital from EUR 17.0 million to EUR 17.3 million and also playing a key role in the rise in ad-
ditional paid-in capital from EUR 27.0 million to EUR 30.9 million. The shareholders’ equity for the group, 
including minority interests (EUR 2.4 million), came to EUR 157.5 million at the balance sheet date and 
was therefore 2.1 % down on the prior-year figure of EUR 160.8 million. The equity ratio was consequently 
37.0 % (previous year 40.2 %).

For further disclosures on the company’s equity, please see the Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements.

4.2 Financial position

The CENTROTEC Group’s borrowings were reduced by a further EUR 4.0 million in the 2011 financial year 
to EUR 108.3 million (previous year EUR 112.2 million). Taking account of the significant rise in cash and 
cash equivalents to EUR 48.1 million (EUR 41.1 million) at the balance sheet date, net borrowing thus fell 
to EUR 60.1 million (EUR 71.1 million) despite an operating result that fell short of expectations as well 
as the acquisitions made. Since the Wolf takeover in 2006, net borrowings for operating business have 
thus been reduced by EUR 100 million. Based on the current financial situation, accessible cash and cash 
equivalents and the available unutilised credit lines, CENTROTEC continues to have adequate liquidity, 
giving both it and its member companies the scope to consider the entire breadth of operational and 
strategic options for their further development.

The temporary, mainly non-cash deterioration in the net result for the period in 2011 had a slight ne-
gative impact on the group’s financial ratios, with the result that for example the dynamic gearing ratio 
(borrowings/EBITDA) climbed from 2.1 to 2.3 at the balance sheet date. However, neither this nor the 
acquisitions during the year under review produced any major shifts within the balance sheet. The surplus 
of current assets over current liabilities was a factor of 1.5 (previous year 1.6), and in the non-current 
category the factor actually remained unchanged at 1.7. The ongoing optimisation programmes being im-
plemented within the CENTROTEC Group meant that net working capital, for instance (current assets less 
cash and cash equivalents, less non-interest-bearing current liabilities), was actually reduced slightly to 
EUR 56.0 million (previous year EUR 57.6 million) despite the substantial increase in the business volume. 
These measures to improve working capital have already been employed to good effect in the past and 
will continue to be refined.

ebit
[in EUR million]

2007	 27.6

2008	 32.2

2009	 29.0

2010	 36.2

2011 24.8
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4.3 Financial performance

CENTROTEC was again able to keep up the good revenue trend of recent years in 2011 and set a new  
record. Consolidated revenue grew 12.1 % to EUR 537.8 million, bettering the previous year’s record  
(EUR 479.7 million). Taking into account acquisition-led revenue growth, organic growth consequently 
reached 7.6 %.

This positive development in revenue is not reflected in earnings for the 2011 financial year, despite the 
good results achieved by CENTROTEC’s core business. The main reasons were the very weak business 
performance of photovoltaic activities in the Gas Flue Systems segment, resulting in a need to adjust 
the portfolio and apply non-recurring write-downs of EUR 7.0 million, and the impairment of the equity 
investment in CENTROSOLAR Group AG for an amount of EUR 15.0 million coupled with the operating 
losses of EUR 4.4 million posted by that investment. In addition, spinal implants business in Switzerland 
in the Medical Technology & Engineering Plastics segment was terminated, also resulting in non-cash 
charges of EUR 2.1 million against earnings, on top of the accumulated operating losses. On the other 
hand the revenue and earnings performance in the biggest core segment, Climate Systems, was positive, 
with growth in revenue and earnings again achieved. As a result of the non-cash, negative non-recurring 
effects within various items on the income statement, the accumulated losses of the discontinued opera-
tions and also the rise in the purchased materials ratio to 50.8 % (previous year 48.7 %), earnings before 
interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) came to EUR 46.9 million – a 14.1 % decrease 
compared with the prior-year figure of EUR 54.6 million. The EBITDA margin was consequently down 
from 11.4 % in the previous year to 8.7 % in the year under review. The year-on-year fall in the personnel 
expenses ratio by 0.5 percentage points to 26.5 % was insufficient to absorb the rise in the purchased 
materials ratio. The operating result (EBIT, earnings before interest and taxes) that is especially relevant 
for the CENTROTEC Group as an internal benchmark was also driven down by 31.5 % to EUR 24.8 million 
(previous year EUR 36.2 million) by the above developments, including the 20.1 % rise in depreciation 
and amortisation. This, coupled with the substantial revenue growth, meant the EBIT margin fell to 4.6 % 
(previous year 7.5 %).
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As a result of the highly negative investment result of EUR -19.3 million, as opposed to the previous year’s 
result of EUR +4.3 million, earnings before tax (EBT) were in negative territory by EUR 0.4 million despite 
net interest remaining constant. The temporary rise in the effective tax rate to 47.6 % (previous year 29.8 %) 
because of the various non-recurring factors during the period under review led to negative earnings after 
tax (EAT) of EUR 9.4 million (previous year EUR +25.6 million). On the basis of an average of 17.2 million 
shares outstanding over the course of the year, earnings per share (EPS) are therefore EUR -0.55 (previous 
year EUR +1.54).

Nevertheless, as the financial situation remains sound and business operations continue to make positive 
progress, the Supervisory Board and Management Board of CENTROTEC Sustainable AG will propose to 
the Shareholders’ Meeting that, as in the previous year, a dividend of EUR 0.10 per dividend-bearing no 
par value share again be distributed for the 2011 financial year so that the shareholders, too, can conti-
nue to benefit directly from the group’s fundamentally positive development. However in keeping with the 
successful past practice, the bulk of the group’s available profits will continue to be invested in further or-
ganic, acquisition-led growth. Please refer to the “Investment” section from page 56 on for further infor-
mation. Notwithstanding this, the decision on the distribution of a dividend and its level will be critically 
analysed by the Supervisory Board and Management Board each year anew, and then their verdict put to 
the vote at the Shareholders’ Meeting.

The cash flow from operating activities climbed 16.8 % in the 2011 year to EUR 41.8 million (previous year 
EUR 35.8 million), despite a lower year-on-year operating result. This improvement is mainly thanks to the 
progress achieved in optimising internal processes and the resulting reduction in net working capital to 
EUR 56.0 million (previous year EUR 57.6 million). The net working figure thus calculated as at the end 
of the year includes notably the acquisitions that took place during the period under review and that are 
therefore included in the balance sheet items, making the operating improvement in net working capital 
all the more significant. The cash flow from investing activities was 30.8 % higher in the 2011 financial 
year due to the acquisitions made and the continuing high level of investment in the group, and amounted 
to EUR -28.9 million (previous year EUR -22.1 million). The cash flow from financing activities was virtually 
unchanged from the previous year at EUR -12.0 million (EUR -8.7 million), reflecting the steady long-term 
trend within the group of high net reductions in borrowings. There were also outgoings of EUR 1.7 million 
in 2011 for the first dividend distributed. This was counterbalanced by payments received by way of strike 
prices from the CENTROTEC stock options scheme amounting to EUR 3.3 million (previous year EUR 1.6 
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million). On this basis, and taking account of bank overdrafts repayable on demand, the financial resour-
ces of the CENTROTEC Group at December 31, 2011 amounted to EUR 25.5 million, up 0.9 million on the 
previous year’s figure.

5 Employees

The workforce of now more than 3,000 employees plays a crucial role in the success of CENTROTEC’s 
companies, while also being its key asset. Within the framework of common principles based around in-
tegrity, entrepreneurial and sustainable action and social responsibility, the employees and the individual 
companies for which they work enjoy considerable latitude, in keeping with CENTROTEC’s corporate phi-
losophy. Motivating the employees and inspiring even greater commitment in them is the common goal 
of all individual companies in the group, notwithstanding their broad spectrum of structures, traditions, 
national peculiarities and industries. The legacy of this philosophy is reflected in how far the company has 
come over the past two decades; there is now a group-wide system of targets with individual, company, 
segment and group objectives which, specifically at management level, form an important part of the 
performance-based pay and incentives system of the CENTROTEC Group and its member companies.

Furthermore, to promote a high level of employee satisfaction and thus hold onto employees long-term, 
exceptional priority is given to advanced training measures; the proportion of trainees and apprentices, 
currently already above 5 %, moreover continues to rise. CENTROTEC is thus preparing the ground for 
an increasingly well-trained workforce, in line with the steadily rising requirements, and is adopting a 
proactive approach to a labour market that is becoming increasingly difficult at a time of demographic 
change. In addition, companies are treating it as a big priority to reconcile working and family life. The 
disproportionately sharp rise in the number of female employees, which now account for almost one-fifth 
of the total even in the manufacturing units, and the growing number of working hours models tailored to 
individual requirements reflect the huge importance placed on employee satisfaction in the CENTROTEC 
Group. The proportion of temporary workers in the group’s manufacturing units, which is a relatively low 
5 % for manufacturing industry, likewise reflects the importance given to the workforce as a whole and 
the company’s sense of responsibility for it. A common feature of all these measures is the desire to sa-
feguard the company’s successful development through a long-term personnel policy.

At the end of the 2011 financial year the comprehensively consolidated companies of the CENTROTEC 
Group employed a total of 3,015 people (previous year 2,781). Expressed as full-time equivalents (FTE) 
the figure was 2,906, and thus 243 more than at the end of 2010. This rise is to some extent attributable 
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to the expanded volume of business and the drive for internationalisation in extensive areas of the group. 
The group’s workforce also grew by around 100 employees following the takeover of Dreyer & Bosse 
Kraftwerke GmbH in August 2011; this company is now fully consolidated. As an average for the year, 
CENTROTEC employed 2,936 individuals (previous year 2,781 individuals) or 2,819 FTE (previous year 
2,667 FTE). Of this total, 53 % (previous year 50 %) were industrial workers and therefore the remaining 
47 % (previous year 50 %) office staff.

In addition to these employees at the fully consolidated group companies, as at the end of 2011 there 
were 1,110 employees (FTE) at the companies that are accounted for using the equity method.

For 2011 as a whole, the personnel expenses of the CENTROTEC Group amounted to EUR 141.9 million 
(previous year EUR 130.8 million) and were therefore 8.4 % up on the prior-year figure. The increase was 
driven mainly by the expanded business activities as well as wage and salary increases in the period 
under review, but was also attributable to a lesser extent to the stepping-up of sales activities mainly 
abroad. Overall, personnel expenses rose at a slower rate than revenue; this meant that the personnel ex-
penses ratio for 2011 as a whole fell by 0.5 percentage points to 26.5 % (previous year 27.0 %). For 2012, 
a moderate rise in personnel expenses below the rate of revenue growth is expected. The higher pay 
agreements expected will nevertheless combine with material prices to put pressure on profit margins, 
though the ongoing profitability improvement programmes should absorb their impact.

6 Research and development

In the Research and Development (R&D) area, too, CENTROTEC traditionally focuses its attention on 
specific customer requirements. Customer requirements concerning energy-efficient building services 
engineering and renewables are shaped both by practical considerations for installation, operation and 
maintenance, and by the overall cost of the product, taking both the initial outlay and running costs into 
account. They are also influenced in particular by country-specific factors and non-standard regulatory 
requirements. Against this backdrop, product development at CENTROTEC is organised in a decidedly 
non-central way, thus reflecting the specifics of the various different markets. At the same time this non-
central approach to development work, which allows considerable leeway but is always closely harnessed 
to sales activities, guarantees a flexible product policy and helps the individual national companies to 
improve their respective market positions. The Wolf Group’s range of solutions, which now represents the 
benchmark for efficiency, comfort and innovation, and the market-leading solutions supplied by Brink, 
Ned Air and Ubbink/Centrotherm suitably confirm how successful this strategy is.

The priority at all CENTROTEC companies in 2011 was to refine the technology of existing product ranges 
and add to them. Examples of how we did so include the new product range for ventilation with heat 
recovery developed by a Dutch subsidiary, which picks up on growing demand from the market for ease 
of operation, efficiency and versatility, but is also more cost-effective. In the area of gas flue systems 
and air ducting, there were also more advances that reflect the increased reach of the system principle 
within the group. Other main areas of group-wide development activities that took shape as products in 
2011 were a new generation of controlled home ventilation units from the Dutch subsidiary Brink Climate 
Systems. The product range of oil-fired condensing boilers was also increased, the range of CHPs exten-
ded downwards and new features such as cooling solutions were added to Wolf’s range of heat pumps. 
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More functions and applications such as cooling and hygienic versions were added to the product range 
of climate control solutions. There were also major advances in ventilation technology in the form of 
compact units which satisfy market requirements for non-central uses, particularly in the renovation sec-
tor, through additional functions such as fire alarms, central fault indication, extra-quiet, energy-efficient 
operation and of course ease of installation. The partnership with the trade benefits hugely from these 
systems’ ease of installation and commissioning according to the plug-and-play principle.

Overall spending by the CENTROTEC Group on out-and-out R&D activities in the 2011 financial year came 
to EUR 6.9 million (previous year EUR 7.3 million). As a result of the slight fall in reported R&D spending 
and the substantial rise in revenue, the R&D ratio fell to 1.3 % compared with 1.5 % in the previous year.

7 Investment

The CENTROTEC Group’s capital expenditure of EUR 21.5 million in 2011 was on a par with the previous 
record figure from the previous year (EUR 21.6 million), before taking account of acquisition-driven spen-
ding. Including the acquisitions made in 2011, the total investment volume for the group came to EUR 
45.0 million. Of this acquisition-led spending, easily the most significant portion concerns the takeover 
of 80 % of the shares of Dreyer & Bosse Kraftwerke GmbH, a manufacturer of biogas combined heat and 
power (CHP) units and treatment plants. Interests were also acquired in Solar23 GmbH, a specialist for 
solar projects in Africa, and Industrial Solar GmbH, a technology leader in the field of industrial process 
heat and cooling, by way of capital increases. To a minor extent assets were also acquired in the energy 
roof area, which has now been wound up.

As in previous years, the focus of non-acquisition-driven investment in 2011 was on property, plant and 
equipment, which grew by a further 6.3 % on the prior-year figure to EUR 15.3 million (EUR 14.4 million). 
Investment in intangible assets of EUR 6.2 million was 11.1 % down on the prior-year figure of EUR 7.2 mil-
lion. The priority for investment in the period under review was again to strengthen the business basis for 
the CENTROTEC Group’s further organic growth, maintaining the policy of the previous year, when invest-
ment reached its highest ever level. To that end, in the biggest segment Climate Systems, a total of EUR 
8.6 million (previous year EUR 7.2 million) was invested mainly in the expansion and modernisation of 
the production base. The effectiveness of focusing investment on this area for the past few years shows 
through not just in the segment’s healthy revenue and earnings figures, but also in the fact that it won 
the prestigious “Factory of the Year” award, with the jury commending the high flexibility of production 
operations and the continuous improvements to production costs. The Gas Flue Systems segment saw 
capital expenditure of EUR 6.7 million (previous year EUR 10.5 million) predominantly on the optimisation 
of production operations. Investment in the Medical Technology & Engineering Plastics segment was EUR 
6.1 million in 2011 (previous year EUR 3.9 million). This figure includes the largest single investment pro-
ject in the group: the extension of Möller Medical’s production location, which is also the headquarters 
of medimondi AG, the umbrella company of the Medical Technology & Engineering Plastics segment. The 
past few years have seen Fulda develop into a modern centre of operations providing an optimum envi-
ronment for the development and production of innovative medical technology products. As in previous 
years, considerable amounts were also spent on the ongoing expansion and modernisation of the largest 
group location, run by the Wolf subsidiary in Mainburg.
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The aim of the investment decisions taken by the companies of the CENTROTEC Group is to preserve and 
consolidate a sound, competitive basis of modern, highly efficient development, production, logistics, 
sales and administrative units even at a time of widespread economic difficulties, while at the same time 
nurturing expertise in key areas. CENTROTEC will use this as a springboard to continue pursuing the 
strategy of parallel organic and acquisition-led growth, allocating the necessary resources for the further 
development of the group following an in-depth assessment of the opportunities and risks.

8 Sustainability

For many years, CENTROTEC has been reflecting the significant and steadily growing importance of sus-
tainability in a wide variety of ways. However, one development of particular note was the publication of 
its first Sustainability Report in the period under review. This report presents key information from the 
group companies on environmental, corporate and social aspects, and explains the CENTROTEC Group’s 
strategy in those areas.

Yet placing the spotlight on sustainability at CENTROTEC is not something that has happened simply for 
the purpose of this report; it has long been an integral part of our corporate culture and, since 2004, has 
also been reflected in the very name CENTROTEC Sustainable AG. The main focus for treating our envi-
ronment in a sustainable manner is on highly efficient products that reduce the amount of energy used in 
buildings. CENTROTEC is therefore a sustainable venture in its very essence, i.e. because of the products 
it develops, makes and sells, and is consequently significantly better placed than companies in many 
other industries.

Using energy responsibly and reducing greenhouse gas emissions is a major – and possibly the most 
important – task facing the whole world in the 21st century. Without a climate in which humankind can 
thrive on this planet, all other efforts to promote e.g. social justice, peace or liberty will pale into insignifi-
cance if the very basis of our livelihood is pulled away from beneath us. Using energy more efficiently and 
producing goods with no or lower pollutant emissions, preferably with the aid of renewables, are there-
fore absolute imperatives. The building sector, which bafflingly has been virtually disregarded in the past, 
offers the biggest potential for reducing energy consumption and pollutant emissions. It accounts for 
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around 40 % of Germany’s entire energy consumption and is therefore more significant than the transport 
sector that comes in for much greater public attention. The general debate on climate change and the 
sea change on energy that politicians have still failed to implement with the necessary insistence have 
consequently brought the building sector increasingly into focus. The very diverse, efficient, user-friendly 
system solutions offered by CENTROTEC’s companies offer an economical way of saving substantial 
amounts of fossil fuels and therefore reducing climate-harming pollutant emissions from heating, climate 
control and ventilation systems in buildings; the use of renewables is a further option. This approach 
moreover noticeably reduces dependence on other parts of the world that may be unstable, the finan-
cial outlay is recouped rapidly and it furthermore helps to safeguard jobs based almost exclusively back 
home.

Over and above the fundamentally sustainable nature of CENTROTEC’s solutions, and setting aside the 
formal act of preparing a separate report, sustainable ideas and actions have always been a key element 
of the strategies and operations of the individual companies and various hierarchical levels of the group. 
In the past, the group’s non-central structure has meant that the focus of individual measures has often 
been determined very much by the people responsible for enacting them, because they traditionally enjoy 
considerable entrepreneurial leeway within the CENTROTEC Group. This fundamentally non-central phi-
losophy is attributable to the long-term nature of its buy-and-build strategy. The fundamental values that 
apply throughout the group, such as integrity, social responsibility, and sustainable and entrepreneurial 
action, provide the framework for the core beliefs that the group has always held.

As well as a large number of measures taken non-centrally in the past, group-wide projects to promote 
sustainable action have been launched. One such measure already introduced throughout the group was 
the adoption of an internal guideline in 2009 on the CO2-neutral construction of new buildings; it has 
already been applied successfully for two new buildings and serves as the benchmark for current building 
projects and their planning process. And in 2011 all group companies adopted a video conferencing 
system that has significantly reduced the level of business travel needed; as well as bringing economic 
benefits, it means the environment benefits quite significantly. The Sustainability Report has in addition 
inspired new measures to improve sustainability; for instance individual subsidiaries have switched to 
renewable sources for their electricity supply and have been able to secure competitive prices into the 
bargain. The adoption of energy-saving solutions from our own product range has been promoted even 
more vigorously at all locations.

From 2011 on, the level of carbon emissions achieved will be reported annually to the Carbon Disclosure 
Project (CDP), the world-leading database in this field. The first submission already garnered positive 
feedback on the depth and transparency of reporting. In future, the regular report will document the pro-
gress made in reducing emissions, but also reveal further potential for improvements. The 7 % reduction 
in carbon emissions in relation to revenue over the period 2008 to 2010 has now been comprehensively 
documented for the first time; this progress has been achieved through the non-central initiative of the 
individual companies, but there will now be more central monitoring and coordination of future progress. 
The procedure for planning and recording carbon emissions has thus been built into the CENTROTEC 
Group’s standard reporting system and appropriate workshops held on the topic.
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Similarly to carbon emissions, a good level of avoidance and recycling has already been achieved for 
the way packaging materials are handled, along with other waste products generated. Within the entire 
logistics chain we are looking for further recycling options and long-term potential for optimisation, but 
especially for structural measures. As a fundamental principle, the reduction of waste volumes at the ma-
nufacturing companies by almost one-fifth over the past three years to 5,098 tonnes in 2010, in conjunc-
tion with a 85 to 90 % recycling rate, reflects the high standard already achieved in this area.

Alongside protecting the natural world, the particular emphasis is on the well-being of people, whether in 
the form of customer-focused product design or the working processes that are carried out by the emplo-
yees. In earlier years, the effectiveness of these wide-ranging, non-central measures in the group could 
only be gauged indirectly through the success of the company or by means of individual personnel indi-
cators. The Sustainability Report now makes them more tangible at employee level and underpins them 
with a standardised, extended data basis. The well-being of the employees moreover always goes hand in 
hand with the positive economic development of the companies. The group also supports projects that 
are designed to help people benefit from its long-term corporate success beyond the narrower confines 
of the entity itself. As was recently illustrated by the establishment of a Kenyan subsidiary of the Dutch 
Ubbink Group in the area of renewable power generation, the aim is to combine social commitment with 
our core business activity. The jobs created there provide a secure income for families that often span 
several generations; meanwhile the country’s sustainable development based on renewables is given a 
boost. This approach enables CENTROTEC to deploy its own skills permanently and sustainably. And so-
cial commitment achieves a much greater reach than would be possible through direct aid.

The first Sustainability Report has given a further lift to the significance and profile of sustainability 
within the CENTROTEC Group. The goal of the Supervisory Board, Management Board and employees is 
to develop the CENTROTEC Group into a corporate entity where every aspect of it is sustainable. In that 
respect CENTROTEC is still at the start of a continuous improvement process in which it will need to build 
on its own strengths, and identify and address its weaknesses and the areas in which there is scope for 
improvement. In future, CENTROTEC will be reporting on its progress with this venture on a regular basis.

Further information on the topic of sustainability within the CENTROTEC Group can be found on its home-
page at (http://www.centrotec.de/sustainability-amp-innovation/nachhaltigkeitsbericht-2010.html).

9 Risk report

The CENTROTEC Group has systematically focused on the topic of sustainability, and the spotlight of 
the group’s activities is on the development, manufacturing and sale of system solutions for the energy-
efficient heating, ventilation and climate control of buildings, including the use of renewable energies. 
CENTROTEC’s activities thus promote the responsible use of energy, help the environment and exploit the 
market opportunities arising in this area. These market opportunities are created through accessing new 
markets or penetrating existing markets with established, improved and new innovative product solutions 
from such areas as condensing boiler technology, solar technology and building climate control. Integ-
rated systems that require expertise in several product areas are also becoming increasingly prevalent. 
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CENTROTEC’s objective is to exploit fully the opportunities that present themselves in this context, both 
through organic growth and through an active acquisitions strategy, while nevertheless guaranteeing the 
highest possible degree of stability and risk limitation. The latter means in particular that it rigorously 
applies a strict set of criteria when selecting and analysing takeover options and financing and integrating 
acquisitions. For this strategy, CENTROTEC relies on the one hand on the extensive experience and mar-
ket knowledge of its group and segment management, and on the other hand on systematically monito-
ring and steering the risks that this business model entails.

To monitor and control the various risk areas, CENTROTEC implements a group-wide risk management 
system that is constantly being refined and assessed for effectiveness. This requires all significant com-
panies in the group to submit regular reports on the nature, likelihood and potential impact of identified 
risks, in accordance with the existing guidelines. Operating business is moreover closely monitored by 
the respective members of the Management Board. With this as the basis, it is possible to initiate an 
early response within the risk management system and involve various escalation hierarchies right up to 
the Management Board and Supervisory Board in good time, depending on the potential value of the risk, 
in order to avoid or hedge risks.

9.1 Risk areas

Risks from the economic environment and the industry
The business performance of CENTROTEC, too, is fundamentally dependent on the wider economic 
environment and on general cyclical developments, especially in Europe. With regard to its industry con-
text, CENTROTEC operates in the area of building investment in the broader sense; in the 2011 financial 
year this area stabilised at a fairly low level in Europe, the group’s main sales region, in the aftermath of 
the global economic crisis. Germany began to see growth in both new housing construction and in the 
commercial construction sector in 2011 compared with the very weak previous year. On the other hand 
commercial construction in most other European countries experienced a marked decline in 2011. The 
same was true of public-sector construction activity throughout Europe. Activity in the sphere of building 
investment also serves as an important indicator for CENTROTEC. However, business was latterly able to 
detach itself to some extent from the general trend in the construction industry by focusing on energy-
saving solutions, of which the public is becoming increasingly aware. Irrespective of increasingly short-
term cyclical fluctuations, CENTROTEC energy-saving solutions are achieving lasting appeal for both new 
buildings and particularly for the retrofit and renovation market as well as for municipal projects. This 
effect can be attributed to long-term growth in energy-efficient building refurbishment as a proportion of 
the overall market, together with the increased priority given to energy-saving solutions in each construc-
tion project.

Statutory framework conditions and public subsidies nevertheless continue to have an influence. For 
instance a scaling-back of subsidies if the general conditions otherwise remain unchanged could lead 
to falling revenue or slower revenue growth. A large number of changes were made at various points 
throughout the year, causing considerable uncertainty among end customers. Nevertheless, with climate 
protection remaining as pressing a concern as ever, along with the further rise in energy prices probably 
to substantially higher levels in the medium to long-term and growing efforts to achieve greater energy in-
dependence, CENTROTEC does not expect any change in the fundamental framework for energy-focused 
building refurbishment. Other European countries, but also other parts of the world, are increasingly ad-



 Group Management Report 61

opting many of the measures already practised in Germany, involving increasingly stringent requirements 
or higher levels of subsidies. Specifically in the area of subsidies, however, the financial crisis could 
prompt certain countries to freeze financial aid or suspend state measures to promote construction 
activity and protect the climate. Above and beyond these state incentives and directives, there will be 
growing awareness of and pressure on each individual to actively cut their energy costs while helping the 
environment, providing a useful basis for maintaining the market’s positive development. The failure of 
the recent years’ climate change conferences, most recently in Durban, to agree yet on far-reaching joint 
aims and measures will increase the pressure on both individuals and entire countries to act.

The development in prices for fossil fuels moreover has a major influence on readiness to invest in effici-
ent heating, ventilation and climate technology and the use of renewable energies. The high price level 
now reached and the further rise specifically in oil, gas and coal prices expected in the medium to long 
term nevertheless offer more opportunities than risks. Price arguments aside, the question of indepen-
dence from suppliers is a factor that should not be underestimated for those considering switching to 
renewable energies and making savings through energy efficiency. The current debate surrounding the 
exploitation of unconventional fossil fuels, and specifically the natural gas that is bound up in various 
types of rock, is to some degree throwing previous assumptions on the resources of fossil energy reser-
ves and their projected price movements open to question, but so far has focused merely on technical 
availability and the extent of these resources. The direct and indirect impact on the environment of this 
form of exploitation, facilitating the continuing unharnessed use of fossil energy, is still going largely un-
heeded in most current studies and would substantially reduce the profitability of this form of energy if it 
were given suitable weight. In the prevailing conditions, however, the increased use of unconventional gas 
could take the edge off price rises for fossil fuels in the short term and thereby reduce the economic ne-
cessity of modernising systems or using renewables. Notwithstanding the short-term economic benefits, 
the increased use of such energy sources could seriously aggravate the problem of climate change and 
will need to be suitably addressed through policy decisions and regulations.

9.1.2 Corporate strategy risks
Growth through acquisitions is one aspect of CENTROTEC’s strategy. The high organic growth of recent 
financial years in itself harbours risks. One key challenge is to adapt the internal organisation and pro-
cesses swiftly to the new, larger entity each time and to integrate the acquired or newly established, pre-
dominantly foreign businesses into the corporate structure. If ties between new entities and the existing 
group are too weak, a loss of transparency and control can ensue. Forcing the corporate culture onto 
new entities can cause employees to lose their ability to identify with products and companies, ultimately 
lead to a weakening of the market position and thus of the market value. CENTROTEC therefore strives 
for a balance between control and entrepreneurial freedom at its group companies. The dovetailing of 
acquired or newly established entities with the group is promoted by an overarching integration manage-
ment approach and continually monitored until the entity is finally fully integrated into the group-wide 
mechanisms of control and steering. The structure of the group as a whole is continually scrutinised for 
potential for improvements that are implemented by reorganisation projects in the individual segments, in 
order to establish a workable basis for the continuing sustained development of the group.

Until now, the focus of business has been on core European countries, specifically in Western Europe. 
The overwhelming proportion of revenue is generated in the eurozone. This emphasis gives rise to limited 
exposure to risks from changes in foreign exchange rates. Business outside the eurozone and in other 
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countries outside Europe will also become increasingly important. The aim here is to establish a broader 
basis for sales and thus reduce dependence on the German and Dutch markets. The previously mana-
geable risks from possible exchange rate movements are hedged selectively within the group by means 
of appropriate instruments. The fundamental risk of a devaluation of the euro nevertheless goes hand 
in hand with increased opportunities for exports to countries outside the eurozone. On the other hand, 
an appreciation in the value of the euro could harm the sales prospects of the group’s products, which 
are made predominantly in the eurozone. In this respect the goal is to reduce the risk by spreading sales 
markets more widely through internationalisation.

A growing international spread furthermore entails wide-ranging risks arising e.g. from changing political 
and legal circumstances, transport and processing risks, and cultural differences. For its further expan-
sion, CENTROTEC relies in particular on strong local partners with extensive market and logistics exper-
tise and knowledge of their local context. By aligning the interests of the partners involved and regularly 
revisiting and examining risk positions in the context of risk management, the market opportunities that 
arise are thus kept under control and risk minimisation is gradually optimised.

9.1.3 Risks from operating business
CENTROTEC addresses the potential risks in the operating sphere of the group’s individual companies 
through extensive, ongoing measures.

Reliable deliveries, in particular for supplies procured internationally, are assured on the one hand 
through close technical cooperation with important suppliers and on the other hand by maintaining at 
least two sources of supplies in each case. Rising procurement prices constitute another potential risk 
at the procurement end. Depending on the segment and product area, this risk is controlled by methods 
such as shoring up long-term supplier relations and corresponding price agreements, and by continually 
observing the market and optimising procurement sources. Price developments in commodity and supply 
markets are being actively monitored; at the same time potential for compensating for price increases 
is being identified through the group-wide profitability improvement programmes and suitable improve-
ments implemented.

Potential risks within the production or service areas of the group companies are addressed by means 
of internal guidelines drawn up at the level of the individual companies, and certification to international 
quality standards such as ISO 9001, ISO 14001 and ISO TS 16949. However, in line with CENTROTEC’s 
strategy and as a reflection of their broad operational leeway, the individual group companies always take 
the most rigorous quality standards in their specific sectors as the benchmark. To safeguard product qua-
lity and minimise the associated risks, quality-critical components of CENTROTEC products are subjected 
to comprehensive quality checks both during the entire production process and in the end products. 
The methods and systems used to this end are examined and regularly updated in line with the latest 
standards. The risk of accidents and plant breakdowns is countered by providing suitable training for cus-
tomers and employees, and implementing accident prevention regulations and task instructions. The risk 
of production plant breakdowns is addressed by preventive maintenance and ongoing monitoring of the 
operating parameters. Plant itself is insured against potential forms of loss in line with its value.
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The development of innovative products fundamentally entails the risk that the desired outcome may not 
be achieved despite the expending of considerable resources. To minimise this fundamental development 
risk, intensive exchanges and peer reviews of product development activities take place between the indi-
vidual group companies, as does very intensive market analysis. The internationally growing sales organi-
sation is also increasingly called upon to contribute its market knowledge. This helps to identify off-target 
developments at an early stage and gives top priority to market-led product development work. All capital 
investments and development projects are in addition evaluated intensively and promptly in the context 
of group-wide development activities, looking at the overall portfolio and the individual opportunities and 
risks involved.

At the sales end, there is the potential risk of the loss of important customer relations, in particular with 
key accounts. Dependence on individual customers is fundamentally reduced by focusing predominantly 
on products for end users. For example CENTROTEC’s biggest customer accounted for around 3 % of 
consolidated revenue, with all other customers well below that figure. At the level of the group compa-
nies, this threshold is nevertheless exceeded in individual cases. The loss of contact for instance with 
a wholesale or key account fundamentally always has a palpable impact on revenue and earnings for 
both the group and the group company. This risk of dependence is countered by active management of 
customer relations and by diversifying the sales channels in the various markets. These tasks involve con-
tinually monitoring the sales channels in the individual segments and countries for scope for expansion 
in line with the strategy. Revenue dependence on individual customers has furthermore fallen along with 
the growth already realised, and will continue to decline hand in hand with the future growth that is being 
targeted.

There is a further risk in the sales sphere from the growing pressure on the prices of CENTROTEC pro-
ducts, in particular from existing or new competitors. CENTROTEC believes it is in a strong position in 
its various segments thanks to its existing technological lead and the market position it has already 
achieved. The product portfolio is moreover regularly scrutinised for potential for innovations that will 
safeguard and extend its competitive position. Although there exists an overall risk of price pressure on 
CENTROTEC products, positions have been achieved and mechanisms set up to keep this area of risk 
under control.

The customary insurance cover has been taken out to minimise the general risks from operating busi-
ness. This includes in essence business interruption, business liability, legal protection, business and 
property, credit sale, loss of earnings and serial losses insurance, as well as D&O cover for Management 
Board members, managing directors and non-executive directors. There is in addition special property 
insurance cover (damage by the elements) for warehouses.

9.1.4 Personnel risks
There fundamentally exists the potential risk of losing managers and employees in key positions, with 
the corresponding consequences for the company. CENTROTEC addresses this potential risk on the 
one hand by adopting a sensitive approach to the integration of newly acquired entities (see “Corporate 
strategy risks”) and on the other hand by diversifying its personnel base as part of developing the group 
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organisation as a whole. The further development and regular training of employees in their individual 
specialist areas are promoted, and the independent initiative of employees to develop and implement 
new approaches and methods is encouraged. As a result, CENTROTEC is able to offer its employees long-
term perspectives for development and thus helps to minimise fluctuation in key positions by giving its 
employees a high level of job satisfaction. These are important measures for guarding against a general 
future risk of shortages of specialists; this risk is also specifically addressed by training measures for 
young people that are tailored to the needs of the individual group companies. CENTROTEC furthermore 
enables Management Board members, managers and employees in key positions to share financially in 
the group’s long-term growth prospects through the group-wide stock options scheme, boosting loyalty 
to the group by means of such a long-term incentive system.

In addition, specifically at times of general economic buoyancy there is the risk of excessive rises in 
costs in the personnel area as a result of high wage and salary increases. This risk is countered by active 
personnel costs management and trust-based partnership between the workforce and the management 
in a spirit of mutuality. The consequences of potential high pay settlements are also cushioned by further 
revenue rises and the ongoing optimisation of processes throughout the group, but may fundamentally 
lead to greater pressure on earnings.

9.1.5 Information technology risks 
In the domain of information technology, the possibility cannot fundamentally be excluded that problems 
will arise with existing systems or future extensions to existing systems, such as introductions of new 
software releases, or that system failures will hamper business operations. The customary precautions 
and security measures in the IT sector are adopted to limit these risks. The appropriateness of the se-
curity measures in information technology is regularly checked and the systems and processes in use 
adapted to changing requirements if necessary. In addition, a cautious migration approach is adopted for 
the integration of new business units to avoid major risks to business operations, for instance as a result 
of incompatibility between systems or inadequate reflection of specific business features. Furthermore, 
the number of systems used throughout the group is progressively being reduced to avoid possible errors 
or incompatibility and further optimise systems maintenance. 

However, the operating units are increasingly integrated at systems level in line with their business requi-
rements. A topical example is the roll-out of a joint ERP system in all companies of the Gas Flue Systems 
segment from 2009; three further companies were migrated to the new joint system in 2011.

9.1.6 Financial risks
Financial risks for CENTROTEC result largely from the use of borrowed capital for financing its growth, 
and especially its acquisitions. The opportunities successfully taken in the past to generate high, steadily 
rising earnings in this way go hand in hand with the potential risk of falling or even lost earnings, with 
the corresponding financial consequences. In the financing of external growth, CENTROTEC limits the 
risk it bears by fundamentally restricting it locally to the entities in question (ring-fenced financing) and 
subjects the current and future profitability of all corporate entities and compliance with the relevant fi-
nancial ratios to comprehensive profit and earnings controlling. Deviations are thus rapidly identified and 
any corrective measures needed can be implemented promptly and thoroughly. For financing, the interest 
rate risks for mostly variable-rate loans are hedged predominantly by means of interest rate derivatives. 
In the past, CENTROTEC has in addition paid back borrowings according to schedule in order to minimise 
the resulting financial burdens and maintain sufficient financial leeway.
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CENTROTEC responded swiftly to the potential risk of more limited access to financing from the banking 
sector following the financial crisis, and in 2008 realised an overall concept to safeguard the group’s 
short and long-term financing for the next few years. Adjustments to financing are made as required 
within the individual groups, in line with the needs arising from those groups’ business operations and 
the funding requirements. Together with the substantial reduction in borrowings over the past few years, 
there are consequently adequate reserves to keep pursuing the development of the group under our own 
momentum, with additional leeway for seizing any external options that might present themselves. 

For more detailed information on the financial situation of the CENTROTEC Group, we refer to the Notes 
to the Consolidated Financial Statements from page 86.

9.1.7 Miscellaneous risks
The supplying and selling of products, plant and services may expose the CENTROTEC Group and its indi-
vidual companies to legal risks due to the possibility of deliveries not being as per agreement, along with 
product liability claims, product defects, quality problems, breaches of intellectual property or the failure 
to comply with fiscal regulations. Despite a comprehensive quality management activities and correspon-
ding regularly optimised organisational structures, such risks cannot be ruled out altogether. To guard 
against this exposure, warranty provisions are created to the customary extent for our business opera-
tions and corresponding product liability insurance cover is taken out, based on figures from experience 
of failures and corresponding warranties for potential customer claims, and to reflect potential accoun-
tability. All customer complaints are moreover systematically checked and processed, then investigated 
with a view to identifying scope for internal optimisation.

There are currently no cases of litigation pending that could entail significant financial obligations, inclu-
ding ones which could threaten the enterprise as a going concern.

The existing 26.14 % interest in CENTROSOLAR is recognised using the equity method at EUR 7.4 million 
as at the end of 2011. The result for CENTROSOLAR consequently impacts CENTROTEC’s income state-
ment through the investment result, and thus has a direct but non-cash effect on the group’s earnings 
before tax; the accumulated figure is recognised in the investment value. The maximum risk is therefore 
limited to the recognised investment value.

9.2 Directors’ assessment of the risk situation

The assessment of the risk situation of the CENTROTEC Group is based on ongoing risk management, for 
which the company management discusses the status of risks and their possible impact and approves 
any necessary corrective measures, as well as ensuring that the operating units are closely monitored by 
the appropriate Management Board members. The fundamental risks to business include a great many 
external risks which the company is unable to influence directly, but the probability and potential impact 
of which are analysed regularly. There are in addition potential risks attributable to internal factors, for 
which the management has created instruments and methods so that they can be identified early on and 
measures to prevent or curb their effect implemented.

The risks mentioned here do, however, go hand in hand with numerous opportunities, which are descri-
bed in greater detail in the outlook and the reports on the segments. As matters stand the management 
regards the opportunities and risks profile as balanced, with no risks to the company as a going concern. 
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In 2011, the core areas of the group made positive progress and peripheral activities that were expe-
riencing problems were terminated. The detailed current and anticipated future developments in the 
individual areas of business have been described at length in the segment reports. The overall economic 
situation in Germany was fundamentally stable in 2011, though the economic environment in other sales 
markets was in some cases much more difficult. Both globally and nationally a mixed pattern is emerging 
for 2012, and the ongoing uncertainty prompted by the sovereign debt crisis means another recession 
but potentially also another crisis could occur. This may spread throughout an entire region, or simply 
affect individual countries. At the start of the 2012 financial year the direction of the economy as a whole 
is not foreseeable because of the unresolved euro crisis and the many economic challenges that exist 
worldwide, nor can the consequences for the markets addressed by CENTROTEC be predicted. All in all, 
however, even if certain sales markets experience an economic slowdown, the unabated rise in energy 
consumption means the significance of energy conservation and climate protection in the form of innova-
tive system solutions in buildings is likely to continue rising worldwide. In order to seize the opportunities 
that arise from this situation, CENTROTEC has a broad-based market position and an innovative product 
range. Moreover, as repeatedly demonstrated in the past, the group companies are capable of rising to 
the challenges of an increasingly difficult market through the flexibility that their cost structure and cash 
flow gives them. The options available to it include using the flexibility that exists within its production 
capacity to hire temporary workers and apply flexible working hours models, as well as continually reas-
sessing and adapting investment spending in order to increase capacity and access to new markets in 
response to demand. As in the past, CENTROTEC will very carefully examine the acquisition options that 
continue to be available, and will assess such propositions specifically in terms of their viability in the cur-
rent rapidly changing economic climate. The group’s ongoing profitability improvement programmes will 
moreover focus on optimising materials and commodities procurement costs in order to actively confront 
current and future price rises.

9.3 Disclosures on the internal control and risk management system  
 for financial reporting purposes, pursuant to Section 289 (5) of  
 German Commercial Code

The internal control and risk management system for financial reporting by the CENTROTEC Group aims 
to identify potential internal sources of error and to limit or eliminate the risks arising from them. In 
addition to optimising internal processes and procedures, it above all encompasses the entire financial 
reporting of the CENTROTEC Group. One core function of financial reporting is to steer the group as a 
whole. Target and deviation analyses are conducted on the basis of the budget and mid-range planning 
approved by the supervisory bodies. Regular forecasts are made to monitor the changing framework for 
ongoing business operations.

CENTROTEC’s financial statements are based on a group-wide reporting system. This constitutes the 
basis for a standardised data reporting process throughout the group. The operating companies’ accoun-
ting functions are organised non-centrally but are harmonised by means of a group-wide accounting ma-
nual that regulates how accounting standards are to be applied in group-wide financial reporting.

The information obtained within a narrow time frame from this comprehensive reporting system provides 
the basis for active, prompt group steering. The holding of regular Management Board and Supervisory 
Board meetings and the close support provided for managing directors by the respective Management 
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Board members guarantee that the information obtained in reporting is suitably evaluated, leading to 
appropriate measures as necessary. Together with the provisions in the articles of incorporation and the 
individual rules of internal procedure for the Supervisory Board, Management Board and managing direc-
tors, this portfolio of reporting and analytical measures creates a coherently functioning overall system. 
The system’s efficiency and effectiveness are examined by the Management Board at regular intervals, 
and the system is then revised or widened as necessary.

The group’s Legal department helps to draft or cross-checks all materially significant contracts of group 
companies.

The auditors of the individual companies, sub-groups and Consolidated Financial Statements examine the 
internal system of control for financial reporting purposes to the extent that is necessary based on the 
audit standards and chosen audit strategy, and report on their findings to the Supervisory Board. Sug-
gested improvements are taken up by the Management Board and management in order to continually 
develop and improve the system.

10 Other particulars

10.1 Provisions on the appointment and dismissal of the members of the 
Management Board and on changes to the articles of incorporation

The Management Board of the company is appointed and dismissed by the Supervisory Board, which is 
also responsible for nominating a member of the Management Board as Management Board Chairman. 
The Shareholders’ Meeting resolves amendments to the articles of incorporation. The resolutions of the 
Shareholders’ Meeting require a simple majority of votes cast and, if a majority of shares is required, a 
simple majority of shares, unless a greater majority or further requirements are stated in law. The same 
applies to amendments to the articles of incorporation.

Mr van der Stege left the Management Board of CENTROTEC Sustainable AG with effect from December 
8, 2011 and responsibility for the Gas Flue Systems segment has been taken on by the Management 
Board Chairman, Dr Huisman.

10.2 Authorisation of the Management Board to issue or buy back shares

10.2.1 Share buy-back
Pursuant to the resolution of the Shareholders’ Meeting of May 20, 2010 the company is authorised until 
May 19, 2015 to acquire treasury stock which, together with existing treasury stock, represents up to ten 
percent of the capital stock at the time of the authorisation taking effect. The price for the acquisition of 
these shares may not be more than 10 % higher or more than 10 % lower than the closing price in Xetra 
trading on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange (or in a successor system) for shares of the same class and 
features on the ten trading days preceding the acquisition. The Management Board is authorised to offer 
all or some of the shares thus acquired to third parties in (part) payment of the acquisition of companies 
or investments in companies, excluding the shareholders’ right of subscription. The Management Board is 
furthermore authorised to retire the company’s treasury stock without the need for a further resolution to 
be adopted by the Shareholders’ Meeting. Retirement may be restricted to part of the purchased shares.
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10.2.2 Approved capital
By the shareholders’ resolution of May 24, 2007, the Management Board is authorised, with the approval 
of the Supervisory Board, to increase the company’s capital stock on one or more occasions by up to 
EUR 8,212,082 (approved capital) up until May 23, 2012 through the issue of new no par value bearer 
shares in return for cash or non-cash contributions. The Management Board was also authorised, with 
the approval of the Supervisory Board, to specify the details of the share issue and, in defined conditions, 
to exclude the subscription right (a) for residual amounts, (b) for capital increases for cash if the issuing 
price of the new shares does not significantly undercut the market price of the shares of the same class 
and features already listed at the time when the issuing price is finally fixed by the Management Board, 
in keeping with Sections 203 (1) and (2), and 186 (3), fourth sentence of German Stock Corporation Law, 
(c) for capital increases for contributions in kind for the granting of shares for the purpose of acquiring 
(including indirectly) companies, parts of companies or interests in companies or assets of other compa-
nies, and (d) for issuance to employees of the company.

10.2.3 Conditional capital
By resolution of the Shareholders’ Meeting of May 28, 2002 the capital stock is conditionally increased 
(Conditional Capital I). The Management Board was authorised to issue warrants for subscription to new 
bearer shares in the company until December 31, 2004, on one or more occasions. Employees, managing 
directors and Management Board members of the company and of its affiliated companies pursuant to 
Section 17 of German Stock Corporation Law are entitled to subscribe. New shares are created where the 
options are exercised. These pay dividends from the beginning of the financial year in which the options 
are exercised. In view of the conditions of exercise specified in the shareholders’ resolution, stock options 
from Conditional Capital I may no longer be exercised since the end of the 2010 financial year. Conditional 
Capital I therefore remained unchanged at December 31, 2011 and amounts to EUR 21,984, divided into 
21,984 no par value shares (previous year EUR 21,984, divided into 21,984 no par value shares).

By resolution of the Shareholders’ Meeting of June 1, 2005 the capital stock is conditionally increased 
further (Conditional Capital II). The Management Board was authorised to issue warrants for subscription 
to new bearer shares in the company until December 31, 2011, on one or more occasions. Employees, 
managing directors and Management Board members of the company and of its affiliated companies 
pursuant to Section 17 of German Stock Corporation Law are entitled to subscribe. New shares are 
created where the options are exercised. These pay dividends from the beginning of the financial year in 
which the options are exercised. Conditional Capital II at December 31, 2011 amounted to EUR 244,084, 
divided into 244,084 no par value shares (previous year 461,742 EUR, divided into 461,742 no par value 
shares).

By resolution of the Shareholders’ Meeting on May 29, 2008 the capital stock is conditionally increased 
by a further EUR 756,000, divided into 756,000 no par value shares (Conditional Capital III). The Ma-
nagement Board is authorised to issue warrants for subscription to new bearer shares in the company 
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on one or more occasions, until December 31, 2014. Employees of CENTROTEC Sustainable AG as well 
as employees of affiliated companies as defined by Section 17 of German Stock Corporation Law are en-
titled to subscribe. The managing directors or Management Board members of the above companies are 
furthermore entitled to subscribe. New shares are created where the options are exercised. These pay 
dividends from the beginning of the financial year in which the options are exercised. Conditional Capital 
III at December 31, 2011 amounted to EUR 616,470, divided into 616,470 no par value shares (previous 
year 728,671 EUR, divided into 728,671 no par value shares).

10.3 Remuneration report

The basic features of the system of remuneration as well as particulars of the group remuneration of 
individual Management Board and Supervisory Board members are summarised in the remuneration 
report for the 2011 financial year. It takes account of the provisions of German Commercial Code and of 
the principles of the Corporate Governance Code. The remuneration report, which includes the particu-
lars of the remuneration of the corporate bodies, is published in the section dedicated to the Corporate 
Governance Report and is to be regarded as part of this management report, as a result of which it is not 
presented separately or repeated here.

10.4 Rendering of accounts

Some of the particulars provided in the management report, including statements on anticipated reve-
nues, earnings and capital expenditures, as well as potential changes in the framework conditions of 
markets and of the financial position, contain forward-looking statements. These have been formulated 
on the basis of expectations and estimates by the Management Board with regard to future occurrences 
that could affect the group. Such future-related statements are intrinsically open to risks, uncertainties, 
exceptions and other factors that could result in the actual revenues and earnings of CENTROTEC, signi-
ficantly departing from or falling short of those explicitly indicated or implicitly assumed or described in 
these statements.

In the rendering of the accounts, the potential for leeway in measurements in the Consolidated Financial 
Statements was analysed, assessed and handled in such a way as to present figures that the Manage-
ment Board believes are as fair and reliable as possible. Open, timely and continual communication with 
the capital market moreover forms part of CENTROTEC’s philosophy, which the rendering of accounts 
satisfies.

11 Report on post-balance sheet date events

No further significant events occurred at and after the balance sheet date, or only to the extent that has 
already been indicated or is already evident from the remarks in the group management report. 
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12 Outlook

The long-term positive development of the CENTROTEC Group, the profitable growth of the strategic 
divisions in the core business areas and the measures taken during the period under review to adjust 
the portfolio lay the foundations for the CENTROTEC Group’s continuing profitable development, despite 
the earnings targets for 2011 being missed. Even though the economic situation in Germany in 2011 and 
early 2012 has remained stable, the much weaker development of almost all European target markets and 
the debt crisis in many countries create the potential for a crisis scenario that could spill over into Ger-
many. This makes the direction of the economy as a whole not foreseeable at the start of the 2012 finan-
cial year because of the unresolved euro crisis and the many economic challenges that exist worldwide, 
nor can the consequences for the markets addressed by CENTROTEC be predicted. All in all, however, 
even if certain sales markets experience an economic slowdown, high and still-rising energy consumption 
and very high energy prices mean the significance of energy conservation and climate protection in the 
form of innovative system solutions in buildings is likely to continue rising worldwide. In order to seize 
the opportunities that arise from this situation, CENTROTEC has a broad-based market position and an 
innovative product range. Moreover, as repeatedly demonstrated in the past, the group companies are 
also capable of rising to the challenges of an increasingly difficult market through the flexibility their cost 
structure and cash flow gives them.

In order to maintain and build on this good market position, we continue to investigate and analyse the 
scope for strategic expansion. CENTROTEC has the financial resources to pursue such options, because 
the group’s net borrowings have been reduced by more than half since the peak levels following the take-
over of Wolf in 2006. Nor have the acquisitions made in the period under review fundamentally altered 
that. A reduction in net borrowing for operating business can be expected for the 2012 financial year. 

As the financial situation remains very sound and business operations continue to make positive pro-
gress, the Supervisory Board and Management Board of CENTROTEC Sustainable AG will propose to the 
Shareholders’ Meeting that, as in the previous year, a dividend of EUR 0.10 per dividend-bearing no par 
value share again be distributed for the 2011 financial year so that the shareholders, too, can continue to 
benefit directly from the group’s fundamentally positive development. 

In order to safeguard future operational success, the group’s ongoing profitability improvement program-
mes will continue to focus on optimising manufacturing and materials costs in order to actively confront 
current and future price rises and make maximum use of the ample leverage in that area of the group. 

Against this backdrop, CENTROTEC is confident about the prospects for the current financial year 2012 
and expects further revenue growth following the portfolio’s adjustment in 2011. Because the non-recur-
ring charges were realised in full in 2011, a significant improvement to the operating result and to earnings 
after tax can also be expected. In view of the very high uncertainty about the wider economic environment 
and especially the economic cycles in many of the markets that are relevant for CENTROTEC, much of the 
fundamental information needed to make a more detailed forecast is currently unavailable.
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The basis for the long-term positive business performance of the CENTROTEC Group remains largely un-
changed from previous years and essentially comprises the following:
> The long-term rise in energy prices due to limited resources and rising worldwide consumption,
> The growing pressure to act swiftly, decisively and comprehensively on climate change in order  
 to hold its negative consequences in check,
> Tougher statutory requirements throughout Europe for the energy efficiency of buildings,
> The strong market position of the group companies, which was given a further boost in 2011 through  
 acquisitions and is based around established, innovative, energy-efficient solutions for buildings,
> The impressive development expertise that is behind the recent and forthcoming market launches  
 of very many new, technologically pioneering products,
> Further investment in product development and innovations,
> Competitive advantages thanks to anticipating accurately the trend towards integrating various  
 solutions for heating, ventilation and climate control technology, as well as the use of renewable  
 energies into integrated system solutions,
> Exploiting further synergies within the CENTROTEC Group in operational and strategic areas,
> The consistently sound financial situation even after the acquisitions of the past financial year,  
 which assures ample entrepreneurial scope.

13 General statement on the expected development of the group

The highly heterogeneous development of the markets in which CENTROTEC operates, along with the 
price rises for materials and the development in photovoltaic activities both within the group and at its 
participating interest CENTROSOLAR, presented CENTROTEC with considerable challenges in 2011. How-
ever, these were addressed at operating level and did not interfere with the very sound progress achieved 
by the core business. In the period under review, the various parts of the group thus laid the foundations 
for regaining a positive earnings trend in the future. CENTROTEC believes it is well-positioned to achieve 
this in the international growth market for energy efficiency and the use of renewables in buildings, 
thanks to its extensive portfolio of market-led system solutions, its steadily optimised corporate proces-
ses and its customer-focused sales organisation. On this basis, over the next few years too CENTROTEC 
will be able to profit by more than the norm from the megatrend of energy conservation and climate 
protection, by virtue of having a portfolio of integrated system solutions encompassing heating, climate 
control and ventilation technology and the use of renewables.

Even taking into account the very considerable uncertainties in the overall economic situation, these 
developments provide a sound basis for maintaining the group’s long-term positive development which 
dates back to the IPO in 1998. CENTROTEC thus expects the group as a whole to resume its profitable 
growth as early as 2012. In the medium to long term (2013 and years that followed), too, the further deve-
lopment of the CENTROTEC Group is rated as distinctly positive.
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05

Renewable power from biogas
Comprehensive	range	of	biogas	systems
In view of its capability to cover the base load, biogas is a crucial renewable building 
block in the energy supply of the future. In Germany, more power is already generated 
using biogas than with photovoltaics.

Combined heat and power (CHP) plants form the basis for energy-efficient, non-
central generation of power and heat by means of co-generation at the point of use. 
The energy sources thus produce an overall energy efficiency of up to 90 %, cutting 
primary energy consumption by more than one-third.

Combined heat and power units that run on biogas are able to operate in an en-
tirely climate-neutral way, on renewable energies and with a closed CO2 circuit. The 
CHP systems made by the CENTROTEC companies Dreyer & Bosse and Kuntschar 
+ Schlüter range in performance up to 1.2 MW and span a broad spectrum of fuels 
such as biogas, sewage gas and natural gas. With biogas purification and biogas 
treatment systems for feeding biomethane into the natural gas grid, they cover the 
entire value chain of energy recovery from biogas.
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Assets
in EUR thousand [Notes] 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Non-current assets  

Goodwill 1 69,738 61,074 

Intangible assets 2 46,765 39,265 

Property, plant and equipment 3 95,180 91,946 

Financial investments accountend for using the equity method 4 11,458 28,144 

Loans and investments 4, 15 1,433 2,019 

Other financial assets 5, 15 206 224 

Other assets 5 1,156 1,247 

Deferred tax assets 6 1,711 2,906 

227,647 226,825 

Current assets

Inventories 7 74,837 64,521 

Trade Receivables 8, 15 63,740 57,629 

Income tax receivable 2,400 298 

Cash and cash equivalents 9, 15 48,146 41,123 

Other financial assets 5, 15 4,156 4,699 

Other assets 5 4,764 4,466 

198,043 172,736 

Assets 425,690 399,561 

Equity and Liabilities
in EUR thousand [Notes] 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Shareholders’ equity 10 

Share Capital 17,292 16,962 

Capital reserves 30,866 27,014 

Treasury stock (112) (112) 

Retained earnings and profit carryforward 116,401 91,632 

Profit attributable to shareholders of CENTROTEC Sustainable AG (9,376) 25,748 

155,071 161,244 

Non controlling interest presented within equity 2,382 (428) 

157,453 160,816 

Non-current liabilities

Pension provisions 11 23,485 22,864 

Other provisions 12 14,493 12,027 

Financial liabilities 13, 15 66,592 78,720 

Other financial liabilities 14, 15 11,358 2,712 

Other liabilities 14 376 369 

Deferred tax liabilities 6 16,399 14,486 

132,703 131,178 

Current liabilities

Other provisions 12 3,076 2,112 

Income tax payable 6,082 7,264 

Financial liabilities 13, 15 41,667 33,526 

Trade liabilities 15 41,879 32,467 

Other financial liabilities 14, 15 11,032 11,370 

Other liabilities 14 31,798 20,828 

 135,534 107,567 

Equity and Liabilities  425,690 399,561 



 Financial Statements 77

Consolidated Statement  
of Financial Position

Consolidated Income 
Statement

in EUR thousand [Notes]
01/01/2011
31/12/2011

01/01/2010
31/12/2010

Revenues 24 537,841 479,650 

Other income 16 9,644 7,600 

Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress 17 (1,811) 4,674 

Production for own fixed assets capitalised  3,284 3,050 

Cost of purchased materials and services 17 (272,339) (235,667) 

Personnel expenses 18 (141,878) (130,829) 

Other expenses 19 (87,843) (73,896) 

EBITDA 46,898 54,582 

Depreciation and amortisation 2, 3 (22,128) (18,424) 

Operating income (EBIT) 24,770 36,158 

Interest income 20 289 276 

Interest expense 20 (6,161) (6,181) 

Result from equity investments 4 (19,302) 4,288 

Result before income taxes (EBT) (404) 34,541 

Income taxes 21 (8,997) (8,969) 

Net income (EAT) (9,401) 25,572 

Profit or loss attributable to non controlling interest 22 (25) (176) 

Profit or loss attributable to shareholders of CENTROTEC Sustainable AG (9,376) 25,748 

EPS (Earnings per share in EUR)

Earnings per share (basic) 23 (0.55) 1.54

Earnings per share (diluted) 23 (0.54) 1.52

Weighted average shares outstanding (in thousand units; basic) 10, 23 17,164 16,750

Weighted average shares outstanding (in thousand units; diluted) 10, 23 17,410 16,986
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Consolidated Statement  
of Comprehensive Income

in EUR thousand [Notes]
01/01/2011
31/12/2011

01/01/2010
31/12/2010

Net income (EAT) (9,401) 25,572 

Exchange Rate differences on translation (71) 159 

Derivative financial instruments 797 171 

Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive income 6 (153) (123)

Other comprehensive income, net of tax 573 207 

Total comprehensive income (8,828) 25,779 

Attributable to:

Non controlling interest (45) (219)

Shareholders of CENTROTEC Sustainable AG (8,783) 25,998 
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Consolidated Statement  
of Cash Flows

in EUR thousand [Notes]
01/01/2011
31/12/2011

01/01/2010
31/12/2010

Net income before interest and taxes (EBIT) 24,770 36,158 

Depreciation and amortisation* 2, 3 24,461 18,424 

Gain/loss on disposal of fixed assets 197 113 

Other non-cash items 456 (308)

Increase/decrease in provisions 3,555 1,647 

Increase/decrease in inventories, trade receivables and other assets that  
      cannot be allocated to investing or financing activities (942) (7,175)

Increase/decrease in trade payables and other liabilities that cannot be  
      allocated to investing or financing activities 6,498 (2,278)

Interest paid 668 514

Interest received (5,884) (5,740) 

Income tax paid (11,936) (5,515)

Cash flow from operating activities 25 41,843 35,840 

Acquisition of share in participations less net of cash acquired 0 (7,780) 0 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment/intangible assets/ 
      investments/finanical assets/loans receivable 2, 3, 4 (22,537) (22,866)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment/ 
      intangilbe assets/investments/financial assets/loans receivable 1,442 789 

Cash flow from investing activities 25 (28,875) (22,077)

Proceeds from issuance of shares 10 3,309 1,642 

Proceeds from financial liabilities 4,193 4,772 

Repayment of financial liabilities (17,842) (15,067)

Dividend payment (1,695) 0 

Cash flow from financing activities 25 (12,035) (8,653)

Change in financial resources** 933 5,110 

Foreign currency exchange gain/loss of the financial resources (14) (215)

Financial resources at the beginning of the financial year 24,611 19,716 

Financial resources at the end of the financial year 25 25,530 24,611 

* Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets includes depreciation of investments amounting to EUR 1,029 thousand and deconsolidation expense of EUR 1,304 thousand.

** Cash and cash equivalents deducted of credits current account
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Consolidated Statement  
of Changes in Equity

in EUR thousand                                              [Note 10]
Share  

Capital
Capital  
reserve

Treasury  
stock

Stock 
option

reserve

Income
tax relating

to components
of other

comprehensive 
income

Exchange Rate 
differences on 

translation

Derivative
financial

instruments

Retained
earnings

and profit
carryforward

Sum other
retained
earnings

and profit
carryforward

Profit
attributable to

shareholders of
CENTROTEC 

Sustainable AG

Total capital to
shareholders of

CENTROTEC 
Sustainable AG

Non controlling
interest presented

within equity 
Consolidated

equity

January 1, 2011 16,962 27,014 (112) 2,481 540 (35) (2,144) 90,790 91,632 25,748 161,244 (428) 160,816 

Transfer to revenue reserves 25,748 25,748 (25,748)

Change from exercise of options 330 2,979 3,309 3,309 

Stock option plan 873 123 123 996 996 

Dividend payment (1,695) (1,695) (1,695) (1,695)

Net income (9,376) (9,376) (25) (9,401)

Other comprehensive income (153) (51) 797 593 593 (20) 573 

Total comprehensive income (153) (51) 797 593 (9,376) (8,783) (45) (8,828)

Other changes 2,855 2,855 

December 31, 2011 17,292 30,866 (112) 2,604 387 (86) (1,347) 114,843 116,401 (9,376) 155,071 2,382 157,453 

January 1, 2010 16,716 25,302 (112) 2,076 663 (237) (2,315) 85,390 85,577 5,400 132,883 (209) 132,674 

Transfer to revenue reserves 5,400 5,400 (5,400)

Change from exercise of options 246 1,396 1,642 1,642 

Stock option plan 316 405 405 721 721 

Dividend payment

Net income 25,748 25,748 (176) 25,572 

Other comprehensive income (123) 202 171 250 250 (43) 207 

Total comprehensive income (123) 202 171 250 25,748 25,998 (219) 25,779 

Other changes

December 31, 2010 16,962 27,014 (112) 2,481 540 (35) (2,144) 90,790 91,632 25,748 161,244 (428) 160,816 
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in EUR thousand                                              [Note 10]
Share  

Capital
Capital  
reserve

Treasury  
stock

Stock 
option

reserve

Income
tax relating

to components
of other

comprehensive 
income

Exchange Rate 
differences on 

translation

Derivative
financial

instruments

Retained
earnings

and profit
carryforward

Sum other
retained
earnings

and profit
carryforward

Profit
attributable to

shareholders of
CENTROTEC 

Sustainable AG

Total capital to
shareholders of

CENTROTEC 
Sustainable AG

Non controlling
interest presented

within equity 
Consolidated

equity

January 1, 2011 16,962 27,014 (112) 2,481 540 (35) (2,144) 90,790 91,632 25,748 161,244 (428) 160,816 

Transfer to revenue reserves 25,748 25,748 (25,748)

Change from exercise of options 330 2,979 3,309 3,309 

Stock option plan 873 123 123 996 996 

Dividend payment (1,695) (1,695) (1,695) (1,695)

Net income (9,376) (9,376) (25) (9,401)

Other comprehensive income (153) (51) 797 593 593 (20) 573 

Total comprehensive income (153) (51) 797 593 (9,376) (8,783) (45) (8,828)

Other changes 2,855 2,855 

December 31, 2011 17,292 30,866 (112) 2,604 387 (86) (1,347) 114,843 116,401 (9,376) 155,071 2,382 157,453 

January 1, 2010 16,716 25,302 (112) 2,076 663 (237) (2,315) 85,390 85,577 5,400 132,883 (209) 132,674 

Transfer to revenue reserves 5,400 5,400 (5,400)

Change from exercise of options 246 1,396 1,642 1,642 

Stock option plan 316 405 405 721 721 

Dividend payment

Net income 25,748 25,748 (176) 25,572 

Other comprehensive income (123) 202 171 250 250 (43) 207 

Total comprehensive income (123) 202 171 250 25,748 25,998 (219) 25,779 

Other changes

December 31, 2010 16,962 27,014 (112) 2,481 540 (35) (2,144) 90,790 91,632 25,748 161,244 (428) 160,816 



	 82 Financial Statements

Consolidated Segment Reporting

Climate Systems Gas Flue Systems
Medical Technology & 
Engineering Plastics Consolidation Total

Segmente Structure

in EUR thousand
Income Statement [Note 24] 

01/01/2011
31/12/2011

01/01/2010
31/12/2010

01/01/2011
31/12/2011

01/01/2010
31/12/2010

01/01/2011
31/12/2011

01/01/2010
31/12/2010

01/01/2011
31/12/2011

01/01/2010
31/12/2010

01/01/2011
31/12/2011

01/01/2010
31/12/2010

Revenue from third parties 381,782 331,769 116,347 112,835 39,712 35,046 0 0 537,841 479,650 

Revenue from other segments 1,025 603 4,912 4,309 291 513 (6,228) (5,425) 0 0 

Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress (2,886) 2,227 66 2,037 1,009 410 0 0 (1,811) 4,674 

Cost of purchased materials (196,227) (168,069) (66,632) (60,594) (15,603) (12,486) 6,123 5,482 (272,339) (235,667)

Personnel expenses (97,690) (90,266) (29,092) (26,376) (15,096) (14,187) 0 0 (141,878) (130,829)

Other expenses and income (45,714) (40,541) (20,950) (17,218) (8,251) (5,487) 0 0 (74,915) (63,246)

EBITDA 40,290 35,723 4,651 14,993 2,062 3,809 (105) 57 46,898 54,582 

Depreciation and amortisation (11,975) (10,751) (7,841) (5,313) (2,312) (2,360) 0 0 (22,128) (18,424)

Segment result (EBIT)  28,315 24,972 (3,190) 9,680 (250) 1,449 (105) 57 24,770 36,158 

Interest income 248 177 629 356 9 34 (597) (291) 289 276 

Interest expense (3,243) (3,289) (2,572) (2,473) (943) (710) 597 291 (6,161) (6,181)

Result from equity investments (208) (157) (19,094) 4,445 0 0 0 0 (19,302) 4,288 

EBT  25,112 21,703 (24,227) 12,008 (1,184) 773 (105) 57 (404) 34,541 

Income taxes (8,997) (8,969)

Net income (EAT) (9,401) 25,572 

Profit or loss attributable to non controlling interest (25) (176)

Profit or loss attributable to shareholders CENTROTEC Sustainable AG (9,376) 25,748 

Balance sheet key figures

Assets* 270,156 228,090 99,827 101,617 38,813 36,492 (108) (5) 408,688 366,194 

Financial investments accounted for using the equity method 2,408 0 9,050 28,144 0 0 0 0 11,458 28,144 

Loans and investmens 1,421 982 12 1,037 0 0 0 0 1,433 2,019 

Entitlement to income tax rebates** 4,111 3,204 

Liabilities 103,840 75,812 26,529 24,178 7,128 4,759 0 0 137,497 104,749 

Financial liabilities 108,259 112,246 

Income tax payable** 22,481 21,750 

Investments

Total investments in property, plant, equipment and intangible assetss *** 31,711 7,243 7,120 10,479 6,145 3,871 0 0 44,976 21,593 

European
euro countries

European
non-euro countries

  
Rest of world

  
Consolidation

  
Total

Regional Structure

in EUR thousand 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010

Revenue from third parties 452,781 416,954 68,371 53,603 16,689 9,093 0 0 537,841 479,650 

      thereof Germany 292,454 248,048 292,454 248,048 

Assets**** 397,318 379,092 22,833 16,839 3,356 2,442 (1,928) (2,016) 421,579 396,357 

      thereof Germany 275,259 249,412 275,259 249,412 

Total investments in property, plant, equipment and intangible assets*** 43,803 20,471 712 898 461 224 0 0 44,976 21,593 

* Excl. financial investments accounted for using the equity method, loans and investments as well as entitlement to income tax rebates**

** Including deferred tax 

*** Incl. Goodwill and figures out of business combinations

****Excl. Entitlement ot income tax rebates**
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Climate Systems Gas Flue Systems
Medical Technology & 
Engineering Plastics Consolidation Total

Segmente Structure

in EUR thousand
Income Statement [Note 24] 

01/01/2011
31/12/2011

01/01/2010
31/12/2010

01/01/2011
31/12/2011

01/01/2010
31/12/2010

01/01/2011
31/12/2011

01/01/2010
31/12/2010

01/01/2011
31/12/2011

01/01/2010
31/12/2010

01/01/2011
31/12/2011

01/01/2010
31/12/2010

Revenue from third parties 381,782 331,769 116,347 112,835 39,712 35,046 0 0 537,841 479,650 

Revenue from other segments 1,025 603 4,912 4,309 291 513 (6,228) (5,425) 0 0 

Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress (2,886) 2,227 66 2,037 1,009 410 0 0 (1,811) 4,674 

Cost of purchased materials (196,227) (168,069) (66,632) (60,594) (15,603) (12,486) 6,123 5,482 (272,339) (235,667)

Personnel expenses (97,690) (90,266) (29,092) (26,376) (15,096) (14,187) 0 0 (141,878) (130,829)

Other expenses and income (45,714) (40,541) (20,950) (17,218) (8,251) (5,487) 0 0 (74,915) (63,246)

EBITDA 40,290 35,723 4,651 14,993 2,062 3,809 (105) 57 46,898 54,582 

Depreciation and amortisation (11,975) (10,751) (7,841) (5,313) (2,312) (2,360) 0 0 (22,128) (18,424)

Segment result (EBIT)  28,315 24,972 (3,190) 9,680 (250) 1,449 (105) 57 24,770 36,158 

Interest income 248 177 629 356 9 34 (597) (291) 289 276 

Interest expense (3,243) (3,289) (2,572) (2,473) (943) (710) 597 291 (6,161) (6,181)

Result from equity investments (208) (157) (19,094) 4,445 0 0 0 0 (19,302) 4,288 

EBT  25,112 21,703 (24,227) 12,008 (1,184) 773 (105) 57 (404) 34,541 

Income taxes (8,997) (8,969)

Net income (EAT) (9,401) 25,572 

Profit or loss attributable to non controlling interest (25) (176)

Profit or loss attributable to shareholders CENTROTEC Sustainable AG (9,376) 25,748 

Balance sheet key figures

Assets* 270,156 228,090 99,827 101,617 38,813 36,492 (108) (5) 408,688 366,194 

Financial investments accounted for using the equity method 2,408 0 9,050 28,144 0 0 0 0 11,458 28,144 

Loans and investmens 1,421 982 12 1,037 0 0 0 0 1,433 2,019 

Entitlement to income tax rebates** 4,111 3,204 

Liabilities 103,840 75,812 26,529 24,178 7,128 4,759 0 0 137,497 104,749 

Financial liabilities 108,259 112,246 

Income tax payable** 22,481 21,750 

Investments

Total investments in property, plant, equipment and intangible assetss *** 31,711 7,243 7,120 10,479 6,145 3,871 0 0 44,976 21,593 

European
euro countries

European
non-euro countries

  
Rest of world

  
Consolidation

  
Total

Regional Structure

in EUR thousand 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010

Revenue from third parties 452,781 416,954 68,371 53,603 16,689 9,093 0 0 537,841 479,650 

      thereof Germany 292,454 248,048 292,454 248,048 

Assets**** 397,318 379,092 22,833 16,839 3,356 2,442 (1,928) (2,016) 421,579 396,357 

      thereof Germany 275,259 249,412 275,259 249,412 

Total investments in property, plant, equipment and intangible assets*** 43,803 20,471 712 898 461 224 0 0 44,976 21,593 

* Excl. financial investments accounted for using the equity method, loans and investments as well as entitlement to income tax rebates**

** Including deferred tax 

*** Incl. Goodwill and figures out of business combinations

****Excl. Entitlement ot income tax rebates**
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Solar process heat and cooling
Innovative	applications	for	solar	thermal	in	the	high-temperature	range
Industry is responsible for almost a third of primary energy consumption worldwide, 
of which more than two-thirds is for process heat. That is equivalent to over three  
billion barrels of crude oil and more than one billion tonnes of CO2 emissions.

In future, solar thermal in the 130° to 400°C temperature range will be able to boost 
energy efficiency and reduce CO2 emissions in many industrial processes, such 
as drying, heating and steam-raising. A potential study by the International Energy 
Agency (IEA) calculates that in Europe alone, there is potential for solar process heat 
amounting to more than 100 GW. One particularly suitable solution for industrial  
applications is uniaxially tracked primary mirrors that concentrate the sun’s light on a 
vacuum absorber, thanks to their high temperature stability and low running costs.

Industrial Solar’s Fresnel collector is especially suitable for on-roof installation in the 
industrial sphere because of its high area usage and low wind load. Another area of 
application is solar cooling, i.e. converting solar heat into refrigeration by means of 
absorption chillers. It is thus possible to provide cooling and climate control for larger 
buildings such as hotels and shopping centres while also reducing their electricity 
consumption, especially at peak loads in the summer. At a time of worldwide rising 
energy demand from cooling systems in buildings, solar cooling represents another 
effective way of saving energy and protecting our planet’s climate.
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	 Basic	data	for	the	group

The	CENTROTEC	Group	–	hereinafter	also	referred	to	as		
CENTROTEC	–	is	an	international	group	with	subsidiaries	in	thir-
teen	European	countries,	two	Asian	countries,	one	African	coun-
try	and	one	subsidiary	in	the	USA,	posting	annual	revenue	of	EUR	
538	million	(previous	year	EUR	480	million)	and	2,906	employees	
worldwide	(full	time	equivalents)	(previous	year	2,663	FTE).	The	
focus	of	CENTROTEC’s	activities	is	the	development,	production	
and	sale	of	the	following	product	areas:
>	Heating	systems	and	in	particular	condensing-boiler		
	 technology	for	gas,	oil	and	biomass	as	the	energy	source,		
	 together	with	solar	thermal	systems
>	Gas	flue	systems	for	heating	systems,	made	predominantly		
	 from	plastic	components,	
>	Technical	roof	systems
>	Ventilation	systems	with	and	without	heat	recovery
>	Climate	control	systems
>	Heat	pumps
>	Combined	heat	and	power	units,	in	particular	fuelled	by		
	 biogas	and	sewage	gas
>	Medical	technology	components	and	equipment
>	Plastic	semi-finished	products	and	prefabricated	products,	and	
>	Indirectly	via	the	equity	interest	in	the	CENTROSOLAR	Group,		
	 turnkey	photovoltaic	systems	and	solar	modules,	mounting		
	 systems	and	components	for	solar	power	systems.	Also		
	 components	for	solar	power	systems	such	as	securing	and		
	 covering	concepts.

As	well	as	the	existing	businesses,	the	CENTROTEC	Group	defines	
its	business	purpose	as	creating	and	acquiring	new	business	
areas	and	companies	in	which	energy-saving	products	are	devel-

oped	and	sold,	and/or	the	expertise	of	which	lies	in	the	domain	of	
medical	technology	products,	innovative	plastic-based	products	or	
gas	flue	and	ventilation	systems.	

CENTROTEC	Sustainable	AG	has	been	listed	on	the	Frankfurt	
Stock	Exchange	as	a	public	limited	liability	company	since	Decem-
ber	8,	1998.	Many	of	the	companies	included	in	the	Consolidated	
Financial	Statements	nevertheless	go	back	further.	The	group		
parent,	CENTROTEC	Sustainable	AG,	Brilon,	Germany,	is	listed	in	
the	Prime	Standard	in	the	SDAX	index	under	the	codes	CEV,	
WKN	540750	and	ISIN	DE0005407506.	CENTROTEC	Sustainable	
AG	is	entered	on	the	Commercial	Register	of	the	Local	Court	of	
Arnsberg,	Germany,	under	the	number	HRB	2161.	That	group	par-
ent’s	registered	offices	are	located	at	Am	Patbergschen	Dorn	9,	
59929	Brilon,	Germany.	CENTROTEC	Sustainable	AG	is	not	part		
of	a	superordinate	group,	and	is	the	ultimate	parent	company		
of	the	group	presented	in	these	Notes	and	Consolidated	Financial	
Statements.	Further	financial	and	corporate	information	on		
CENTROTEC	is	available	from	the	above	address,	or	on	the	home-
page	www.centrotec.de.	

The	financial	year	of	CENTROTEC	corresponds	to	the	calendar	
year.	The	income	statement	therefore	covers	the	period	from	
January	1	to	December	31,	2011	and	has	been	prepared	using	the	
nature	of	expenditure	method.	The	Consolidated	Financial	State-
ments	have	been	prepared	in	euros;	unless	otherwise	indicated,	
the	amounts	quoted	refer	to	thousand	euros	(EUR	thousand).		
For	mathematical	reasons,	there	may	be	rounding	differences		
of	+/-	one	unit.

CENTROTEC Sustainable AG
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the financial year 2011

A_
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	 Standards	applied

The	Consolidated	Financial	Statements	at	December	31,	2011	
have	been	prepared	in	accordance	with	the	“International		
Financial	Reporting	Standards”	(IFRS)	issued	by	the	International	
Accounting	Standards	Board	(IASB),	as	applicable	within	the		
European	Union	(EU),	taking	account	of	Section	315a	(1)	of		
German	Commercial	Code.	All	IFRS	standards,	the	application	of	
which	is	mandatory	for	the	financial	year	from	January	1,	2011,	
have	been	applied.

CENTROTEC	Sustainable	AG,	as	the	parent	company	of	the		
CENTROTEC	Group,	is	required	to	prepare	annual	financial	state-
ments	in	accordance	with	the	requirements	of	German	Com-
mercial	Code.

Accounting standards applied for the first time

The	accounting	standards	have	been	revised	and	published	by	the	
IASB.	They	wholly	or	partly	replace	earlier	versions	of	these	stand-
ards/interpretations	or	constitute	new	standards/interpretations.	
CENTROTEC	has	applied	the	following	IFRS	in	full	for	the	first	time	
or	applied	the	correspondingly	revised	standards	in	agreement	
with	the	corresponding	transitional	provisions	and	–	insofar	as	
necessary	–	adjusted	the	comparative	figures	for	2010	in	agree-
ment	with	the	new	accounting	standards:

IAS	24	(revised)	 Related	Party	Disclosures

Amendments	to	IAS	32	 Classification	of	Rights	Issues

Amendments	to	IFRS	1	 Limited	exemption	for	first-time		
	 adopters	from	the	requirement	to		
	 supply	comparative	figures	to	IFRS	7,		
	 “Financial	Instruments:		
	 Disclosures”.

Amendments	to	IFRIC	14	 Prepayments	of	a	Minimum	Funding		
	 Requirement

IFRIC	19	 Extinguishing	Financial	Liabilities	with		
	 Equity	Instruments

Annual	improvements	project	2010	 Improvements	to	the	International		
	 Financial	Reporting	Standards	2010

All	the	standards	and	interpretations	listed	have	been	adopted	
into	European	law	by	the	European	Union.

The	application	of	the	new	standards	and	interpretations	for	the	
first	time	had	no	impact	on	the	Consolidated	Financial	Statements	
of	the	company	in	the	2011	financial	year.

B_
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Accounting standards applicable from the 2012  
financial year or later

The	following	standards	and	interpretations	issued	by	the	IASB	
have	been	adopted	into	European	law	by	the	EU.	None	of	the	
standards	to	be	applied	from	the	2012	financial	year	or	later	was	
applied	early.

Amendment	to	IFRS	7	 Transfer	of	Financial	Assets

Amendment to IFRS 7
The	IASB	published	amendments	to	IFRS	7	on	October	7,	2010.	
The	amendments	relate	to	enhanced	derecognition	disclosure	
requirements	for	transfer	transactions	of	financial	assets.	The	
amendments	are	intended	to	give	users	of	balance	sheets	and	
financial	reports	an	improved	understanding	of	transfer	transac-
tions	(for	example,	securitisation	or	factoring).	Where	any	of	the	
opportunities	and	risks	from	such	transactions	remain	with	the	
entity	that	transferred	the	assets,	including	where	the	financial	
assets	are	disposed	of	in	full,	the	new	disclosure	requirements	are	
intended	to	create	greater	transparency	and	clarity	about	their	
continuing	involvement.	Retrospective	application	of	the	amend-
ments	by	enterprises	is	mandatory	for	financial	years	beginning	
on	or	after	July	1,	2011.	In	the	first	year	of	application,	compara-
tive	figures	are	not	necessary.	Application	for	the	first	time	will	
have	no	effect	on	the	net	worth,	financial	position	and	financial	
performance.

The	following	standards	and	interpretations	issued	by	the	IASB	
had	not	yet	been	adopted	into	European	law	by	the	EU	as	at		
December	31,	2011:

Amendments	to	IAS	1	 Presentation	of	Financial	Statements;		
	 	 Presentation	of	Matters	in	Other		
	 	 Comprehensive	Income

Amendment	to	IAS	12	 Deferred	Tax:	Recovery	of		
	 	 Underlying	Assets

IAS	19	(revised)	 Employee	Benefits

IAS	27	(revised)	 Separate	Financial	Statements

IAS	28	(revised)	 Investments	in	Associates	and		
	 	 Joint	Ventures

Amendments	to	IAS	32	 Financial	Instruments:	Disclosures	–		
	 	 Offsetting	Financial	Assets	and		
	 	 Financial	Liabilities

Amendments	to	IFRS	7	 Financial	Instruments:	Disclosures	–		
	 	 Offsetting	Financial	Assets	and		
	 	 Financial	Liabilities

IFRS	9	 Financial	Instruments:	Classification		
	 	 and	Measurement

Amendments	to	IFRS	9	and	IFRS	7	 Mandatory	Effective	Date	and		
	 	 Transition	Disclosures

IFRS	10	 Consolidated	Financial	Statements

IFRS	11	 Joint	Arrangements

IFRS	12	 Disclosure	of	Interests	in	Other	Entities

IFRS	13	 Fair	Value	Measurement

IFRIC	20	 Accounting	for	Stripping	Costs	in	the		
	 	 Production	Phase	–

Amendment to IAS 1
In	accordance	with	the	amendments,	enterprises	must	distinguish	
the	items	shown	under	other	comprehensive	income	(OCI)	into	
two	categories	–	depending	on	whether	or	not	they	will	be	ac-
counted	for	in	future	via	the	income	statement	(recycling).	Items	
that	are	not	recycled,	such	as	revaluation	gains	from	property,	
plant	and	equipment,	are	to	be	presented	separately	from	items	
that	will	be	recycled	in	the	future,	such	as	deferred	gains	or	losses	
from	the	hedging	of	streams	of	payment.	If	the	items	in	other	
comprehensive	income	are	presented	before	tax,	enterprises	
must	state	the	corresponding	tax	amount	separately	according	
to	the	two	categories.	The	term	used	in	IAS	1	for	the	statement	
of	recognised	income	and	expense	was	changed	to	“profit	or	loss	
(income)	statement	and	other	comprehensive	income”.	However,	
according	to	IAS	1	other	terms	remain	permissible.	Retrospective	
application	of	the	amendment	is	mandatory	for	reporting	years	
beginning	on	or	after	July	1,	2012.	Earlier	application	is	permis-
sible.	Their	application	for	the	first	time	will	not	have	any	material	
impact	on	the	net	worth,	financial	position	and	financial	perfor-
mance	of	the	group.

Amendment to IAS 12
On	December	20,	2010	the	IASB	published	an	amendment	to	
IAS	12	Income	Taxes	that	introduces	an	exception	for	certain	in-
vestment	properties	carried	at	fair	value.	The	amendment	offers	
a	practical	solution	to	the	problem	of	deferral	for	the	question	
of	whether	the	carrying	amount	of	an	asset	is	recovered	through	
use	or	through	sale,	by	introducing	a	rebuttable	presumption	
that	recovery	of	the	carrying	amount	will	normally	be	through	
sale.	As	a	consequence	of	the	amendment,	SIC	21	no	longer	
applies	to	investment	properties	carried	at	fair	value.	The	re-
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maining	guidance	has	been	incorporated	into	IAS	12	and	SIC	21	
withdrawn.	Retrospective	application	of	the	amended	version	is	
mandatory	for	financial	years	beginning	on	or	after	January	1,	
2012.	Its	application	for	the	first	time	will	not	have	any	impact	
on	the	net	worth,	financial	position	and	financial	performance	of	
the	group.

IAS 19 (revised)
The	principal	changes	to	IAS	19	are	the	following:

>> Recognition of actuarial gains and losses
Actuarial	gains	and	losses	are	renamed	as	revaluations	and	
are	to	be	recognised	immediately	in	other	comprehensive	in-
come.	The	„corridor	approach“	previously	used	and	immediate	
recognition	through	profit	and	loss	are	no	longer	permissible.

>> Recognition of past service cost/curtailment
Under	the	current	rules	of	IAS	19,	the	past	service	cost	is	
to	be	recognised	over	the	period	until	the	benefits	become	
vested.	On	the	other	hand,	under	the	new	rules	it	is	recog-
nised	in	the	period	in	which	the	underlying	curtailment	takes	
place,	in	other	words	it	is	no	longer	spread.

>> Measurement of the pension cost
In	future,	the	annual	cost	for	a	pension	plan	involving	plan	
assets	will	include	the	net	interest	expense/income.	This	will	
be	determined	by	a	different	approach	than	in	the	past.	For	
example	under	the	new	rules	interest	is	applied	to	the	defined	
benefit	net	assets	or	defined	benefit	net	liabilities.	Because	
a	single	interest	rate	is	used	to	determined	the	interest	on	
this	net	amount,	the	“interest	expense”	and	“expected	return	
on	plan	assets”	previously	determined	separately	are	now	
replaced.	The	definition	of	the	interest	rate	that	is	to	be	used	
in	determining	the	net	interest	expense/income	remains	
unchanged	from	the	interest	rate	that	is	to	be	used	under	the	
previous	rules	for	discounting	the	extent	of	the	liability.

>> Presentation of the income statement
As	a	result	of	the	requirement	always	to	recognise	actuarial	
gains	and	losses	in	OCI,	this	item	in	the	income	statement	will	
in	future	be	deleted	for	enterprises	that	have	previously	ap-
plied	the	corridor	approach.	Under	the	new	rules	the	defined	
benefit	cost	in	the	income	statement	comprises	“current	ser-
vice	cost”,	“past	service	cost,	settlements	and	curtailments”	
and	the	“net	financing	expense	or	income”.

>> Disclosure requirements
In	future	the	characteristics	of	the	pension	plans,	the	amounts	
recognised	in	the	financial	statements,	as	well	as	the	risks	
from	defined	benefit	plans,	plans	for	more	than	one	employer	
and	the	effects	which	the	defined	benefit	plans	may	have	on	
the	enterprise’s	cash	flow,	are	to	be	presented.

>> Distinction between “short-term” and “other long-term  
 benefits”

The	criteria	for	distinguishing	between	short-term	and	long-
term	benefits	in	IAS	19	differ	from	those	in	IAS	1.	The	classifi-
cation	of	a	commitment	pursuant	to	IAS	19	is	based	on	when	
the	payment	is	expected,	but	not	on	when	it	may	be	called	in	
at	the	earliest.

>> Treatment of costs and taxes from pension plans for  
 employees

Taxes	from	pension	plans	are	–	depending	on	their	nature	–	to	
be	recognised	either	under	the	return	on	the	plan	assets	or	in	
the	calculation	of	commitments	from	defined	benefit	plans.	
Administrative	costs	from	the	investment	of	plan	assets	are		
to	be	recognised	as	part	of	the	return	on	the	plan	assets.	
Other	costs	for	the	administration	of	a	pension	plan	are	to	
be	recognised	in	the	period	in	which	they	are	incurred.	This	
should	reduce	the	differences	that	arise	in	current	practice.

>> Termination benefits
A	liability	for	a	termination	benefit	is	recognised	if	the	enter-
prise	can	no	longer	withdraw	its	offer	to	pay	such	a	benefit	or	
if	costs	are	recognised	for	a	restructuring	with	which	termina-
tion	is	associated.	As	a	result	of	this,	in	a	departure	from	the	
current	rules	voluntary	termination	benefits	may	be	recog-
nised	at	a	later	point.

The	amendments	take	effect	for	accounting	periods	for	a	financial	
year	beginning	on	or	after	January	1,	2013.	Their	application	for	
the	first	time	will	have	an	impact	on	the	net	worth,	financial	posi-
tion	and	financial	performance	of	the	group	because	CENTROTEC	
has	previously	applied	the	corridor	approach.

IAS 27 (revised)
IAS	27	Consolidated	and	Separate	Financial	Statements	is	re-
named	Separate	Financial	Statements;	in	future	the	standard	
will	only	provide	guidance	on	separate	financial	statements.	The	
existing	guidelines	for	separate	financial	statements	remain	un-
changed.	The	rules	must	be	applied	from	January	1,	2013.	Applica-
tion	for	the	first	time	will	have	no	effect	on	the	net	worth,	financial	
position	and	financial	performance.

IAS 28 (revised)
The	binding	application	of	the	equity	method	for	joint	ventures	will	
in	future	be	in	accordance	with	the	requirements	of	IAS	28,	which	
previously	dealt	exclusively	with	associates	and	the	scope	of	
which	has	now	been	extended	to	include	the	accounting	of	joint	
ventures.	Additional	amendments	to	IAS	28	now	specify	for	the	
first	time	that	if	the	partial	disposal	of	an	associate	or	joint	ven-
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ture	is	planned,	the	portion	that	is	held	for	sale	is	to	be	accounted	
for	in	accordance	with	IFRS	5,	provided	the	classification	criteria	
are	met.	The	rules	must	be	applied	from	January	1,	2013.	Applica-
tion	for	the	first	time	will	have	no	effect	on	the	net	worth,	financial	
position	and	financial	performance.

Amendments to IAS 32
In	December	2011	the	IASB	made	amendments	to	improve	the	
disclosures	on	the	offsetting	of	financial	assets	and	financial	li-
abilities.	The	amendments	are	to	be	applied	for	financial	years	
beginning	on	or	after	January	1,	2014.	Application	for	the	first	
time	will	have	no	effect	on	the	net	worth,	financial	position	and	
financial	performance.

Amendments to IFRS 7
In	December	2011	the	IASB	made	amendments	to	improve	the	
disclosures	on	the	offsetting	of	financial	assets	and	financial		
liabilities.	The	amendments	are	to	be	applied	for	financial	years	
beginning	on	or	after	January	1,	2013	and	for	interim	reporting		
periods	beginning	within	these	reporting	periods.	Application	for	
the	first	time	will	have	no	effect	on	the	net	worth,	financial	posi-
tion	and	financial	performance.

IFRS 9
IFRS	9	now	envisages	only	two	categories	into	which	financial	
assets	are	to	be	classified	upon	initial	recognition:	measurement	
at	fair	value,	and	measurement	at	amortised	cost.	Measurement	
at	amortised	cost	requires	the	scheduled	holding	of	the	financial	
asset	for	the	purpose	of	collecting	the	contractual	cash	flows	and	
the	contractual	terms	of	the	financial	asset	give	rise	on	speci-
fied	dates	to	cash	flows	that	are	solely	payments	of	principal	
and	interest	on	the	principal	outstanding.	Financial	instruments	
that	do	not	satisfy	these	requirements	are	to	be	measured	at	fair	
value.	The	categorisation	made	upon	initial	recognition	may	only	
be	revised	in	subsequent	periods	if	the	business	model	under	
which	the	asset	is	held	has	changed.	The	standard	envisages	

retrospective	application	to	all	existing	financial	assets,	with	the	
circumstances	at	the	date	of	initial	application	determining	cat-
egorisation	according	to	the	new	rules.	Various	transitional	rules	
have	moreover	simplified	matters.	The	rules	must	be	applied	from	
January	1,	2015.	It	remains	to	be	examined	whether	this	will	af-
fect	the	net	worth,	financial	position	and	financial	performance	
of	the	group.

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7
The	amendment	was	published	by	the	IASB	in	December	2011.	
Along	with	the	amendment,	the	mandatory	effective	date	for	IFRS	
9	is	specified	as	January	1,	2015.	In	addition,	the	exemption	provi-
sions	on	comparative	figures	and	related	disclosures	in		
IFRS	7	were	changed.	There	is	no	material	impact	on	the	net	
worth,	financial	position	or	financial	performance	of	the	group.

IFRS 10
IFRS	10	replaces	the	guidelines	on	control	and	consolidation	in	
IAS	27,	Consolidated	and	Separate	Financial	Statements	and		
SIC	12,	“Consolidation	–	Special	Purpose	Entities”.	IAS	27	is	
renamed	“Separate	Financial	Statements”;	in	future	the	standard	
will	only	provide	guidance	on	separate	financial	statements.		
IFRS	10	changes	the	definition	of	“control”	to	apply	the	same		
criteria	to	all	enterprises	in	determining	whether	control	exists.	
The	core	principle	that	consolidated	financial	statements	pre-
sent	the	parent	and	its	subsidiaries	as	a	single	entity	remains	
unchanged,	as	do	the	consolidation	methods.	The	rules	must	be	
applied	from	January	1,	2013.	Application	for	the	first	time	will	
have	no	effect	on	the	net	worth,	financial	position	and	financial	
performance.

IFRS 11
As	a	result	of	the	new	IFRS,	there	are	now	two	types	of	joint	ar-
rangements:	joint	operations,	and	joint	ventures.	The	previous	
option	of	proportionate	consolidation	for	joint	ventures	has	been	
abolished.	Partner	companies	of	a	joint	venture	must	apply	the	
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	 Consolidation	methods

The	balance	sheet	date	of	the	companies	included	in	the	Consoli-
dated	Financial	Statements	is	December	31,	2011.	The	local	finan-
cial	statements	of	the	domestic	and	foreign	subsidiaries	included	
in	consolidation	have	been	prepared	according	to	uniform	recog-
nition	and	measurement	principles	corresponding	to	those	of	the	
parent	company,	and	adjusted,	i.e.	pursuant	to	IAS	27.

Unless	indicated	to	the	contrary,	the	consolidation	methods	ap-
plied	in	these	accounts	have	remained	unchanged	from	the	previ-
ous	year.	In	connection	with	the	more	detailed	classification	of	
notes	on	the	items	Other	provisions,	Liabilities,	Receivables	and	
Other	operating	income/expenses,	the	prior-year	figures	have	
been	adjusted	to	reflect	the	method	of	allocation	for	2011.

a_Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries	are	included	in	the	Consolidated	Financial	State-
ments	in	accordance	with	the	rules	on	comprehensive	consolida-
tion,	insofar	as	controlling	influence	that	constitutes	control	over	
the	financial	and	business	policy	of	the	subsidiary	is	exercised	
by	the	group.	Controlling	influence	is	assumed	to	apply	where	a	
share	of	more	than	50	%	of	the	shareholders’	equity	with	voting	
rights	is	held,	and	where	over	half	the	voting	rights	are	at	the	com-
pany’s	disposal.	Potential	voting	rights	that	can	be	exercised	or	
converted	at	the	reporting	date	are	taken	into	account.	Where	the	
group	may	determine	the	financial	and	business	policy	of	a	com-
pany	even	if	it	does	not	directly	hold	a	majority	of	voting	rights,	
the	company	in	question	is	likewise	included	in	consolidation.	The	
date	of	first	or	last	inclusion	in	the	Consolidated	Financial	State-
ments	within	the	context	of	full	consolidation	is	fundamentally	
based	on	the	date	on	which	controlling	influence	is	acquired	or	
lost.

Business	combinations	are	reported	according	to	the	purchase	
method.	For	this	purpose,	all	assets	and	liabilities	as	well	as	
contingent	liabilities	of	the	acquired	company	in	existence	at	the	
time	of	acquisition	are	measured	at	fair	value,	irrespective	of	the	

C_
equity	method	for	accounting.	In	future,	enterprises	participating	
in	joint	operations	will	have	to	apply	rules	that	are	comparable	to	
the	current	accounting	provisions	for	joint	assets	or	joint	opera-
tions.	The	rules	must	be	applied	from	January	1,	2013.	Application	
for	the	first	time	will	have	no	effect	on	the	net	worth,	financial	
position	and	financial	performance.

IFRS 12
IFRS	12	specifies	the	disclosures	required	for	enterprises	that	
prepare	their	accounts	in	accordance	with	the	two	new	standards	
IFRS	10	Consolidated	Financial	Statements	and	IFRS	11	Joint		
Arrangements.	The	standard	replaces	the	disclosure	requirements	
currently	contained	in	IAS	28	Investments	in	Associates.	The	rules	
must	be	applied	from	January	1,	2013.	Application	for	the	first	
time	will	have	no	effect	on	the	net	worth,	financial	position	and	
financial	performance.	However,	there	will	probably	be	higher	dis-
closure	requirements	for	associates.

IFRS 13
IFRS	13	describes	how	the	fair	value	is	to	be	determined	and	
broadens	the	disclosures	about	fair	value.	The	standard	does	not	
contain	any	rules	on	when	fair	value	is	to	be	applied.	The	rules	
must	be	applied	from	January	1,	2013.	Application	for	the	first	
time	will	have	no	effect	on	the	net	worth,	financial	position	and	
financial	performance.

IFRIC 20
IFRIC	20	concerns	only	stripping	costs	during	the	production	
phase	of	a	surface	mine.	The	interpretation	applies	for	financial	
years	beginning	on	or	after	January	1,	2013.	Earlier	application	is	
permissible.	Application	for	the	first	time	will	have	no	effect	on	
the	net	worth,	financial	position	and	financial	performance.
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Intra-group	transactions,	balances,	revenues,	expenses	and	earn-
ings,	gains,	losses	as	well	as	accounts	receivable	and	payable	
between	consolidated	companies	are	eliminated.	For	consolida-
tion	measures	with	an	effect	on	income,	the	effects	on	income	
taxes	are	accounted	for	and	deferred	taxes	are	recognised.	Any	
intercompany	profits	from	trade	are	eliminated	on	a	pro	rata	basis	
if	the	companies	concerned	had	not	left	the	group	as	at	the	bal-
ance	sheet	date.	In	each	case	the	data	of	the	company	managing	
the	inventory	has	been	taken	as	the	basis	here.

b_Associated companies
Investments	in	associated	companies	are	included	in	the	Consoli-
dated	Financial	Statements	by	the	equity	method	if	the	owner-
ship	interest	is	between	20	%	and	50	%	or	if	the	group	exercises	
considerable	influence,	but	no	control,	by	another	means.	Under	
the	equity	method,	shares	in	associated	companies	are	measured	
initially	at	cost.	The	carrying	amount	is	increased	or	decreased	to	
recognise	the	investor’s	profit	share	of	the	investee’s	earnings	for	
the	period	after	the	date	of	acquisition.	The	share	also	includes	
goodwill	arisen	at	the	date	of	acquisition.	The	investment	is	then	
tested	for	impairment	and,	if	impairment	is	established,	written	
down	to	the	lower	value	determined.

Unrealised	gains	from	business	transactions	between	the	group	
and	its	associated	companies	are	eliminated	in	proportion	to	
the	company’s	ownership	interest;	unrealised	losses	are	likewise	
eliminated	proportionally,	unless	the	value	of	the	transferred	asset	
has	been	diminished.	Where	the	group’s	share	of	the	loss	of	an	
associated	company	exceeds	the	carrying	amount	of	its	invest-
ment,	the	group	does	not	record	any	further	losses,	unless	it	has	
assumed	liabilities	on	behalf	of	the	associated	company	or	made	
payments	for	obligations	of	the	associated	company.

c_Miscellaneous investments
Investments	over	which	the	CENTROTEC	Group	exercises	no	con-
trol	or	no	significant	influence	and	where	its	ownership	interest	
is	generally	not	in	excess	of	20	%	are	recognised	as	available-for-
sale	financial	assets.	Moreover,	certain	economically	insignificant	
investments	are	likewise	classified	as	financial	assets	available	
for	sale.

existence	of	non	controlling	interests.	For	each	corporate	acquisi-
tion,	CENTROTEC	decides	on	a	case	by	case	basis	whether	the	
non-controlling	interests	in	the	acquired	enterprise	are	measured	
at	fair	value	or	based	on	the	proportion	of	net	assets	held	in	the	
acquired	enterprise.	The	option	of	measuring	non	controlling	inter-
ests	at	fair	value	is	not	currently	exercised.	Non	controlling	inter-
ests	are	thus	measured	on	the	basis	of	the	proportional	net	assets	
allocable	to	them,	without	goodwill	for	the	portion	allocable	to	non	
controlling	interests.	The	cost	of	acquisition	is	offset	against	the	
corresponding	proportion	of	equity	held	in	the	subsidiary	at	the	
time	of	initial	inclusion	in	the	Consolidated	Financial	Statements.	
The	transaction	costs	directly	allocable	to	the	acquisition	are	off-
set	immediately	through	profit	and	loss.	The	difference	in	amount	
between	the	cost	of	acquisition	and	the	pro	rata	net	equity	is	
initially	allocated	to	the	assets,	liabilities	and	contingent	liabilities	
where	its	fair	value	differs	from	the	carrying	amount	at	the	time	
of	first-time	consolidation.	The	deferred	tax	effects	resulting	
from	a	business	combination	are	likewise	taken	into	account.	Any	
remaining	balance	in	the	cost	of	acquisition	over	the	fair	value	
measurement	of	the	net	assets	acquired	is	reported	as	goodwill.	
This	is	then	tested	for	impairment	on	an	annual	basis	and,	if	nec-
essary,	written	down	to	the	lower	value	determined.	Shares	in	the	
equity	of	subsidiaries	that	are	not	allocable	to	the	group	parent	
are	reported	within	equity	as	a	non-controlling	interest.	Where	the	
cost	of	acquisition	falls	below	the	fair	value	measurement	of	the	
net	assets	acquired,	the	remaining	difference	is	recognised	in	the	
income	statement.

Where	acquisitions	occur	over	a	period	of	time,	the	interests	already	
held	are	measured	at	fair	value	at	the	date	of	acquisition.	The	differ-
ence	between	the	carrying	amount	and	the	fair	value	is	recognised	in	
the	Consolidated	Income	Statement.

Conditional	purchase	price	components	are	included	in	the	de-
termination	of	the	purchase	price	at	their	fair	value	at	the	time	of	
the	acquisition	independently	of	their	probability	of	occurrence.	
The	conditional	purchase	price	components	may	be	both	equity	
instruments	and	financial	liabilities.	Depending	on	category,	
changes	in	the	fair	value	are	taken	into	account	upon	subsequent	
measurement.



	 Financial	Statements	 93

	 Foreign	currency		
	 translation

The	Consolidated	Financial	Statements	are	prepared	in	euros	(EUR),	
as	this	is	the	functional	currency	of	CENTROTEC	Sustainable	AG.

As	part	of	the	consolidation	process,	the	financial	statements	of	
foreign	group	companies	are	translated	into	EUR	where	they	have	
been	prepared	in	a	different	currency.	Assets	and	liabilities	are	
translated	at	closing	rates,	and	expense	and	income	items	are	
translated	at	average	exchange	rates	for	the	period	under	review.	
Any	currency	translation	differences	from	this	translation	into	the	
group	reporting	currency	are	recognised	within	equity	with	no	
effect	on	income.	In	the	event	of	the	disposal	of	business	opera-
tions,	translation	differences	hitherto	recognised	income-neutrally	
within	equity	are	recognised	within	income.	Where	necessary,	
shareholders’	equity	is	translated	at	historical	rates.	Goodwill	
having	arisen	from	business	combinations	as	well	as	adjustments	
of	stated	amounts	to	fair	values	are	attributed	to	the	respective	
units,	reassessed	in	their	currency	and,	if	necessary,	translated	at	
the	exchange	rates	valid	at	the	reporting	date.	None	of	the	com-
panies	included	in	the	Consolidated	Financial	Statements	is	based	
in	a	hyperinflationary	economy.	

The	following	table	shows	the	exchange	rates	used	for	these	accounts:

Foreign currency translation

 Rate at reporting date Average rate
ISO code 31/12/2011 31/12/2010 2011 2010

GBP	 0.8353	 0.8608	 0.8679	 0.8578

DKK	 7.4342	 7.4535	 7.4506	 7.4473

CHF	 1.2156	 1.2504	 1.2326	 1.3803

PLN		 4.4580	 3.9750	 4.1206	 3.9947

USD	 1.2939	 1.3362	 1.3920	 1.3257

SGD	 1.6819	 1.7136	 1.7489	 1.8055

KES		 111.9720	 106.0180	 124.2938	 104.6882

RUB	 41.7650	 -	 40.8846	 -

D_ 	 Accounting	policies

a_Goodwill
Goodwill	is	the	excess	of	the	cost	of	an	investment	or	of	assets	
over	the	market	value	of	the	acquiree’s	assets	(on	a	time	propor-
tion	basis)	less	liabilities	and	contingent	liabilities.	Goodwill	is	
recognised	as	an	asset	included	in	the	carrying	amounts	of	the	
investment	at	the	time	of	acquisition	of	an	enterprise.	It	is	allo-
cated	to	the	cash	generating	unit	or	group	of	cash	generating	units	
where	it	is	assumed	that	they	will	benefit	from	the	merger.	A	cash	
generating	unit	is	the	smallest	identifiable	group	of	assets	that	gen-
erates	cash	inflows	that	are	largely	independent	of	other	groups	of	
assets.	The	cash	generating	unit	does	not	necessarily	correspond	
to	distinctions	made	under	company	law.	Cash	generating	units	
are	determined	at	the	lowest	possible	level	at	which	monitoring	
is	performed,	and	are	never	greater	than	a	segment.	Allocation	is	
made	on	the	basis	of	economic	features.	Gains	and	losses	from	
the	disposal	of	a	company	comprise	the	carrying	amount	of	the	
goodwill	that	is	allocated	to	the	company	being	disposed	of.

Goodwill	is	assessed	for	impairment	(value	in	use)	once	a	year	by	
means	of	an	impairment	test,	irrespective	of	whether	or	not	there	
is	evidence	of	impairment.	If	necessary,	an	impairment	loss	is	
applied.	Goodwill	is	recognised	at	cost,	less	accumulated	impair-
ment.	If	the	reasons	for	a	reduction	for	impairment	applied	to	an	
asset	on	the	basis	of	an	impairment	test	have	wholly	or	partly	
ceased	to	exist	in	a	subsequent	period,	that	impairment	is	not	
reversed	accordingly.

b_Property, plant and equipment
Property,	plant	and	equipment	is	stated	at	cost	less	accumulated	
regular	depreciation	occasioned	by	use	and	impairment.	Subse-
quent	costs	are	capitalised	where	these	are	associated	with	future	
economic	benefit	that	can	reliably	be	measured.	Self-created	
plant	includes	shares	of	overheads	in	addition	to	the	production-
related	direct	costs.	Provided	borrowing	costs	are	in	connection	
with	the	production,	construction	and	acquisition	of	qualifying	as-
sets	that	necessarily	take	a	substantial	period	of	time	to	get	ready	
for	their	intended	use	or	sale,	they	are	capitalised	pursuant	to	IAS	
23.	Depreciation	is	charged	according	to	the	straight-line	method.	
If	necessary,	a	reduction	for	impairment	is	recognised	for	prop-
erty,	plant	and	equipment	down	to	the	recoverable	amount.	All	
expenses	arising	in	conjunction	with	the	maintenance	of	property,	
plant	and	equipment	are	recorded	in	the	income	statement	for	the	
period	in	which	they	are	incurred.

E_
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c_Intangible assets
Intangible	assets:	acquired	brand	rights,	customer	bases,	software	
and	licences	are	capitalised	at	cost	and	amortised	in	accordance	
with	their	anticipated	useful	lives.	In	the	same	way,	software	de-
velopments	and	other	development	work	are	capitalised	at	cost	
and	likewise	amortised	in	accordance	with	their	respective	antici-
pated	useful	lives,	provided	the	following	criteria	are	met:
>	Completion	of	the	intangible	asset	is	technically	feasible	to		
	 the	extent	that	it	can	be	used	or	sold.
>	The	management	intends	to	complete	the	intangible	asset		
	 and	use	or	sell	it.
>	The	capability	exists	to	use	or	sell	the	intangible	asset.
>	It	can	be	demonstrated	that	the	intangible	asset	will	probably		
	 yield	future	economic	benefits.
>	Adequate	technical,	financial	and	other	resources	are		
	 available	to	complete	the	development	and	to	use	or		
	 sell	the	intangible	asset.
>	The	expenditure	attributable	to	the	intangible	asset	during		
	 its	development	can	be	measured	reliably.
Development	costs	that	do	not	meet	the	above	criteria	as	well	as	
research	costs	are	recognised	directly	as	expense.

Intangible	assets	also	comprising	brand	names	identified	upon	the	
acquisition	of	a	company	are	amortised	in	accordance	with	the	un-
derlying	expectations	and	not	amortised	on	a	regular	basis	in	the	
event	of	unlimited	use	(∞,	but	not	infinitely).	The	customer	bases	
acquired	in	connection	with	business	combinations	are	amortised	
on	the	basis	of	anticipated	use,	shrinkage	rates	and	margins,	cor-
respondingly	to	the	anticipated	economic	benefits.	Profitable	sup-
ply	agreements	are	amortised	on	the	basis	of	the	underlying	terms	
of	the	agreements,	corresponding	to	the	anticipated	economic	
benefits.	According	to	IAS	38,	development	costs	are	to	be	capital-
ised	as	intangible	assets	insofar	as	certain	criteria	stated	are	met	
cumulatively.	All	expenses	arising	in	conjunction	with	the	mainte-
nance	and	upkeep	of	intangible	assets	are	recorded	in	the	income	
statement	in	the	period	in	which	they	are	incurred.	

Useful lives serving as the basis for depreciation and amorti-
sation by the straight-line method for property, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets:

   Years

Brand	rights,	licences	and	customer	bases	 	 3	-	20

Patents/technologies	 	 3	-	25

Capitalised	development	costs	 	 5	-	10

Buildings	 	 10	-	50

Technical	equipment	and	machinery	 	 3	-	20

Fixtures	and	office	equipment	 	 3	-	15

Software	and	software	developments	 	 3	-	5

Impairment of non-monetary assets such as property, plant 
and equipment and intangible assets: 
Assets	that	are	subject	to	depreciation	and	amortisation	are	ex-
amined	for	impairment	if	corresponding	occurrences	or	changes	
in	circumstances	indicate	that	the	carrying	amount	may	possibly	
no	longer	be	realisable.	Assets	that	have	an	indeterminate	useful	
life,	such	as	goodwill,	are	tested	annually	for	impairment	unless	in-
dications	are	detected	earlier	that	impairment	may	have	occurred.	
The	amount	by	which	the	carrying	amount	exceeds	the	recover-
able	amount	is	recognised	as	an	impairment	loss.	The	recoverable	
amount	is	the	higher	of	the	fair	value	of	the	asset	less	the	costs	of	
disposal,	and	the	value	in	use.	For	the	impairment	test,	assets	are	
combined	at	the	lowest	level	for	which	independent	cash	flows	
can	be	identified	(cash	generating	units).	For	the	determination	of	
the	value	in	use,	forecast	cash	flows	are	discounted	at	the	WACC	
(weighted	average	cost	of	capital)	at	the	balance	sheet	date.	Non-
financial	assets	(apart	from	goodwill)	where	the	carrying	amount	
has	been	reduced	for	impairment	are	in	subsequent	years	exam-
ined	for	a	recovery	in	value	to	the	recoverable	amount,	but	to	no	
more	than	the	scheduled	values,	i.e.	without	impairment	loss.	The	
reversal	of	impairment	losses	recognised	in	previous	periods	is	
recognised	within	income	immediately.

d_Associated companies accounted for using the  
  equity method, loans originated by the enterprise  
  and investments
The	balance	sheet	items	comprise	investments	in	associated	
companies,	non-associated	companies	(investments),	other	loans	
originated	by	the	enterprise,	and	securities.	Investments	in	as-
sociated	companies	are	recognised	using	the	equity	method.	
The	other	non-consolidated	investments	as	well	as	securities	are	
allocated	to	the	category	„Available-for-sale	financial	assets”	and	
loans	originated	by	the	enterprise	to	the	category	“Loans	and	
receivables”.	

e_Inventories
Inventories	are	measured	at	the	lower	of	cost	or	net	realisable	
value.	Raw	materials	and	supplies	are	valued	at	the	average	cost.	
Work	in	progress,	finished	goods	and	merchandise	are	measured	
at	average	values	or	on	the	basis	of	cost,	using	the	FIFO	method.	
The	cost	of	conversion	for	work	in	progress	and	finished	goods	
consists	of	direct	costs	of	materials,	direct	labour,	other	direct	
costs	as	well	as	appropriate	shares	of	production-related	indirect	
materials	and	indirect	labour	which	have	arisen	as	a	result	of	
bringing	the	inventories	to	their	current	location	and	current	state.	
It	is	determined	on	the	basis	of	normal	capacity	utilisation.	Ap-
propriate	discounts	are	performed	for	sales-related	risks.	The	net	
realisable	value	constitutes	the	estimated	selling	price	in	the	or-
dinary	course	of	business	less	the	estimated	costs	of	completion	
and	sale	yet	to	be	incurred.
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f_Trade receivables
Trade	receivables	and	other	non-derivative	financial	assets	are	
considered	to	be	current	assets	provided	their	maturity	date	is	
no	more	than	twelve	months	from	the	balance	sheet	date.	They	
are	allocated	to	the	category	“Loans	and	receivables”	and	are	
recognised	at	amortised	cost.	Appropriate	impairment	has	been	
recognised	for	identified	risks,	as	indicated	by	experience.

g_Deferred tax
Deferred	tax	relates	to	tax	deferrals	resulting	from	temporally	
diverging	stated	amounts	between	the	balance	sheet	prepared	in	
accordance	with	IFRS	and	the	tax	balance	sheets	of	the	individual	
companies,	as	well	as	from	consolidation	processes.	The	deferred	
tax	assets	also	include	tax	rebate	claims	resulting	from	the	antici-
pated	use	of	existing	loss	carryforwards	in	subsequent	years	and	
which	are	to	be	realised	with	reasonable	certainty.	Deferred	tax	is	
determined	on	the	basis	of	the	tax	rates	which	are	likely	to	apply	
in	the	individual	countries	at	the	time	of	reversal	of	the	departures.	
It	is	furthermore	based	on	current	legislation	and	ordinances.	
Deferred	tax	assets	and	liabilities	are	not	discounted.	Deferred	tax	
resulting	from	temporary	differences	in	connection	with	acquisi-
tions	is	reported	unless	differences	cannot	be	reversed	within	a	
foreseeable	time	frame	or	the	timing	of	the	reversal	can	be	con-
trolled	by	the	company.	Deferred	tax	is	fundamentally	classified	as	
non-current	on	the	balance	sheet.

h_Cash and cash equivalents
Cash	and	cash	equivalents	comprise	cash	on	hand,	demand	
deposits,	and	deposits	with	a	maturity	of	up	to	three	months.	
Amounts	owed	to	banks	repayable	on	demand	form	an	integral	
part	of	the	group’s	cash	management.	For	the	purpose	of	the	
cash	flow	statement,	they	are	therefore	included	in	the	financial	
resources	alongside	cash	and	cash	equivalents	with	a	maturity	of	
three	months.	These	amounts	owed	to	banks	and	due	at	any	time	
are	shown	on	the	balance	sheet	as	financial	debt.

i_Shareholders’ equity
The	issued	capital	(capital	stock)	comprises	all	no	par	value	shares	
issued	by	CENTROTEC	Sustainable	AG.	These	are	reported	as	
shareholders’	equity.	Each	individual	share	represents	a	pro	rata	
amount	of	the	capital	stock	of	one	euro.

The	change	in	the	additional	paid-in	capital	is	attributable	to	the	
premiums	from	the	issuance	of	shares	through	the	stock	option	
scheme.	Transaction	costs	incurred	directly	in	connection	with	
the	issuing	of	new	shareholders’	equity	are	recognised	as	a	de-
duction	from	equity	including	all	associated	income	tax	benefits.	
If	a	group	company	acquires	treasury	stock,	the	costs	including	
ancillary	costs	and	potential	income	tax	effects	are	deducted	from	
the	shareholders’	share	of	equity	in	the	treasury	stock	reserve	
until	the	treasury	stock	has	been	withdrawn	from	circulation,	reis-

sued	or	sold.	In	the	event	of	the	reissue	or	sale	of	treasury	stock,	
the	purchase	prices	received,	including	all	associated	transaction	
costs	and	income	tax	benefits,	are	recognised	in	the	sharehold-
er‘s	share	of	equity.

Other	reserves	and	profit	carryforward	essentially	comprise	the	
profit	carryforward	as	well	as	the	values	of	changes	from	currency	
translation	recognised	with	no	income	effect,	and	changes	in	in-
terest	rate	hedging	instruments	and	securities.

The	non-controlling	interests	comprise	the	equity	portions	al-
locable	to	non-controlling	interests,	including	shares	of	profits	
and	losses,	as	well	as	possible	amounts	allocable	to	these	from	
currency	translation.

j_Share-based forms of payment
CENTROTEC	uses	share-based	forms	of	payment	counterbalanced	
by	equity	instruments.	Stock	options	are	granted	to	employees,	
members	of	the	management	and	Management	Board	members	
on	the	basis	of	a	stock	option	scheme.	Their	recognition	and	
measurement	are	based	on	the	provisions	of	IFRS	2.	Under	IFRS	
2,	share-based	forms	of	payment	are	to	be	reported	at	the	fair	
value	of	the	consideration	received.	As	the	fair	value	of	the	con-
sideration	received	cannot	be	estimated	reliably,	CENTROTEC	
calculates	the	changes	to	shareholders’	equity	indirectly,	using	
the	fair	value	of	the	stock	options	granted.	In	the	absence	of	mar-
ket	prices,	this	fair	value	is	determined	with	the	aid	of	a	binominal	
model.	This	model	estimates	the	price	that	could	be	achieved	
between	knowledgeable,	willing	parties	in	an	arm’s	length	transac-
tion	for	the	stock	options	concerned	at	the	relevant	measurement	
date.	All	factors	and	assumptions	that	market	players	would	take	
into	consideration	in	determining	the	price	and	that	are	specified	
by	IFRS	are	observed.	Insofar	as	applicable,	it	is	assumed	when	
determining	the	factors	and	assumptions	on	which	the	calcula-
tion	is	based	that	historical	values	and	developments	will	likewise	
apply	to	future	developments	and	can	serve	as	a	point	of	refer-
ence	or	starting	point	for	calculation	parameters.	The	value	of	an	
option	is	determined	on	a	once-only	basis	at	the	time	it	is	granted.	
Subsequent	changes	to	the	parameters	are	disregarded.

The	expense	from	share-based	forms	of	payment	is	distributed	
over	the	vesting	period	by	the	straight-line	method	as	a	personnel	
expense	and	recognised	in	the	additional	paid-in	capital	for	stock	
options	until	the	option	is	exercised	or	lapses.	Changes	after	the	
end	of	the	vesting	period	have	no	effect	on	income	and	are	only	
recognised	within	shareholders’	equity.	If	there	are	tax	effects	
from	share-based	forms	of	payment,	the	tax	effects	are	shown	as	
a	proportion	of	the	personnel	expense	recognised	under	tax	ex-
pense.	The	excess	shares	are	deferred	within	equity	via	deferred	
tax	assets	as	a	surplus	amount	and	recognised	directly	within	
equity	in	a	separate	reserve	for	deferred	tax.
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Income	accrued	by	the	company	at	the	time	of	exercise	of	stock	
options,	less	direct	expenses,	is	allocated	to	the	issued	capital	
and	the	premium	to	the	additional	paid-in	capital.	Option-related	
reserves	created	are	moreover	allocated	pro	rata	to	the	additional	
paid-in	capital	for	the	consideration	received	and	for	their	tax	
effects.	Cash	flows	from	tax	effects	for	share-based	forms	of	pay-
ment	are	recorded	in	the	cash	flow	statement	as	allocations	to	
the	additional	paid-in	capital	as	soon	as	the	cash	flow	from	the	
relevant	tax	return	has	been	settled	with	the	tax	authorities.

k_Pension provisions
The	pension	provisions	are	created	for	defined	benefit	pension	
obligations	to	management	and	other	employees,	and	calculated	
on	the	basis	of	the	present	value	of	future	commitments	pursuant	
to	IAS	19	using	the	projected	unit	credit	method,	taking	into	ac-
count	future	pay	and	pension	increases	and	the	mortality	tables	
currently	available.	A	variety	of	pension	plans	exist	within	the	
group.	In	the	case	of	existing	plan	assets,	the	present	value	deter-
mined	is	reduced	by	their	fair	value	and	adjusted	to	reflect	as	yet	
unrecognised	actuarial	gains	and	unrecognised	past	service	cost.	
Actuarial	gains	and	losses	are	taken	into	account	where	they	ex-
ceed	10	%	of	the	extent	of	the	liability	or	value	of	the	asset.	These	
are	indicated	by	experience	adjustments	and	changes	to	actuarial	
assumptions.	The	amount	in	excess	of	this	corridor	is	booked	to	
or	against	income	over	the	period	of	the	average	remaining	work-
ing	lives	of	the	active	workforce.	Past	service	cost	is	recognised	
immediately	as	an	expense	unless	it	is	to	be	distributed	on	a	
straight-line	basis	until	a	benefit	becomes	vested.

In	many	countries	in	which	CENTROTEC	employees	are	engaged,	
there	exists	a	contribution-based	statutory	basic	pension	scheme	
that	pays	out	a	pension	on	the	basis	of	income	and	contributions	
made.	In	the	case	of	defined	contribution	plans,	fixed	amounts	
are	paid	to	funds	outside	the	group.	In	paying	the	contributions	to	
public	pension	schemes,	CENTROTEC	has	no	further	benefit	obli-
gations.	In	addition,	individual	employees	in	the	group	have	taken	
out	policies	with	private	insurance	companies	which	are	subsi-
dised	in	certain	respects	on	the	basis	of	company	agreements.	
Apart	from	the	personnel	expenses	for	subsidies	that	are	included	
in	employee	benefit	costs,	the	group	has	no	further	benefit	obliga-
tions.	This	applies	in	particular	if	a	fund	outside	the	group	does	
not	maintain	sufficient	assets	to	settle	the	claims	made	against	it	
from	current	and	previous	financial	years.

l_Other provisions
Other	provisions	are	created	for	all	present	obligations	at	the	bal-
ance	sheet	date	resulting	from	previous	business	transactions	or	
past	occurrences,	where	the	amount	and	due	date	are	uncertain.	

These	accruals	and	provisions	are	stated	at	the	present	value	of	
the	most	likely,	reliably	estimable	amount	of	settlement	and	are	
not	netted	against	revenue	and	gains.	The	likelihood	of	the	cash	
outflow	must	be	more	than	50	%	(“more	likely	than	not”	criterion).	
Provisions	are	created	only	where	a	legal	or	factual	obligation	to	
third	parties	exists	and	the	level	of	the	provisions	could	be	reliably	
determined.	In	the	event	of	a	wide	range	of	obligations	of	a	similar	
nature	resulting	for	instance	from	statutory	warranty	obligations,	
they	shall	be	determined	on	the	basis	of	this	group	of	obligations.	
Provisions	may	in	certain	circumstances	be	recognised	as	a	liabil-
ity	if	the	likelihood	of	an	isolated	obligation	materialising	within	the	
underlying	overall	group	is	slight.

The	provision	for	warranties	should	likewise	be	created	for	re-
working	free	of	charge,	substitute	deliveries,	price	reductions	or	
compensation	payments	for	nonfulfilment.	It	may	be	based	on	
statutory	obligations	or	on	an	independent	warranty	commitment.	
Within	the	CENTROTEC	Group,	as	well	as	individual	provisions,	
general	provision	should	be	created	if	a	warranty	claim	must	be	
expected	on	the	basis	of	past	events.	The	flat	rate	is	to	be	deter-
mined	independently	by	each	group	company	on	the	basis	of	past	
experience.

m_Borrowings and trade payables
Borrowings	and	trade	payables	are	allocated	to	the	category	
“Financial	liabilities	measured	at	amortised	cost”.	Liabilities	from	
loans	are	classified	as	current	if	they	are	repayable	within	the	next	
twelve	months.

n_Leases
Leases	where	all	opportunities	and	risks	are	allocable	in	sub-
stance	to	the	group	are	classified	as	finance	leases.	They	are	
measured	at	the	fair	value	of	the	asset	at	the	start	of	the	lease	
term	or	at	the	lower	cash	value	of	the	future	leasing	instalments.	
Every	lease	payment	is	divided	up	into	a	capital	and	an	interest	
portion.	Leases	where	significant	portions	of	the	opportunities	
and	risks	rests	with	the	lessor	are	classified	as	operating	lease	
obligations.	Lease	payments	under	an	operating	lease	are	recog-
nised	as	an	expense	on	a	straight-line	basis	over	the	term	of	the	
lease.

o_Financial instruments
A	financial	instrument	is	any	contract	that	gives	rise	to	both	a	
financial	asset	at	one	enterprise	and	a	financial	liability	or	equity	
instrument	at	another	enterprise.	The	balance	sheet	includes	
both	primary	and	derivative	financial	instruments.	The	settlement	
date	is	decisive	for	the	initial	recognition	of	a	financial	instrument.	
Only	in	the	case	of	derivative	financial	instruments	is	the	trade	
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date	decisive.	A	financial	instrument	is	derecognised	if	the	rights	
to	payments	from	the	financial	instrument	have	expired	or	been	
transferred	in	full	and	the	group	has	in	essence	transferred	all	
risks	and	rewards	associated	with	its	title.

Classification of financial assets

When	reported	for	the	first	time,	a	financial	asset	is	fundamentally	
to	be	classified	in	one	of	the	following	categories:	loans	and	re-
ceivables,	held-to-maturity	investments,	financial	assets	at	fair	value	
through	profit	or	loss,	distinguishing	between	those	that	are	held	for	
trading	and	those	that	have	been	designated	as	belonging	to	this	
category	upon	initial	recognition,	available-for-sale	financial	assets.	

The	classification	depends	on	the	respective	purpose	for	which	
the	financial	assets	have	been	acquired.	The	management	deter-
mines	the	classification	of	financial	assets	upon	recognition	for	
the	first	time	and	re-examines	the	classification	at	each	reporting	
date.

Loans	and	receivables	include	non-derivative	financial	assets	
that	have	determinable	cash	flows	and	are	not	traded	on	an	ac-
tive	market.	If	there	is	the	intention	to	hold	investments	with	a	
maturity	date	(e.g.	bonds)	that	are	traded	on	an	active	market	
until	maturity,	they	can	be	categorised	as	held-to-maturity	invest-
ments.	Financial	assets	held	for	trading	are	to	be	allocated	to	the	
category	“Financial	assets	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss”.	
Financial	instruments	are	allocated	to	the	category	“Available-for-
sale	financial	assets”	if	they	are	designated	as	such	or	if	allocation	
to	another	category	is	not	possible.

Derivates	are	fundamentally	to	be	classified	as	financial	assets	
held	for	trading	unless	they	are	designated	as	an	effective	hedging	
instrument	for	hedge	accounting	(hedging	derivatives).	The	latter	
do	not	fall	into	any	of	the	above	four	categories.

Measurement of financial assets

Loans	and	receivables	as	well	as	held-to-maturity	investments	are	
measured	at	fair	value	upon	initial	recognition,	taking	account	of	
any	transaction	costs.	They	are	subsequently	measured	at	am-
ortised	cost	using	the	effective	interest	rate	method	and	taking	
account	of	any	impairment	necessary.

Financial	assets	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss	and	available-
for-sale	financial	assets	are	generally	recognised	at	fair	value	
both	initially	and	upon	subsequent	measurement.	In	the	case	of	
available-for-sale	financial	assets,	gains	or	losses	from	subse-

quent	measurement	(except	for	impairment	losses)	are	reported	
income-neutrally	in	a	separate	item	under	equity	(revaluation	sur-
plus)	until	the	financial	asset	is	derecognised.	When	the	financial	
asset	is	sold,	the	accumulated	measurement	result	reported	in	
the	revaluation	surplus	is	liquidated	and	recognised	in	the	income	
statement.	In	the	event	of	impairment,	the	revaluation	surplus	is	
adjusted	by	the	impairment	and	the	surplus	amount	reflected	in	
the	income	statement.	Reversals	are	performed	income-neutrally	
in	the	case	of	equity	instruments,	but	otherwise	with	an	effect	
on	income.	If	the	fair	value	of	equity	instruments	that	have	been	
categorised	as	available-for-sale	financial	assets	cannot	be	reli-
ably	determined,	they	are	measured	at	cost.	No	reversals	are	
performed	in	this	instance.

Reductions	for	impairment	are	applied	if,	following	recognition	of	
the	financial	asset	upon	its	receipt,	there	is	objective	evidence	of	
impairment	that	affects	the	anticipated	future	cash	flows	from	the	
financial	instrument.	The	amount	of	the	impairment	loss	is	the	dif-
ference	between	the	carrying	amount	and	the	present	value	of	the	
anticipated	cash	flows.	In	the	case	of	trade	receivables,	the	carry-
ing	amount	is	adjusted	by	means	of	an	impairment	account.	In	all	
other	cases,	the	carrying	amounts	are	reduced	directly.

The	categories	loans	and	receivables	and	available-for-sale	finan-
cial	assets	are	of	relevance	for	the	CENTROTEC	Group.	Deriva-
tives	are	moreover	designated	as	effective	hedging	instruments	
for	hedge	accounting	(hedging	derivatives).

The	loans	and	receivables	category	comprises	substantially	loans,	
cash	and	cash	equivalents,	and	trade	receivables.	The	available-
for-sale	financial	assets	include	investments	and	securities.

Accounting of hedging relationships

Derivative	financial	instruments	are	fundamentally	used	within	the	
group	for	hedging	the	interest	and	exchange	rate	risks	resulting	
from	operating	activities,	financial	transactions	and	investments,	
and	are	designated	as	cash	flow	hedges.	Initial	and	subsequent	
measurement	are	at	the	fair	value.	The	measurement	result	is	bro-
ken	down	into	an	effective	and	an	ineffective	portion.	The	effec-
tive	portion	is	recognised	income-neutrally	under	a	separate	item	
within	equity.	The	ineffective	portion	of	the	measurement	result,	
on	the	other	hand,	is	recognised	in	the	income	statement.	The	ac-
cumulated	measurement	results	within	equity	are	liquidated	with	
an	income	effect	if	the	hedged	item	starts	to	affect	income.
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Classification of financial liabilities

Financial	liabilities	are	to	be	classified	as	belonging	to	one	of	the	
following	categories	upon	initial	recognition:	financial	liabilities	at	
fair	value	through	profit	or	loss,	distinguishing	between	those	that	
are	held	for	trading	and	those	that	have	been	designated	as	be-
longing	to	this	category	upon	initial	recognition,	financial	liabilities	
measured	at	amortised	cost.

As	with	financial	assets,	the	classification	here	again	depends	on	
the	respective	purpose.	If	a	liability	is	held	for	trading,	it	is	to	be	
allocated	to	the	category	“Financial	liabilities	at	fair	value	through	
profit	or	loss”.	All	other	financial	liabilities	are	to	be	classified	as	
“Financial	liabilities	recognised	at	amortised	cost”.

Derivatives	are	fundamentally	considered	as	financial	liabili-
ties	held	for	trading	unless	they	have	been	designated	as	an	
effective	hedging	instrument	for	hedge	accounting	(hedging	
derivatives).	The	latter	do	not	fall	into	either	of	the	above	two	
categories.

Measurement of financial liabilities

Financial	liabilities	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss	are	meas-
ured	both	initially	and	subsequently	at	fair	value.	Financial	li-
abilities	measured	at	amortised	cost	are	measured	at	fair	value,	
including	discounts,	upon	initial	recognition,	taking	account	of	any	
transaction	costs.	They	are	subsequently	measured	at	amortised	
cost	using	the	effective	interest	rate	method.

Essentially	the	financial	liabilities	measured	at	amortised	cost	
are	of	relevance	for	the	CENTROTEC	Group.	Derivatives	are	des-
ignated	as	effective	hedging	instruments	for	hedge	accounting	
(hedging	derivatives).

The	financial	liabilities	measured	at	amortised	cost	mainly	origi-
nate	from	trade	payables	and	from	the	financing	of	the	group.

Determination of the fair values of financial  
instruments

An	enterprise	is	to	classify	fair	value	measurements	using	a	fair	
value	hierarchy	that	reflects	the	significance	of	the	inputs	used	in	
making	the	measurements.	This	hierarchy	comprises	three	levels:	
a)	the	prices	quoted	in	active	markets	for	identical	assets	or	li-
abilities	(and	adopted	unchanged)	(Level	1);	b)	inputs	other	than	
quoted	prices	included	within	Level	1	that	are	observable	for	the	
asset	or	liability,	either	directly	(i.e.	as	prices)	or	indirectly	(i.e.	de-
rived	from	prices)	(Level	2);	and	c)	inputs	for	the	asset	or	liability	
that	are	not	based	on	observable	market	data	(non-observable	
inputs)	(Level	3).a)	the	prices	quoted	in	active	markets	for	identi-
cal	assets	or	liabilities	(and	adopted	unchanged)	(Level	1);	b)	
inputs	other	than	quoted	prices	included	within	Level	1	that	are	
observable	for	the	asset	or	liability,	either	directly	(i.e.	as	prices)	
or	indirectly	(i.e.	derived	from	prices)	(Level	2);	and	c)	inputs	for	
the	asset	or	liability	that	are	not	based	on	observable	market	data	
(non-observable	inputs)	(Level	3).

The	fair	values	carried	on	the	balance	sheet	generally	correspond	
to	the	market	prices	of	the	financial	assets	and	liabilities	(Level	1).	
If	no	market	prices	are	available,	they	are	calculated	with	the	aid	
of	accepted	valuation	models	(Level	2).	In	the	CENTROTEC	Group,	
securities	that	are	measured	at	market	prices	come	under	Level	
1.	The	financial	derivatives	for	which	the	fair	value	is	determined	
with	the	aid	of	the	DCF	method	come	under	Level	2.	The	relevant	
market	prices,	interest	rates	and	interest	rate	volatilities	observed	
at	the	balance	sheet	dates	and	obtained	from	accepted	external	
sources	serve	as	the	input	parameters	for	this	method.	There	are	
no	other	financial	instruments	that	are	carried	at	fair	value.
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p_Revenue recognition
Revenue	in	particular	reflects	the	fair	value	of	the	consideration	
received	or	still	to	be	received	for	deliveries	and	services	in	the	
normal	course	of	business.	It	is	realised	if	it	is	probable	that	the	
economic	benefits	associated	with	the	transaction	will	flow	to	the	
group	and	the	amount	of	the	revenue	can	be	measured	reliably	
and	has	proceeded	from	its	payment.	Revenue	is	recognised	net	
of	VAT	and	discounts,	and	after	elimination	of	intra-group	trans-
actions,	when	delivery	has	taken	place	and	transfer	of	risks	and	
rewards	has	been	completed.	Revenue	for	services	is	recorded	in	
the	period	in	which	the	service	was	rendered.	

q_Financing costs
Financing	costs	such	as	interest	are	recognised	as	income	or	ex-
pense	time-proportionally	and	on	an	accrual	basis	that	reflects	the	
terms	of	the	asset	or	liability,	using	the	effective	interest	rate	method.	

r_Dividends 
Dividends	such	as	dividend	revenue	from	investments	and	share-
holders’	entitlements	to	dividend	payments	are	recognised	as	pay-
ments	when	the	right	to	receive	payment	arises.

	 Financial	risk	management

a_Financial risk factors

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The	CENTROTEC	Group	operates	internationally.	In	view	of	the	
variety	of	its	activities,	the	group	is	exposed	to	a	large	number	
of	financial	risks.	We	take	risk	to	mean	unexpected	occurrences	
and	possible	developments	that	adversely	affect	the	attainment	
of	set	targets	and	expected	progress.	Risks	that	have	a	mate-
rial	influence	on	the	net	worth,	financial	position	and	financial	
performance	are	of	relevance.	The	group’s	risk	management	
system	analyses	various	risks	and	attempts	to	minimise	negative	
effects	on	the	financial	position	of	the	group.	Risk	management	
is	practised	in	the	finance	departments	on	the	basis	of	existing	
guidelines.	Risk	managers	identify,	measure,	assess	and	support	
the	steering	of	potential	sources	of	risks.

In	measuring	and	controlling	significant	individual	risks,	the	group	
distinguishes	between	credit,	market	and	liquidity	risks.

Credit risk

We	take	credit	risk	to	mean	the	risk	of	a	loss	following	the	default-
ing	or	deterioration	in	creditworthiness	of	a	business	partner.	The	
maximum	credit	risk	corresponds	to	the	aggregate	of	the	carrying	
amounts	of	financial	assets	on	the	balance	sheet	which	are	rec-
ognised	net	of	reductions	for	impairment,	plus	these	same	reduc-
tions	for	impairment.	Trade	receivables	exist	mainly	in	respect	of	
customers	in	Germany	and	the	Netherlands.	

Impairment	of	trade	receivables	is	applied	according	to	uniform	
rules	and	cover	all	discernible	creditworthiness	risks.	Portfolio	
impairment	was	created	for	losses	that	have	materialised	but	not	
yet	been	identified.	For	further	disclosures	on	impairment	and	the	
maturities	structure	of	receivables,	we	refer	to	the	disclosures	on	
trade	receivables.

Credit	risks	regarding	accounts	receivable	are	in	essence	limited	
by	the	application	of	credit	approvals,	credit	insurance,	credit	lim-
its	and	monitoring	procedures.	The	level	of	a	credit	limit	reflects	
the	creditworthiness	of	a	counterparty	and	the	typical	size	of	the	
transaction	volume	with	that	counterparty.	The	assessment	of	

F_
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creditworthiness	is	based	on	the	one	hand	on	information	from	
external	credit	reporting	agencies	and	on	the	other	hand	on	in-
ternally	acquired	values	indicated	by	experience	in	dealing	with	
the	counterparty	in	question.	With	regard	to	receivables	that	are	
neither	overdue	nor	impaired,	there	is	no	evidence	at	the	report-
ing	date	that	the	debtors	will	not	meet	their	commitments	from	
these	receivables.	

As	a	result	of	the	large	number	of	customers	in	various	customer	
groups	and	their	international	structure	and	the	application	of	
credit	insurance,	the	credit	risk	of	trade	receivables	is	diversified.	
CENTROTEC	has	no	significant	concentration	of	credit	risk	with	
any	single	customer.	The	largest	customer	in	the	group	accounts	
for	approx.	3	%	of	revenue	(previous	year	less	3	%).

Liquidity risk

We	take	the	liquidity	risk	in	the	narrower	sense	to	mean	the	risk	
of	being	unable	to	meet	current	or	future	payment	commitments	
or	only	being	able	to	meet	them	on	unfavourable	terms.	The	
group	generates	financial	resources	predominantly	through	its	
business	operations.	The	liquidity	risk	is	controlled	by	maintaining	
adequate	levels	of	cash	and	unutilised	credit	lines	with	banks.	All	
contractual	loan	arrangements	are	continuously	monitored.	The	
following	table	shows	the	contractually	agreed,	undiscounted	cash	
flows	from	financial	instruments.	Variable	interest	payments	were	
stated	at	the	rates	determined	at	the	reporting	date.	Foreign	cur-
rency	amounts	were	translated	using	the	spot	rate	at	the	report-
ing	date.
		

There	are	moreover	the	following	anticipated	outflows	of	liquidity	
from	the	derivatives	concluded:
		

Market risk

We	take	the	market	risk	to	mean	the	risk	of	a	loss	that	may	arise	
as	a	result	of	a	change	in	market	parameters	that	have	a	bearing	
on	measurement	(exchange	rate,	interest	rate,	price).

The	market	risks	from	currency	translation	within	CENTROTEC	
are	limited,	as	the	transactions	take	place	principally	in	eurozone	
countries.	However,	a	growing	portion	of	business	activities	is	tak-
ing	place	in	European	countries	outside	the	eurozone,	particularly	
Eastern	Europe,	but	the	markets	outside	Europe	are	also	coming	

Liquidity analysis (including forecast on interest payments)

      Of which 
  Total Of which Of which Of which maturity 
  outstanding maturity less maturity maturity more than 
in EUR ’000 amount than 1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 5 years 5 years

2010	 167,538	 82,360	 20,782	 48,791	 15,605

2011	 181,911	 97,251	 47,495	 25,183	 11,982

      Of which 
  Total Of which Of which Of which maturity 
  outstanding maturity less maturity maturity more than 
in EUR ’000 amount than 1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 5 years 5 years

2010	 3,129	 1,279	 982	 827	 41

2011	 1,675	 844	 620	 152	 59

increasingly	into	focus.	This	geographical	expansion	gives	rise	to	
limited,	manageable	exposure	to	market	risks	from	changes	in	in-
terest	and	exchange	rates.	The	group	therefore	uses	instruments	
for	hedging	foreign	currency	risks	only	selectively.

If	the	euro	had	gained	10	%	in	value	against	the	principal	foreign	
currencies	for	CENTROTEC	at	December	31,	2011,	earnings	would	
have	been	lower	by	EUR	457	thousand	(previous	year	EUR	125	
thousand	lower).	If	the	euro	had	lost	10	%	in	value,	earnings	would	
have	been	higher	by	EUR	521	thousand	(previous	year	EUR	153	
higher).
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Currency sensitivity

    Sensitivity if Rate if Sensitivity if
in EUR ’000 Rate at Rate if EUR gains EUR gains EUR loses EUR loses
Currency reporting date 10 % in value 10 % in value 10 % in value 10 % in value

CHF	 1.2156	 1.34	 8	 1.09	 (10)

DKK	 7.4342	 8.18	 101	 6.69	 (124)

GBP	 0.8353	 0.92	 (604)	 0.75	 729

PLN	 4.4580	 4.90	 (175)	 4.01	 204

USD	 1.2939	 1.42	 162	 1.16	 (203)

SGD	 1.6819	 1.85	 (1)	 1.51	 1

KES	 111.9720	 123.17	 52	 100.77	 (76)

Total   (457)  521

If	the	euro	had	gained	10	%	in	value	at	December	31,	2011,	
shareholders’	equity	would	have	been	EUR	237	thousand	lower	
(previous	year	EUR	72	thousand	lower)	or,	if	it	had	lost	10	%	in	
value,	EUR	236	thousand	higher	(previous	year	EUR	88	thousand	
higher).	The	determination	of	currency	sensitivities	took	account	
of	all	significant	financial	instruments	where	the	currency	of	the	
contract	is	not	the	same	as	the	functional	currency	of	the		
CENTROTEC	Group.	The	calculations	do	not	contain	currency	
translation	risks,	nor	deferred	and	actual	taxes.

The	market	risks	from	interest	rate	changes	stem	predominantly	
from	rate-sensitive	financial	assets	and	liabilities	where	interest	
rate	changes	result	in	changes	in	the	anticipated	cash	flows.	To	
hedge	against	adverse	interest	rate	movements,	interest	rate	caps	
and	interest	swaps	have	been	concluded	in	order	to	hedge	against	
the	cash	flow	risks	of	loans	with	variable	interest	rates;	they	can	
be	designated	cash	flow	hedges	in	accordance	with	IAS	39.	For	
further	particulars	of	the	hedging	instruments	used,	please	refer	
to	the	disclosures	on	the	derivative	financial	instruments.

If	market	interest	rates	had	been	100	base	points	higher	or	
lower	at	December	31,	2011,	earnings	would	have	been	EUR	25	
thousand	(previous	year	EUR	383	thousand)	lower	or	EUR	181	
thousand	(previous	year	EUR	381	thousand)	higher.	Shareholders’	
equity	would	correspondingly	have	been	EUR	788	thousand	(previ-
ous	year	EUR	1,458	thousand)	higher	or	EUR	624	thousand	(previ-
ous	year	EUR	747	thousand)	lower	at	December	31,	2011.

All	significant	variable-interest	receivables	and	liabilities	from	
primary	financial	instruments	of	the	CENTROTEC	Group	as	well	

as	cash	flows	from	derivative	financial	instruments	were	taken	
into	account	in	determining	the	sensitivity	of	earnings	to	interest	
rates.	Equity	sensitivity	was	calculated	on	the	basis	of	hypotheti-
cal	changes	in	the	market	value	of	the	derivatives	designated	as	
hedges.

Other	risks	affecting	the	prices	of	financial	instruments	exist	for	
the	CENTROTEC	Group	above	all	in	the	form	of	market	prices.	
However,	at	the	balance	sheet	date	there	were	no	significant	
investments	in	listed	companies	that	were	not	consolidated	or	
accounted	for	by	the	equity	method.	The	near-money	market	
funds	reported	under	securities	are	not	exposed	to	any	significant	
fluctuations	in	value.

Operating risks

Through	its	operating	activities,	the	group	is	exposed	to	market	
price	risks	in	the	form	of	commodity	price	risks.	These	may	have	
a	negative	effect	on	the	net	worth,	financial	position	and	financial	
performance.	CENTROTEC	assesses	these	risks	on	a	regular	basis	
by	monitoring	changes	in	key	indicators	as	well	as	market	informa-
tion.	These	market	price	risks	are	controlled	predominantly	via	
routine	business	operations	and	financing	activities.	

Credit	risks	on	the	procurement	side	are	limited	in	the	case	of	
CENTROTEC.	There	are	a	great	many	suppliers	for	many	raw	ma-
terials	and	supplies.	In	critical	areas	of	procurement,	at	least	two	
sources	of	supply	exist	in	virtually	every	case.
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individual	parts	of	the	group	is	ring-fenced.	It	is	necessary	to	ensure	
that	both	internal	and	external	growth	prospects	and	opportunities	
can	be	realised	by	the	company	at	any	time.

Potential	measures	for	influencing	the	capital	structure	may	
concern	both	equity	(e.g.	ploughback)	and	debt	(e.g.	through	the	
raising/repayment	of	loans).	The	target	equity	ratio	should	not	
normally	be	below	20	%.
		

b_Capital risk management
The	group’s	aims	with	regard	to	capital	management	are	to	maintain	
the	company	as	a	going	concern,	in	order	to	protect	the	interests	
and	expectations	of	our	shareholders,	employees	and	other	stake-
holders.	Another	aim	is	to	maintain	an	optimum	capital	structure	in	
order	to	reduce	the	capital	costs	and	control	the	risks,	building	in	
a	premium	for	maintaining	financial	flexibility.	To	minimise	risks,	a	
financing	structure	is	being	established	in	which	the	financing	of	the	

Figures in EUR ’000 31/12/2011 31/12/2010 31/12/2009 31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Shareholders’	equity	 157,453	 160,816	 132,674	 127,804	 109,066

Long-term	debt	 132,703	 131,178	 144,077	 155,276	 152,350

Short-term	debt	 135,534	 107,567	 102,895	 95,304	 100,357

Balance	sheet	total	 425,690	 399,561	 379,646	 378,384	 361,773

Equity	ratio	 37.0	%	 40.2	%	 34.9	%	 33.8	%	 30.1	%

Debt	ratio	 63.0	%	 59.8	%	 65.1	%	 66.2	%	 69.9	%
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	 Critical	assumptions	and		
	 estimates

All	assumptions,	whether	classified	as	critical	or	not,	may	influence	
the	reported	net	worth	or	financial	performance	of	the	CENTROTEC	
Group	as	well	as	the	representation	of	contingent	receivables	and	
liabilities.	Assumptions	are	made	continually	and	are	based	on	past	
experience	and/or	other	factors.	These	include	expectations	re-
garding	the	likelihood	of	events	occurring,	formed	in	the	prevailing	
circumstances.	Estimates	relate	to	affairs	that	are	highly	uncertain	
at	the	time	of	recognition	or	up	until	the	preparation	of	the	financial	
statements	They	also	include	alternative	assumptions	that	could	
have	been	used	in	the	current	period,	or	the	potential	changes	to	
assumptions	from	one	period	to	the	next,	with	a	potentially	signifi-
cant	impact	on	the	net	worth,	financial	position	and	financial	per-
formance	of	the	CENTROTEC	Group.	Changes	to	estimates,	i.e.	
differences	between	actual	values	or	more	recent	estimates	and	
past	estimates,	are	taken	into	account	from	the	time	a	more	accu-
rate	insight	is	gained.	The	following	notes	expand	on	the	other	pres-
entations	in	the	Consolidated	Financial	Statements,	which	refer	to	
assumptions,	uncertainties	and	contingencies.

Significant	assumptions	and	estimates	which	entail	uncertainty	
and	are	associated	with	risks	were	made	in	the	areas	of	the	
consolidated	companies,	non-current	assets,	impairment	of	inven-
tories	and	trade	receivables,	contingent	purchase	price	liabilities	
and	provisions.

Non-current	assets	have	either	limited	or	unlimited	useful	lives.	
Changes	in	intended	uses,	technologies,	maintenance	intervals	
and	changes	in	the	general	economic	contexts	or	sectors	in	which	
CENTROTEC	is	active	may	result	in	the	recoverable	amounts	of	
these	assets	changing.	CENTROTEC	therefore	examines	the	useful	
lives	on	a	regular	basis	to	assimilate	the	carrying	amounts	with	
the	realisable	benefit	by	way	of	reductions	for	impairment.	In	spite	
of	every	effort	to	determine	appropriate	useful	lives,	certain	situa-
tions	may	arise	where	the	value	of	a	non-current	asset	or	group	of	
assets	is	reduced	and	thus	the	economic	value	is	below	the	car-
rying	amount.	As	impairment	occurs	only	sporadically,	rarely	for	
individual	capital	goods	and	not	at	all	for	entire	classes,	it	is	not	
possible	to	estimate	these	costs	precisely	as	early	as	the	prepara-
tion	of	the	financial	statements.	Such	costs	are	therefore	reported	
only	when	the	corresponding	information	is	known.	No	general	
sensitivity	analysis	for	all	useful	lives	is	performed.	

For	acquisitions,	assumptions	and	estimates	have	an	influence	
on	the	purchase	price	allocation	process.	Assumptions	relate	in	
particular	to	levels	of	goodwill	as	well	as	intangible	assets	and	
liabilities,	and	also	in	respect	of	their	useful	lives	with	the	result	
that	the	residual	goodwill	changes.	In	the	context	of	business	
combinations,	intangible	assets	(e.g.	patents,	customer	relation-
ships	or	supplier	agreements)	are	identified	and	are	subject	to	
estimates	in	respect	of	several	criteria	(quantities,	margins,	useful	
lives,	discounting	rates).

G_
Other	estimates	that	are	of	significance	are	in	respect	of	assess-
ing	reductions	for	impairment	of	goodwill	when	forecasting	the	
availability	of	future	financial	resources	and	discount	rates.	Partic-
ularly	for	new	business	operations,	the	uncertainty	of	forecasts	is	
greater	than	where	operations	have	been	in	existence	for	longer.	

Goodwill	and	brands	with	an	uncertain	useful	life	are	subjected	
to	an	annual	impairment	test.	A	sensitivity	analysis	yielding	the	
following	results	is	moreover	performed:	if	the	estimates	of	the	
underlying	free	cash	flow	had	been	10	%	lower,	there	would	have	
been	no	reduction	in	goodwill.	If	the	interest	rate	serving	as	the	
basis	for	discounting	of	the	cash	flows	had	been	100	base	points	
higher,	this	would	likewise	not	have	led	to	any	reduction	in	good-
will.

Conditional	purchase	price	components	are	included	in	the	de-
termination	of	the	purchase	price	at	their	fair	value	at	the	time	of	
the	acquisition	independently	of	their	probability	of	occurrence.	
The	conditional	purchase	price	components	may	be	both	equity	
instruments	and	financial	liabilities.	Depending	on	category,	
changes	in	the	fair	value	are	taken	into	account	upon	subsequent	
measurement.

CENTROTEC	grants	various	warranties	for	products.	Basic	war-
ranties	are	recognised	at	the	amount	of	the	estimated	expenses,	
taking	account	of	historical	data.	Furthermore,	costs	for	the	repair	
or	replacement	of	faulty	products	for	an	individual	customer	or	
for	specific	customer	groups	may	arise	in	the	course	of	normal	
business.	In	the	event	of	substitution	campaigns	occurring,	even	
though	they	are	extremely	rare,	a	special	provision	is	formed	to	
cover	the	anticipated	individual	costs.	As	exchange	campaigns	
occur	sporadically	and	rarely,	it	is	not	possible	to	estimate	these	
costs	precisely	as	early	as	the	time	of	sale.	Such	expenses	are	
therefore	recognised	only	when	the	corresponding	information	is	
known.	In	determining	provisions	for	guarantees,	various	assump-
tions	which	affect	the	level	of	these	provisions	are	made.	Changes	
in	productivity,	materials	and	personnel	costs	as	well	as	quality	
improvement	programmes	have	an	influence	on	these	estimates.	
The	appropriateness	of	the	provisions	recorded	is	tested	on	a	
quarterly	basis.

The	group	is	subject	to	the	tax	regimes	of	various	countries.	
Estimates	that	are	of	significance	are	required	in	the	creation	of	
tax	provisions	and	deferred	tax	items.	Transactions	and	calcula-
tions	within	the	normal	course	of	business	are	subject	to	various	
uncertainties	with	regard	to	fiscal	effects	and	recognition.	The	cor-
responding	accounting	policies	are	applied	in	the	creation	of	provi-
sions	for	potential	liabilities	that	may	arise	as	a	result	of	future	field	
tax	investigations	of	past	transactions.	In	cases	where	the	final	tax	
calculations	deviate	from	the	assumptions	originally	reported,	the	
effects	are	taken	into	account	in	the	income	statement.
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	 Segment	reporting

The	operating	segments	are	reported	on	in	a	way	that	corre-
sponds	to	internal	reporting	to	the	principal	decision-makers.	The	
principal	decision-maker	is	responsible	for	decisions	regarding	the	
allocation	of	resources	to	the	operating	segments	and	for	examin-
ing	their	profitability.	Three	Management	Board	members	have	
been	designated	the	principal	decision-makers,	with	each	member	
exercising	control	over	one	of	the	following	three	segments:	
1_“Climate Systems”:	in	this	segment,	heating,	ventilation	
and	climate	control	systems	together	with	systems	for	using	
renewable	energies	for	detached	and	semi-detached	houses	as	
well	as	for	utility	buildings	such	as	public	amenities,	schools	etc.	
are	developed,	produced	and	sold.	The	main	focus	of	the	product	
range	is	on	a	high	degree	of	energy-saving	and	on	interlinking	
heating,	ventilation	and	climate	control	systems.	In	this	market	
segment,	CENTROTEC	is	among	the	leading	companies	in	Europe.
2_“Gas Flue Systems”:	here,	gas	flue	systems	for	diverse	
applications	as	well	as	technical	roof	products	are	developed,	pro-
duced	and	marketed.	The	emphasis	of	these	systems	is	on	plastic	
gas	flue	systems	for	condensing	boiler	systems.	In	this	segment,	
CENTROTEC	is	one	of	the	leading	companies	in	Europe.	It	also	
produces	assemblies	made	from	hot-shaped	materials	in	small	
production	runs.
3_“Medical Technology & Engineering Plastics”:	this	
segment	develops,	manufactures	and	sells	medical	technology	
and	diagnostic	articles	and	instruments.	This	segment	also	com-
prises	the	manufacture	and	sale	of	semi-finished	plastic	products,	
prefabricated	products	and	assemblies	for	small	series	in	various	
sectors,	but	predominantly	in	medical	technology.

Segment	reporting	is	based	on	the	same	accounting	policies	as	
for	the	other	sections	of	the	Consolidated	Financial	Statements.	
Income	and	expenditure	are	directly	attributable	to	the	segments	
on	the	basis	of	source	or	origin.	The	data	is	taken	from	the	ac-
counting	systems	of	the	companies	that	are	allocated	to	the	
respective	segments.

H_ 	 Particulars	of	the		
	 consolidated	companies

All	direct	and	indirect	subsidiaries	of	the	parent	company	and	
group	parent	are	included	in	the	Consolidated	Financial	State-
ments	of	CENTROTEC.	The	following	companies,	which	simultane-
ously	constitute	the	CENTROTEC	Group,	were	consolidated	within	
CENTROTEC	Sustainable	AG	at	December	31,	2011:

I_
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Company

  Place and country Share of Subscribed Currency Founded/
  of incorporation capital capital (ISO code) acquired

Fully consolidated

CENTROTEC	Sustainable	AG	 Brilon,	DE	 -	 17,291,820.00	 EUR	 *17/07/1998

Climate	Systems	segment

Brink	Climate	Systems	B.V.	 Staphorst,	NL	 100	%	 20,004.00	 EUR	 02/01/2002

Deveko	B.V.	 Deventer,	NL	 100	%	 18,152.00	 EUR	 02/01/2002

Golu	B.V.	 Soest,	NL	 100	%	 18,152.00	 EUR	 02/01/2002

Kempair	B.V.	 Eindhoven,	NL	 100	%	 18,152.00	 EUR	 02/01/2002

Brink	Climate	Systems	Ireland	Ltd.	 Naas,	IE	 100	%	 100.00	 EUR	 10/05/2010

Ned	Air	Holding	B.V.	 Ijsselmuiden,	NL	 100	%	 54,454.00	 EUR	 05/06/2003

Ned	Air	B.V.	 Ijsselmuiden,	NL	 100	%	 54,454.00	 EUR	 05/06/2003

Ned	Air	UK	Ltd.	 Manchester,	UK	 100	%	 150.00	 GBP	 02/10/2006

Ned	Air	Polska	Sp.z.o.o.	 Katowice,	PL	 100	%	 50,000.00	 PLN	 19/03/2008

EnEV-Air	GmbH	 Ahaus,	DE	 98.9	%	 450,000.00	 EUR	 29/11/2005

Innosource	Holding	B.V.	 Sassenheim,	NL	 100	%	 38,500.00	 EUR	 08/09/2005

Innosource	B.V.	 Sassenheim,	NL	 100	%	 18,000.00	 EUR	 08/09/2005

Soundscape	B.V.	 Sassenheim,	NL	 100	%	 18,000.00	 EUR	 08/09/2005

Centrotec	Energy	Solutions	B.V.	 Staphorst,	NL	 100	%	 18,000.00	 EUR	 08/09/2005

Centrotec	Energy	Solutions	Nederland	B.V.	 Staphorst,	NL	 100	%	 18,000.00	 EUR	 19/11/2010

Stiller	Wonen	B.V.	 Amstelveen,	NL	 100	%	 18,151.00	 EUR	 08/09/2005

Brink	Climate	Systems	Deutschland	GmbH	 Ahaus,	DE	 100	%	 25,000.00	 EUR	 08/09/2005

Wolf	Holding	GmbH	 Mainburg,	DE	 100	%	 25,000.00	 EUR	 22/09/2006

Wolf	GmbH	 Mainburg,	DE	 100	%	 20,000,000.00	 EUR	 05/10/2006

Wolf	France	S.A.S.	 Massy,	FR	 100	%	 40,000.00	 EUR	 05/10/2006

Wolf	Iberica	S.A.	 Madrid,	ES	 100	%	 781,316.00	 EUR	 05/10/2006

Wolf	Technika	Grzewcza	Sp.z.o.o.	 Warsaw,	PL	 100	%	 2,564,000.00	 PLN	 05/10/2006

Wolf	Heating	UK	Ltd.	 Northwich,	UK	 100	%	 150,000.00	 GBP	 05/10/2006

Kuntschar	&	Schlüter	GmbH	 Wolfhagen,	DE	 100	%	 250,000.00	 EUR	 01/11/2008

Dreyer	&	Bosse	Kraftwerke	GmbH	 Gorleben,	DE	 80	%	 500,000.00	 EUR	 31/08/2011

Wolf	Sustainable	AG	 Zurich,	CH	 100	%	 100,000.00	 CHF	 24/06/2011

OOO	Wolf	Energiesparsysteme	 Moscow,	RU	 100	%	 3,200,000.00	 RUB	 25/11/2011

Wolf	Klimaatechniek	B.V.	 Kampen,	NL	 100	%	 150,000.00	 EUR	 05/10/2006

Centrotec	Energy	Solutions	GmbH	 Brilon,	DE	 100	%	 25,000.00	 EUR	 23/07/2008

Gas Flue Systems segment

Ubbink	B.V.	 Doesburg,	NL	 100	%	 46,286.00	 EUR	 21/12/1999

Ubbink	N.V./	S.A.	 Gentbrugge,	BE	 100	%	 592,117.48	 EUR	 21/12/1999

Ubbink	UK	Ltd.	 Brackley,	UK	 100	%	 35,000.00	 GBP	 21/12/1999

Ubbink	France	S.A.S.	 La	Chapelle	sur	Erdre,	FR	 100	%	 310,000.00	 EUR	 21/12/1999

Ubbink	East	Africa	Ltd.	 Naivasha,	Kenya	 60	%	 100,000.00	 KES	 17/09/2009

Centrotherm	Systemtechnik	GmbH	 Brilon,	DE	 100	%	 102,258.38	 EUR	 15/12/1993

Centrotherm	Gas	Flue	Technologies	Italy	S.R.L.	 Verona,	I	 100	%	 119,000.00	 EUR	 19/10/2000

Centrotherm	Eco	Systems,	LLC	 Albany,	USA	 65	%	 200,000.00	 USD	 22/04/2009

Ubbink	Deutschland	GmbH	 Brilon,	DE	 100	%	 25,000.00	 EUR	 14/07/2008

Solar23	GmbH	 Ulm,	DE	 60	%	 250,000.00	 EUR	 07/03/2011

Centrotec	JI	Asia	Pte.	Ltd.	 Singapore,	SG	 57.5	%	 170,000.00	 SGD	 23/04/2003

Centrotec	JIT	Bintan	PT	 Bintan,	ID	 57.5	%	 615,484,000.00	 IDR	 01/01/2004

Centrotec	Composites	GmbH	 Brilon,	DE	 100	%	 27,000.00	 EUR	 01/08/1990

Centrotec	International	GmbH	 Brilon,	DE	 100	%	 25,000.00	 EUR	 18/12/2002
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Company

  Place and country Share of Subscribed Currency Founded/
  of incorporation capital capital (ISO code) acquired

Medical Technology & Engineering Plastics segment

medimondi	AG	 Fulda,	DE	 100	%	 11,640,000.00	 EUR	 *16/10/2006

Möller	GmbH	 Fulda,	DE	 100	%	 60,000.00	 EUR	 28/08/2003

Möller	Medical	GmbH	 Fulda,	DE	 100	%	 1,400,000.00	 EUR	 28/08/2003

medimondi	AG	 Dietikon,	CH	 100	%	 100,000.00	 CHF	 06/11/2006

Centroplast	Engineering	Plastics	GmbH	 Marsberg,	DE	 100	%	 250,000.00	 EUR	 01/08/1990

Rolf	Schmidt	Industriplast	A/S	 Kolding,	DK	 100	%	 3,000,000.00	 DKK	 16/03/2001

Centroplast	UK	Ltd.	 Stafford,	UK	 100	%	 100,000.00	 GBP	 03/06/2005

Companies consolidated using the equity method

Bond	Laminates	GmbH	 Brilon,	DE	 24.95	%	 93,800.00	 EUR	 21/11/2000

CENTROSOLAR	Group	AG	 Munich,	D	 26.14	%	 20,333,309.00	 EUR	 12/08/2005

Industrial	Solar	GmbH	 Freiburg,	DE	 38	%	 161,000.00	 EUR	 25/08/2011

Companies recognised as available-for-sale financial assets (non-consolidated companies)**

Wolf	Klimatechnik	S.a.r.l.	 Junglinster,	L	 100	%	 14,874.00	 EUR	 05/10/2006

Elco	Klöckner	Wärme-	und	Solartechnik	GmbH	 Leobersdorf,	A	 100	%	 254,355.00	 EUR	 05/10/2006

Goodison	Thirty	Nine	Ltd.	 Naivasha,	Kenya	 60	%	 100,000.00	 KES	 17/05/2010

CentroGulf	Limited	 Abu	Dhabi,	UAE	 20	%	 500,000.00	 AED	 07/07/2010

Hostro	GmbH	 Wegscheid,	DE	 4	%	 25,000.00	 EUR	 04/07/2010

Malmö	Air	AB	 Malmö,	SE	 100	%	 100,000.00	 SEK	 11/02/2010

Möller	Medical	Spine	AG	i.L.	 Dietikon,	CH	 100	%	 -	 CHF	 12/09/2007

Ned	Air	France	S.A.S.	 Helfrantzkirch,	F	 100	%	 -	 EUR	 12/11/2007

The	shareholders’	equity	and	earnings	of	the	non-fully	consoli-
dated	companies	were	as	follows	at	December	31,	2011:

Non-fully consolidated companies

  Shareholders’ equity Earnings

Wolf	Klimatechnik	S.a.r.l.	 EUR	29	thousand	 EUR	(2)	thousand

Elco	Klöckner	Wärme-	und		
Solartechnik	GmbH	 EUR	(235)	thousand	 EUR	(4)	thousand

Goodison	Thirty	Nine	Ltd.	 -	 -

CentroGulf	Limited	 AED	35	thousand	 AED	(415)	thousand

Hostro	GmbH***	 EUR	(127)	thousand	 EUR	(152)	thousand

Malmö	Air	AB***	 EUR	62	thousand	 -

Möller	Medical	Spine	AG	i.L.	 -	 -

Ned	Air	France	S.A.S.	 -	 -

*	Date	of	creation	by	modifying	conversion
**	Insignificant,	therefore	not	comprehensively	consolidated
***	Acc.	to	previous	year

With	effect	from	August	31,	2011	the	Wolf	Group	acquired	80	%	
of	the	shares	of	Dreyer	&	Bosse	GmbH,	Gorleben.	The	company	
is	correspondingly	allocated	to	the	Climate	Systems	segment	and	
fully	consolidated.

Brink-Innosource	GmbH,	with	its	registered	office	in	Freudenberg,	
was	renamed	Brink	Climate	Systems	Deutschland	GmbH	in	the	
2011	financial	year	and	its	registered	office	transferred	to	Ahaus.

Centroplast	Solar,	which	has	already	been	part	of	the	group	since	
2008,	was	renamed	Ubbink	Deutschland	GmbH.	The	registered	
office	was	in	addition	moved	from	Marsberg	to	Brilon.	Since	the	
second	quarter,	the	company	has	been	consolidated	within	the	
Gas	Flue	Systems	segment	instead	of	the	Medical	Technology	&	
Engineering	Plastics	segment.

With	effect	from	March	7,	2011,	Ubbink	B.V.	acquired	a	60	%	share-
holding	in	Solar23	GmbH,	Ulm,	by	way	of	a	capital	stock	increase	
of	EUR	150	thousand.	The	company	has	been	fully	consolidated	
within	the	Gas	Flue	Systems	segment	since	the	second	quarter.

bricon	ag,	Dietikon,	Switzerland,	was	renamed	Möller	Medical	
Spine	AG	and	deconsolidated	at	the	start	of	November	2011.

In	August	2011,	CENTROTEC	Energy	Solutions	GmbH	acquired	38	%		
of	the	shares	of	Industrial	Solar	GmbH.	The	company	is	reported	
using	the	equity	method,	within	the	Climate	Systems	segment.

Wolf	Sustainable	AG,	Switzerland,	and	OOO	Wolf	Energiesparsys-
teme,	Russia,	were	new	companies	founded	in	the	2011	financial	
year.	These	companies	are	currently	not	operational.	They	are	
fully	consolidated	within	the	Climate	Systems	segment.
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	 Explanatory	notes	on
	 components	of	the	consolidated	
	 financial	statements

0 Business combinations applying
the purchase method

The	following	notes	and	tables	show	the	principal	effects	of	ac-
quisitions	of	assets	on	the	net	worth,	financial	position,	financial	
performance	and	cash	flow	statement.	

Acquisition of Dreyer & Bosse GmbH
The	Wolf	Group,	which	is	part	of	CENTROTEC,	acquired	80	%	of	
the	shares	of	Dreyer	&	Bosse	GmbH,	with	registered	office	in	
Gorleben,	with	effect	from	August	31,	2011.	The	purchase	price	
is	based	on	the	average	earnings	of	recent	years	and	includes	an	
earn-out	component	based	on	its	future	development.	The	rev-
enue	and	earnings	were	consolidated	within	the	Wolf	Group	with	
effect	from	September	1,	upon	acquisition	of	the	majority	interest.	
Dreyer	&	Bosse	specialises	in	the	development,	construction,	
installation	and	maintenance	of	combined	heat	and	power	units	
and	is	among	the	market	leaders	specifically	in	Germany	for	
biogas	systems.	This	means	the	range	of	products	and	services	
available	from	Dreyer	&	Bosse	perfectly	complements	the	existing	
CHP	range	of	the	Wolf	subsidiary	Kuntschar	&	Schlüter,	which	has	
specialised	in	natural-gas	and	sewage-gas	CHPs.	As	well	as	the	
anticipated	synergies	in	procurement,	technology,	service	and	
sales,	the	takeover	of	Dreyer	&	Bosse	gives	CENTROTEC	a	signifi-
cant	position	and	excellent	future	prospects	in	the	rapidly	growing	
biogas	and	co-generation	market.

The	company	has	enjoyed	strong	growth	in	recent	years.	In	the	
financial	year	under	review	a	new	production	hall	was	been	con-
structed,	and	the	new	office	block	was	occupied	last	year.	The	
company’s	targets	for	the	financial	year	under	review	were	com-
fortably	exceeded.	The	planned	targets	for	the	first	four	months	as	
part	of	the	group	were	easily	surpassed,	with	revenue	7	%	ahead	
and	EBIT	EUR	338	thousand	(+11	%)	ahead.	At	December	31,	2011	
the	company	contributed	EUR	21.5	million	to	consolidated	reve-
nue	and	EUR	2.4	million	to	consolidated	earnings.	If	the	company	
had	already	been	part	of	the	group	since	the	start	of	the	year,	the	
contribution	towards	consolidated	revenue	would	have	been	EUR	
35.6	million	and	the	contribution	to	consolidated	earnings	EUR	
2.9	million.

The	acquisition	method	to	be	applied	pursuant	to	IFRS	3	calls	for	a	
purchase	price	allocation	to	be	conducted	in	conjunction	with	the	
preparation	of	an	opening	balance	sheet	for	the	purposes	of	in-
cluding	Dreyer	&	Bosse	GmbH	in	the	Consolidated	Financial	State-
ments	of	the	CENTROTEC	Group.	The	following	tables	show	the	
calculation	of	acquisition	cost	and	goodwill,	as	well	as	the	effects	
of	the	acquisition	on	the	balance	sheet	and	income	statement:

Acquisition costs and goodwill

in EUR ‘000

Total purchase price  19,095

Net assets acquired – 80 %   9,627

Goodwill	-	partial	goodwill	method	80	%	 	 	9,468

J_
Balance sheet items

in EUR ’000 Fair value at Carrying
  time of acquisition amount

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	 1,622	 1,622

Intangible	assets	 10,352	 9

Property,	plant	and	equipment	 3,309	 3,309

Non-current	investments	 23	 23

Inventories	 13,848	 12,649

Receivables	 1,858	 1,858

Current	liabilities	 (14,152)	 (14,152)

Non-current	liabilities	 (4,116)	 (976)

Provisions	 (710)	 (710)

Net assets acquired – 100 % 12,034 3,632

Total purchase price to be paid in cash  
and cash equivalents

in EUR ‘000  9,813

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	acquired	 	 1,622

Cash	outflow	from	asset	deal	 	 (8,191)

EUR	9,813	thousand	of	the	EUR	19,095	thousand	was	already	
paid	in	the	2011	financial	year.	The	balance	of	EUR	9,282	thou-
sand	is	reported	under	other	liabilities.	The	balance	is	due	in	
subsequent	years.	EUR	2,792	thousand	is	payable	in	the	form	of	
fixed,	agreed	instalments.	The	remaining	amount	of	EUR	6,490	
thousand	is	variable	because	its	payment	is	dependent	on	future	
performance.	When	estimating	the	variable	purchase	price,	100	%	
target	attainment	has	been	assumed.

At	the	time	of	acquisition	a	non-controlling	interest	of	EUR	2.4	
million	was	reported.	This	corresponds	to	20	%	of	the	net	assets	
acquired.

New	intangible	assets	(technology)	were	identified	from	the	view-
point	of	the	acquirer	that	had	not	previously	been	recognised	by	
the	acquired	company	as	originally	created	assets	and	were	rec-
ognised	at	fair	value	at	the	date	of	acquisition.	Hidden	reserves	in	
the	area	of	inventories	were	in	addition	identified.	

The	fair	value	of	trade	receivables	and	other	receivables	amounts	
to	EUR	1,858	thousand	and	includes	trade	receivables	with	a	fair	
value	of	EUR	1,303	thousand.	The	gross	amount	of	the	trade	re-
ceivables	due	is	EUR	1,348	thousand,	of	which	EUR	45	thousand	
is	not	expected	to	be	recoverable.
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Acquisition of Solar23 GmbH
The	Ubbink	Group,	which	is	part	of	CENTROTEC,	acquired	60	%	
of	the	shares	of	Solar23	GmbH,	Ulm,	with	effect	from	March	7,	
2011	by	way	of	a	capital	increase	of	EUR	0.9	million.	The	com-
pany’s	strategic	focus	is	on	solar	PV	and	solar	thermal	projects	
on	the	African	continent,	where	Solar23	has	a	network	in	over	20	
countries.	The	company’s	core	skill	is	in	the	area	of	independent	
solar	systems,	with	its	product	range	encompassing	solar	home	
systems,	solar	lighting	systems,	photovoltaic	deep-well	pumps	
for	drinking	water	supply,	power	supply	for	telecommunications	
systems	and	autonomous	and	grid-connected	systems	for	vil-
lage	power	supplies,	as	well	as	solar	power	plants.	On	this	basis,	
Solar23	provides	an	excellent	springboard	from	which	to	tap	into	
the	growth	markets	for	renewable	energy	and	energy-saving	sys-
tems	in	Africa,	through	the	combination	of	German	engineering	
and	efficient,	competitive	local	installation	experts.

Solar23	contributed	EUR	4.6	million	towards	consolidated	
revenue	and	EUR	(76)	thousand	to	consolidated	earnings	at	
December	31,	2011.	If	the	company	had	already	been	part	of	
the	group	since	the	start	of	the	year,	the	contribution	towards	
consolidated	revenue	would	have	been	EUR	5.1	million	and	the	
contribution	to	consolidated	earnings	EUR	(106)	thousand.

The	acquisition	method	to	be	applied	pursuant	to	IFRS	3	calls	for	
a	purchase	price	allocation	to	be	conducted	in	conjunction	with	
the	preparation	of	an	opening	balance	sheet	for	the	purposes	of	
including	Solar23	in	the	Consolidated	Financial	Statements	of	the	
CENTROTEC	Group.	The	following	tables	show	the	calculation	of	
acquisition	cost	and	goodwill,	as	well	as	the	effects	of	the	acquisi-
tion	on	the	balance	sheet	and	income	statement.

Acquisition costs and goodwill

in EUR ‘000 

Total purchase price  900

Net assets acquired – 60%   672

Goodwill	-	partial	goodwill	method	60	%	 	 	228

Balance sheet items

  Fair value at Carrying
in EUR ’000 time of acquisition amount

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	 1,311	 1,311

Intangible	assets	 3	 3

Property,	plant	and	equipment	 143	 143

Non-current	investments	 12	 12

Inventories	 701	 701

Receivables	 574	 574

Other	current	assets	 115	 115

Current	liabilities	 (1,380)	 (1,380)

Non-current	liabilities	 (328)	 (328)

Provisions	 (30)	 (30)

Net assets acquired – 100 % 1,121 1,121

Total purchase price to be paid in cash and cash equivalents

in EUR ‘000  900

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	acquired	 	 1,311

Cash	inflow	from	asset	deal	 	 411

At	the	time	of	acquisition	a	non-controlling	interest	of	EUR	448	
thousand	was	reported.	This	corresponds	to	40	%	of	the	net		
assets	acquired.

No	hidden	reserves	or	liabilities	were	revealed.

The	fair	value	of	trade	receivables	and	other	receivables	amounts	
to	EUR	689	thousand	and	includes	trade	receivables	with	a	fair	
value	of	EUR	574	thousand.	There	are	expected	to	be	no	receiva-
bles	that	are	not	recoverable.

1 Goodwill

The	classification	and	movements	of	goodwill	are	shown	in	the	
following	schedule:

in EUR ’000

2010

Accumulated	cost	Jan	1	 	 63,178

Exchange	differences	 	 160

Additions	 	 0

Disposals	 	 0

Accumulated	cost	Dec	31	 	 63,338

Accumulated	impairment	Jan	1	 	 (2,264)

Exchange	differences	 	 0

Additions	 	 0

Disposals	 	 0

Accumulated	impairment	Dec	31	 	 (2,264)

Net carrying amount 31/12/2009  60,914

Net carrying amount 31/12/2010  61,074
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2011 

Accumulated	cost	Jan	1	 	 63,338

Exchange	differences	 	 32

Additions	 	 9,696

Disposals	 	 (2)

Deconsolidation	 	 (1,063)

Accumulated	cost	Dec	31	 	 72,001

Accumulated	impairment	Jan	1	 	 (2,264)

Exchange	differences	 	 0

Additions	 	 0

Disposals	 	 1

Accumulated	impairment	Dec	31	 	 (2,263)

Net carrying amount 31/12/2010  61,074

Net carrying amount 31/12/2011  69,738

The	goodwill	totalling	EUR	61,074	thousand	reported	at	December	
31,	2010	rose	by	an	amount	of	EUR	8,664	thousand	in	the	2011	
financial	year	to	EUR	69,738	thousand.	This	is	mainly	from	the	
acquisition	of	the	company	Dreyer	&	Bosse	Kraftwerke	GmbH,	
Gorleben.

There	are	four	distinct	cash	generating	units	in	the	CENTROTEC	
Group.	These	four	cash	generating	units	constitute	the	organi-
sational	structure	of	the	group	(management	approach).	The	
impairment	test	was	performed	on	the	basis	of	value	in	use.	The	

calculations	were	based	on	a	cash	flow	oriented	model.	The	cal-
culations	are	based	on	the	approved	plans	for	the	years	2012	to	
2016.	A	perpetual	pension	is	in	addition	calculated	on	the	basis	
of	the	fifth	year	of	the	planning	period.	The	perpetual	pension	was	
assumed	to	have	a	growth	rate	of	1.0	%	(previous	year	1.0	%).	The	
discount	rate	was	formed	from	the	weighted	costs	of	borrowed	
capital	and	equity	capital,	with	the	equity	capital	costs	derived	
using	CAPM.	Depending	on	the	cash	generating	unit,	the	discount	
rate	before	tax	ranges	between	7.03	%	and	8.43	%	(previous	year	
7.97	%	and	8.77	%).	

The	impairment	tests	revealed	no	need	for	impairment	of	goodwill	
in	either	the	2011	financial	year	or	in	the	comparative	period	
2010.

The	following	table	shows	the	distribution	of	goodwill	between	the	
cash	generating	units:

Cash generating unit 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Wolf	Group	 29,256	 19,788

Brink	Group	 24,839	 24,839

Ubbink	Group	 11,339	 11,110

medimondi	Group	 4,304	 5,337

Total 69,738 61,074

The	breakdown	by	operating	segment	is	as	follows:
		

Allocation of goodwill to segments

  Climate Systems Gas Flue Systems Medical Technology Gesamt
    & Enginee ring Plastics

in EUR ’000 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010

euro	countries	 54,095	 44,627	 8,371	 8,142	 2,748	 2,749	 65,214	 55,518

European	non-euro	countries	 -	 -	 2,968	 2,968	 1,556	 2,588	 4,524	 5,556

Total 54,095 44,627 11,339 11,110 4,304 5,337 69,738 61,074
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2 Intangible assets

The	classification	and	movements	of	intangible	assets	are	shown	
in	the	following	schedule:
		

  Industrial  Capitalised Assets Total
  rights and  development in course intangible
in EUR ’000 similar rights Software costs of construction assets

2010     

Accumulated	cost	Jan	1	 17,721	 6,490	 26,692	 4,107	 55,010

Exchange	differences	 4	 9	 102	 0	 115

Additions	 6	 2,446	 2,751	 2,025	 7,228

Reclasses	 385	 1,733	 2,640	 (4,270)	 488

Disposals	 (100)	 (98)	 (937)	 (422)	 (1,557)

Accumulated	cost	Dec	31	 18,016	 10,580	 31,248	 1,440	 61,284

	 	 	 	 	

Accumulated	impairment	Jan	1	 (1,735)	 (4,964)	 (10,769)	 0	 (17,468)

Exchange	differences	 (1)	 (6)	 (20)	 0	 (27)

Additions	 (450)	 (1,364)	 (3,698)	 0	 (5,512)

Reclasses	 (272)	 272	 0	 0	 0

Disposals	 100	 91	 797	 0	 988

Accumulated	impairment	Dec	31	 (2,358)	 (5,971)	 (13,690)	 0	 (22,019)

	 	 	 	 	

Net carrying amount 31/12/2009 15,986 1,526 15,923 4,107 37,542

Net carrying amount 31/12/2010 15,658 4,609 17,558 1,440 39,265

	 	 	 	 	

2011     

Accumulated	cost	Jan	1	 18,016	 10,580	 31,248	 1,440	 61,284

Exchange	differences	 2	 2	 23	 0	 27

Additions	 386	 1,643	 1,865	 2,267	 6,161

Reclasses	 15	 165	 278	 (303)	 155

Disposals	 0	 (22)	 0	 (127)	 (149)

Acquisitions	 5,253	 43	 5,097	 0	 10,393

Deconsolidation	 (27)	 (14)	 (1,009)	 0	 (1,050)

Accumulated	cost	Dec	31	 23,645	 12,397	 37,502	 3,277	 76,821

	 	 	 	 	

Accumulated	impairment	Jan	1	 (2,358)	 (5,971)	 (13,690)	 0	 (22,019)

Exchange	differences	 (1)	 (3)	 (13)	 0	 (17)

Additions	 (574)	 (1,581)	 (4,570)	 0	 (6,725)

Impairment	 (294)	 (13)	 (1,163)	 0	 (1,470)

Reclasses	 0	 0	 0	 0	 0

Disposals	 0	 5	 0	 0	 5

Acquisitions	 (3)	 (34)	 0	 0	 (37)

Deconsolidation	 6	 11	 190	 0	 207

Accumulated	impairment	Dec	31	 (3,224)	 (7,586)	 (19,246)	 0	 (30,056)

	 	 	 	 	

Net carrying amount 31/12/2010 15,658 4,609 17,558 1,440 39,265

Net carrying amount 31/12/2011 20,421 4,811 18,256 3,277 46,765
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EUR	8,065	thousand	of	this	total	(previous	year	EUR	5,158	thou-
sand)	served	as	security	for	bank	loans	at	the	reporting	date.

The	industrial	rights	and	similar	rights	include	the	“Wolf”	brand	
(EUR	11.5	million).	The	Wolf	brand	has	no	specified	useful	life	be-
cause	we	have	secured	the	exclusive	right	to	use	the	“Wolf”	brand	
under	trademark	rights;	its	useful	life	is	therefore	indefinite	from	a	
legal	perspective.	Equally	when	the	economic	perspective	is	taken	
as	the	assessment	basis,	we	are	unable	to	make	any	estimate	of	
how	long	the	company	and	therefore	the	“Wolf”	brand	will	exist.	
As	a	result,	following	an	analysis	of	all	relevant	factors	we	are	
unable	to	state	any	foreseeable	limit	to	the	period	over	which	the	
asset	is	expected	to	generate	net	cash	inflows	for	the	enterprise.	
No	amortisation	takes	place	in	view	of	the	indefinite	useful	life.	
The	Wolf	brand	is	therefore	subjected	to	a	yearly	impairment	test,	
which	has	hitherto	revealed	no	need	for	write-down.	The	param-
eters	used	for	this	correspond	to	the	parameters	for	the	impair-
ment	test	of	goodwill	in	Note	1.	Capitalised	development	costs	

also	include	around	EUR	7.2	million	in	carrying	amounts	from	the	
acquisition	of	Wolf	that	were	capitalised	during	purchase	price	al-
location	and	relate	to	technologies	and	development	projects.

Expenses	for	predominantly	internal	research	and	development	
in	the	financial	year	amounted	to	EUR	6,887	thousand	(previous	
year	EUR	7,275	thousand).	Development	activities	focused	mainly	
on	heating	systems,	plastic	gas	flue	components,	technical	roof	
products,	ventilation,	climate	control	and	solar	systems,	coating	
techniques	and	applications,	medical	technology	equipment,	and	
software	developments.	The	results	of	these	efforts	can	be	used	
for	a	variety	of	customers.	Development	expenditures	amount-
ing	to	EUR	2,011	thousand	(previous	year	EUR	2,751	thousand)	
were	capitalised	in	the	year	under	review,	as	future	benefit	in	the	
form	of	cash	flows	and	additional	profit	from	new	products	can	
be	predicted	with	adequate	certainty.	These	include	development	
projects	approaching	market	readiness.
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3 Property, plant and equipment

The	classification	and	movements	of	property,	plant	and	equip-
ment	are	shown	in	the	following	schedule:
		

   Technical Furniture, Assets Total property,
in EUR ’000 Land and equipment fixtures and in course of plant and
2010 buildings and machinery office equipment construction equipment

Accumulated	cost	Jan	1	 72,996	 70,040	 32,235	 2,681	 177,952

Exchange	differences	 (1)	 95	 158	 0	 252

Additions	 1,069	 2,782	 4,602	 5,912	 14,365

Reclasses	 2,719	 792	 635	 (4,634)	 (488)

Disposals	 0	 (3,593)	 (1,535)	 0	 (5,128)

Accumulated	cost	Dec	31	 76,783	 70,116	 36,095	 3,959	 186,953

	 	 	 	 	

Accumulated	impairment	Jan	1	 (20,880)	 (46,503)	 (19,317)	 0	 (86,700)

Exchange	differences	 (1)	 (54)	 (121)	 0	 (176)

Additions	 (3,293)	 (5,382)	 (4,237)	 0	 (12,912)

Disposals	 0	 3,483	 1,298	 0	 4,781

Accumulated	impairment	Dec	31	 (24,174)	 (48,456)	 (22,377)	 0	 (95,007)

	 	 	 	 	

Net carrying amount 31/12/2009 52,116 23,537 12,918 2,681 91,252

Net carrying amount 31/12/2010 52,609 21,660 13,718 3,959 91,946

	 	 	 	 	

2011     

Accumulated	cost	Jan	1	 76,783	 70,116	 36,095	 3,959	 186,953

Exchange	differences	 (1)	 25	 (13)	 0	 11

Additions	 1,893	 5,179	 3,902	 4,336	 15,310

Reclasses	 3,295	 988	 433	 (4,871)	 (155)

Disposals	 (383)	 (2,864)	 (1,649)	 (142)	 (5,038)

Acquisitions	 2,416	 153	 2,149	 4	 4,722

Deconsolidation	 0	 (24)	 (1,163)	 0	 (1,187)

Accumulated	cost	Dec	31	 84,003	 73,573	 39,754	 3,286	 200,616

	 	 	 	 	

Accumulated	impairment	Jan	1	 (24,174)	 (48,456)	 (22,377)	 0	 (95,007)

Exchange	differences	 (2)	 (21)	 (16)	 0	 (39)

Additions	 (3,681)	 (5,237)	 (4,119)	 0	 (13,037)

Impairment	 0	 (629)	 (297)	 0	 (896)

Reclasses	 (1)	 109	 (108)	 0	 0

Disposals	 203	 2,037	 1,465	 0	 3,705

Acquisitions	 (313)	 (23)	 (932)	 0	 (1,268)

Deconsolidation	 0	 19	 1,087	 0	 1,106

Accumulated	impairment	Dec	31	 (27,968)	 (52,201)	 (25,267)	 0	 (105,436)

	 	 	 	 	

Net carrying amount 31/12/2010 52,609 21,660 13,718 3,959 91,946

Net carrying amount 31/12/2011 56,035 21,372 14,487 3,286 95,180
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Land	and	buildings	comprise	mainly	the	production	and	office	
buildings	in	Brilon	(Germany),	Mainburg	(Germany),	Doesburg	
(Netherlands),	Kampen	(Netherlands),	La	Chapelle	sur	Erdre	
(France),	Fulda	(Germany),	Marsberg	(Germany),	Gorleben		
(Germany)	and	Kolding	(Denmark).

Technical	equipment	and	machinery	at	the	production	plants	was	
extended	and	technologically	upgraded.	Other	furniture,	fixtures	
and	office	equipment	consists	of	various	items	in	production,	
warehouses	and	administration.	The	fixed	assets	include	assets	
to	the	value	of	EUR	1,781	thousand	(previous	year	EUR	325	thou-
sand)	reported	in	the	context	of	finance	leases.	The	bulk	of	these	
comprises	technical	equipment	and	machinery	amounting	to	
EUR	1,747	thousand	(previous	year	EUR	175	thousand)	and	other	
furniture,	fixtures	and	office	equipment	amounting	to	EUR	34	
thousand	(previous	year	EUR	143	thousand).	Software	in	addition	
accounted	for	EUR	0	thousand	(previous	year	EUR	7	thousand).	
Interest	costs	amounting	to	EUR	44	thousand	were	capitalised	in	
the	financial	year.	The	capitalisation	rate	was	4.13	%.	EUR	45,710	
thousand	of	property,	plant	and	equipment	served	as	security	for	
bank	loans	at	the	reporting	date	(previous	year	EUR	63,623	thou-
sand).	There	in	addition	exist	commitments	amounting	to	EUR	197	
thousand	for	property,	plant	and	equipment.

The	assets	in	course	of	construction	at	the	reporting	date	con-
sist	mainly	of	the	new	office	and	production	buildings	of	Möller	
Medical	GmbH	at	Fulda	as	well	as	technical	plant	and	machinery	
supplied	to	the	production	plants	at	the	reporting	date	but	not	yet	
technically	accepted.

Disposals	and	reclasses	of	technical	plant	and	machinery	as	well	
as	other	furniture,	fixtures	and	office	equipment	are	moreover	in	
connection	with	the	commissioning	of	locations	or	plants	or	other	
organisational	measures	carried	out.

4 Investments accounted for using the equity
method, investments and loans originated by
the enterprise

These	assets	comprise	investments	accounted	for	using	the	equity	
method,	other	investments	that	are	not	included	in	consolidation,	
loans	originated	by	the	enterprise,	and	securities.

The	investments	at	year-end	still	show	the	investments	reported	
at	cost	for	the	sake	of	simplicity,	for	reasons	of	non	controlling	
interests.

Associated companies accounted for using  
the equity method

in EUR ’000 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

At	Jan	1	 28,144	 23,699

Share	of	losses	 (19,638)	 0

Share	of	gains	 336	 4,445

Share	of	purchase	 2,616	 0

Close of Dec 31 11,458 28,144

The	fair	value	of	CENTROSOLAR	Group	AG,	which	is	based	on	the	
closing	price	of	EUR	1.30	on	December	31,	2011	and	the	number	
of	shares,	is	EUR	6.9	million.	This	is	below	the	reported	carrying	
amount	of	the	equity	investment	of	EUR	7.4	million.	Following	
testing	for	impairment,	the	investment	in	CENTROSOLAR	Group	
AG	was	already	written	down	by	EUR	15	million.	The	figure	of	EUR	
7.4	million	corresponds	to	the	value	in	use	determined.	No	further	
need	for	write-downs	is	currently	identified.

A	38	%	interest	in	Industrial	Solar	GmbH	was	moreover	acquired	
during	the	financial	year	by	way	of	a	capital	increase.	The	com-
pany,	which	has	arisen	through	a	succession	of	spin-offs	from	
the	Fraunhofer	Institute	for	Solar	Energy	Systems	in	Freiburg,	
possesses	extensive	technological	expertise	in	the	field	of	solar	
process	heat	and	solar	cooling.	The	highly	efficient	Fresnel	collec-
tor	system,	for	applications	in	the	temperature	range	from	130°C	
to	approx.	400°C	and	covering	a	spread	of	thermal	outputs	from	
several	hundred	kW	to	the	double-digit	megawatt	range,	offers	a	
broad	range	of	industrial	applications	for	solar	process	heat	and	
solar	cooling.	Several	successful	projects	were	installed	in	Spain,	
Italy,	Germany,	Tunisia	and	the	United	Arab	Emirates,	and	also,	
most	recently,	as	part	of	a	feasibility	study	on	solar	cooling	for	
the	stadiums	at	the	2022	FIFA	World	Cup	in	Qatar.	The	company,	
which	is	still	in	the	initial	phase,	furthermore	has	a	network	of	
industrial	partners	spanning	various	sectors	and	applications,	
including	several	German	plant	engineering	companies	that	are	
among	the	international	leaders,	with	which	it	is	teaming	up	to	
bring	on	the	technology	through	pilot	projects	and	commercial	
installations.	Industrial	Solar’s	range	of	products	and	services	
therefore	ideally	complements	the	existing	range	of	solar	thermal	
systems	and	classic	heating	and	climate	control	technology	from	
the	CENTROTEC	subsidiary	Wolf.	The	investment	in	Industrial	
Solar	GmbH	gives	CENTROTEC	excellent	access	to	the	relevant	
technology	and	expertise,	as	well	as	to	an	international	research	
network	in	the	worldwide	growth	market	for	solar	process	heat	
and	solar	cooling.	It	also	adds	a	major	component	in	the	area	of	
renewables	to	the	product	portfolio..		
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Companies accounted for using the equity method

 CENTROSOLAR
in TEUR Group AG (consolidated) Bond Laminates GmbH Industrial Solar GmbH

At Dec 31 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010

31/12/2011

Ownership	interest	in	%	 26.14	 26.16	 24.95	 24.95	 38.00	 0%

Fixed	assets	 110,310	 97,250	 4,071	 2,970	 46	 -

Current	assets	 104,972	 87,448	 5,719	 4,436	 2,298	 -

Total	liabilities	 136,085	 89,121	 5,957	 5,075	 310	 -

Revenue	 293,939	 403,446	 16,528	 11,053	 59	 -

Profit/loss	for	the	year	 (16,813)	 15,760	 1,538	 1,307	 (549)	 -

5 Other assets

The	following	table	shows	a	breakdown	of	other	assets.	The	pre-
paid	expenses	largely	comprise	insurance	premiums	and	service	
expenses.

Other assets

in EUR ’000 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Other non-current assets  

	 Derivative	assets	 0	 9

	 Miscellaneous	financial	assets		 206	 215

Other financial assets 206 224

	 Prepaid	expenses	 112	 162

	 Other	assets	 1,044	 1,085

Other assets 1,156 1,247

	 	

Other current assets  

	 Derivative	assets	 0	 60

	 Miscellaneous	financial	assets	 4,156	 4,639

Other financial assets 4,156 4,699

	 Payments	on	account	for	inventories	 135	 1,117

	 Receivables	from	VAT	 2,339	 1,505

	 Prepaid	expenses	 1,916	 1,805

	 Other	assets	 374	 39

Other assets 4,764 4,466

The	miscellaneous	financial	assets	also	include	e.g.	receivables	
from	insurance	and	suppliers	in	respect	of	bonuses.

6 Deferred tax assets and tax liabilities

Pursuant	to	IAS	12	the	deferred	tax	assets	and	deferred	tax	li-
abilities	are	calculated	on	the	temporary	difference	between	the	
stated	amounts	of	assets	and	liabilities	in	the	IFRS	balance	sheet	
and	the	tax	balance	sheet,	and	also	from	tax	loss	carryforwards.	
These	differences	in	the	stated	amounts	result	among	other	
things	from	adjustments	to	stated	amounts	in	the	context	of	busi-
ness	combinations.	The	net	values	shown	represent	the	netted	
values	of	deferred	tax	assets	and	deferred	tax	liabilities	of	a	group	
company	in	respect	of	a	taxation	authority.

The	deferred	tax	assets	result	principally	from	other	provisions	
and	pension	provisions,	and	are	comprised	as	follows:
		

   Gross  After netting

In EUR ’000 31/12/2011 31/12/2010 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Reversal	expected	within	12	months	 4,334	 4,210	 841	 707

Reversal	expected	after	more	than	12	months	 1,413	 2,867	 870	 2,199

Total 5,747 7,077 1,711 2,906
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The	deferred	tax	assets	from	loss	carryforwards	are	comprised	as	
follows:

in EUR ’000 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Loss	carryforwards	 19,638	 21,356

Deferred	tax	assets	from	
loss	carryforwards	 5,457	 5,686

Reductions	for	impairment	 (5,034)	 (3,717)

Deferred tax assets from 
loss carryforwards (net) 423 1,969

Of	the	deferred	tax	assets	on	loss	carryforwards,	EUR	2,781	
thousand	(previous	year:	EUR	2,421	thousand)	relate	to	compa-
nies	which	also	posted	a	loss	in	the	current	year.	The	deferred	
tax	assets	in	question	were	examined	on	the	basis	of	earnings	
forecasts	and	by	means	of	longer-range	plans	in	the	event	of	the	
loss-making	situation	continuing.	

Except	for	an	amount	of	EUR	1,477	thousand,	the	loss	carryfor-
wards	can	be	carried	forward	indefinitely.	Of	the	losses	for	which	
carryforward	is	restricted,	EUR	724	thousand	expire	in	over	five	
years,	EUR	476	thousand	within	five	years,	EUR	36	thousand	
within	four	years	and	EUR	241	thousand	in	up	to	three	years.

The	composition	of	deferred	tax	liabilities	is	as	follows:
		

The	composition	of	deferred	tax	assets	and	deferred	tax	liabilities	
by	balance	sheet	item	is	as	follows:

Deferred tax

in EUR ’000 2011 2010

Deferred tax assets (gross)  

Intangible	assets	 367	 416

Property,	plant	and	equipment	 215	 194

Inventories	 592	 520

Pension	provisions	 1,676	 1,683

Other	provisions	 1,105	 1,130

Other	liabilities	 334	 123

Other	 1,035	 1,042

Tax	loss	carryforwards	 423	 1,969

  5,747 7,077

Deferred tax liabilities (gross)  

Intangible	assets	 11,435	 8,971

Property,	plant	and	equipment	 7,935	 8,317

Inventories	 428	 452

Other	provisions	 11	 99

Other	liabilities	 318	 315

Other	 309	 503

  20,436 18,657

Deferred tax liabilities on temporary differences

   Gross  After netting

In EUR ’000 31/12/2011 31/12/2010 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Reversal	expected	within	12	months	 5,760	 5,506	 2,654	 2,543

Reversal	expected	after	more	than	12	months	 14,676	 13,151	 13,746	 11,942

Total 20,436 18,657 16,400 14,486

Of	the	deferred	tax	assets	and	deferred	tax	liabilities,	EUR	(153)	
thousand	(previous	year	EUR	(123)	thousand	(balance))	were		
netted	directly	with	equity.	Exchange	differences	represent		
EUR	70	thousand	of	this	amount	(previous	year	EUR	(71)	thou-
sand),	and	interest	rate	derivatives	EUR	(222)	thousand	(previous	
year	EUR	(52)).	

Deferred tax balance sheet items

in EUR ’000 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Deferred	tax	assets	 1,711	 2,906

Deferred	tax	liabilities	 (16,400)	 (14,486)

Balance (14,689) (11,580)

of	which:	from	netting	against	
shareholders’	equity	 (388)	 (540)

Development in deferred tax

in EUR ’000 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Recognition	of	deferred	tax	(balance)	 (14,689)	 (11,580)

Difference	year	on	year	 (3,109)	 1,320

of	which:

	 Through	profit	and	loss	 183	 1,443

	 Netted	against	shareholders’	equity	
(incl.	exchange	differences)	 (153)	 (123)

	 Acquisition	(PPA)	not	through	
	 profit	and	loss		 (3,139)	 0
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No	deferred	tax	liabilities	were	recognised	on	temporary	differ-
ences	resulting	from	shares	in	subsidiaries	(outside	basis	differ-
ences)	amounting	to	EUR	5,580	thousand	(previous	year:	EUR	
4,676	thousand),	because	these	differences	will	probably	not	be	
reversed	in	the	foreseeable	future.

7 Inventories

The	first	of	the	following	tables	provides	a	breakdown	of	the	entire	
carrying	amount	of	inventories.	Where	the	cost	price	of	invento-
ries	is	higher	than	their	market	or	fair	value,	the	table	shows	the	
carrying	amount	of	these	inventories	after	reductions	for	impair-
ment.	The	second	table	shows	inventories	according	to	category.

Inventories  

In EUR ’000 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Inventories	at	historical	cost	 37,944	 23,805

Inventories	at	net	realisable	value:	 	

	 Original	value	at	historical	cost	 43,635	 45,710

	 Provision	for	obsolescence	 (6,742)	 (4,994)

	 Carrying	amount	after	depreciation	 36,893	 40,716

Total 74,837 64,521

Inventories by category   

in EUR ’000 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Raw	materials	and	supplies	 27,805	 25,983

Work	in	progress	 17,757	 9,220

Finished	goods	and	merchandise	 29,275	 29,318

Total 74,837 64,521

	 Of	which	serving	as	security	for	
	 loans/credit	lines	 46,269	 41,068

The	reductions	for	impairment	and	reversal	of	reductions	for	im-
pairment	due	to	restricted	realisability	produce	a	net	expense	of	
EUR	1,748	thousand	(previous	year	income	of	EUR	705	thousand)	
in	the	income	statement.

8 Trade receivables

Trade receivables

in EUR ’000 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Receivables	(0<90	days)	 61,779	 56,215

Receivables	overdue	>90<180	days	 1,627	 1,654

Receivables	overdue	>180<360	days	 2,211	 1,337

Receivables	overdue	>360	days	 2,921	 1,522

Receivables	from	equity	investments	 353	 395

Trade receivables prior 
to impairment 68,891 61,123

Reductions	for	impairment	 (5,151)	 (3,494)

Trade receivables 
after impairment 63,740 57,629

Of	which	billed	in	 	

EUR	 55,166	 55,375

USD	 1,195	 963

GBP	 9,549	 1,868

DKK	 761	 928

CHF	 0	 50

PLN	 2,143	 1,817

Other	currencies	 77	 122

Total 68,891 61,123

Of	which	serving	as	security	for	
loans/credit	lines	 24,615	 27,777

Adequate	impairment	for	losses	on	receivables	has	been	applied	
on	a	case	by	case	basis	to	cover	identified	risks.	Where	there	was	
no	objective	evidence	of	impairment	in	individual	cases,	specific	
allowances	for	collectively	assessed	financial	assets	were	formed.	
The	table	shows	the	changes	in	impairment:

in EUR ’000 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Impairment	at	the	start	of	
the	financial	year	 3,494	 2,720

Income-effective	changes	in	impairment	
during	the	period	under	review	 2,263	 1,231

Acquisitions	 45	 0

Derecognition	of	receivables/
deconsolidation	 (377)	 (380)

Payments	received	and	recovery	in	
value	of	receivables	originally	written	off	 (273)	 (114)

Currency	translation	effects	 (1)	 37

Impairment at end of financial year 5,151 3,494
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The	credit	quality	of	financial	assets	that	are	neither	overdue	nor	
impaired	is	determined	on	the	basis	of	past	experience	of	default	
rates	among	our	business	partners.	The	credit	quality	is	therefore	
classified	as	good.

9 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents

in EUR ’000 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Cash	in	hand	 44	 28

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	 48,102	 41,095

Total 48,146 41,123

10 Shareholders’ equity

General
The	issued	capital	of	the	company	amounted	to	EUR	17,291,820	
at	December	31,	2011	(at	December	31,	2010:	EUR	16,961,961).	
It	is	divided	into	17,291,820	no	par	value	shares	with	a	notional	
value	of	EUR	1.00	per	share.	The	capital	stock	is	fully	paid	in.	
With	additional	paid-in	capital	of	EUR	30,866	thousand,	other	
retained	earnings	of	EUR	116,401	thousand	and	a	net	loss	of	EUR	
9,376	thousand,	the	group	had	shareholders’	equity	allocable	to	
the	shareholders	of	CENTROTEC	Sustainable	AG	of	EUR	155,071	
thousand	(previous	year	EUR	161,244	thousand)	at	December	31,	
2011.	Shareholders’	equity	was	reduced	by	the	consolidated	net	
loss	and	the	dividend	of	EUR	0.10	per	share	distributed	in	2011.	
Conversely,	the	issued	capital	and	the	additional	paid-in	capital	
were	increased	by	payments	received	from	the	exercising	of	stock	
options	in	2011.

Development in number of shares

in thousands 2011 2010

Total,	January	1	 16,962	 16,716

Addition	through	the	exercising	of	options	 330	 246

Total, December 31 17,292 16,962

Proposal for the distribution of accumulated profit
According	to	German	commercial	and	stock	corporation	require-
ments,	the	annual	financial	statements	of	the	group	parent	CEN-
TROTEC	Sustainable	AG	constitute	the	basis	for	the	appropriation	
of	profit	for	the	2011	financial	year.	A	distributable	dividend	
therefore	depends,	among	other	things,	on	the	profit	available	
for	distribution	reported	by	that	company	in	the	separate	finan-
cial	statements	at	December	31,	2011.	The	net	loss	for	the	year	
reported	there	is	EUR	706	thousand	and	the	profit	available	for	
distribution	is	EUR	19,948	thousand.	The	Supervisory	Board	and	
Management	Board	of	CENTROTEC	Sustainable	AG	will	propose	
to	the	Shareholders’	Meeting	that	a	dividend	of	EUR	0.10	per	
dividend-bearing	no	par	value	share	be	distributed	for	the	2011	
financial	year.	The	balance	of	the	profit	available	for	distribution	is	
again	to	be	carried	forward	for	new	account.

Treasury stock
A	total	of	12,080	treasury	shares	were	held	at	December	31,	
2011.	These	shares	represent	less	than	0.1	%	of	capital	stock.	
These	shares	were	held	at	the	parent	as	treasury	shares	at	the	
reporting	date	for	the	annual	financial	statements.	No	treasury	
stock	was	acquired	or	sold	during	the	financial	year.

Pursuant	to	the	resolution	of	the	Shareholders’	Meeting	of	May	
20,	2010	the	company	is	authorised	until	May	19,	2015	to	ac-
quire	treasury	stock	which,	together	with	existing	treasury	stock,	
represents	up	to	10	percent	of	the	capital	stock	at	the	time	of	
the	authorisation	taking	effect.	The	price	for	the	acquisition	of	
these	shares	may	not	be	more	than	10	%	higher	or	more	than	
10	%	lower	than	the	closing	price	in	Xetra	trading	on	the	Frank-
furt	Stock	Exchange	(or	in	an	equivalent	successor	system)	for	
shares	of	the	same	class	and	features	on	the	ten	trading	days	
preceding	the	acquisition.	The	Management	Board	is	authorised	
to	offer	all	or	some	of	the	shares	thus	acquired	to	third	parties	
in	(part)	payment	of	the	acquisition	of	companies	or	investments	
in	companies,	excluding	the	shareholders’	right	of	subscription.	
The	Management	Board	is	furthermore	authorised	to	retire	the	
company’s	treasury	stock	without	the	need	for	a	further	resolution	
to	be	adopted	by	the	Shareholders’	Meeting.	Retirement	may	be	
restricted	to	part	of	the	purchased	shares.

Supplementary information on impairment

	 	 Trade receivables	 	 Trade receivables
	 	 prior to	 Reductions for	 after
in EUR ’000	 impairment	 impairment	 impairment

Receivables	(0<90	days)	 61,779	 (1,733)	 60,046

Receivables	overdue	>90<180	days	 1,627	 (876)	 751

Receivables	overdue	>180<360	days	 2,211	 (675)	 1,536

Receivables	overdue	>360	days	 2,921	 (1,867)	 1,054

Receivables	from	equity	investments	 353	 0	 353

Total 68,891 (5,151) 63,740
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Approved capital
Pursuant	to	the	resolution	of	the	Shareholders’	Meeting	on	May	
24,	2007	the	Management	Board	is,	with	the	approval	of	the	
Supervisory	Board,	authorised	to	increase	the	capital	stock	on	
one	or	more	occasions	by	up	to	EUR	8,212,082	(in	words:	eight	
million	two	hundred	and	twelve	thousand	and	eighty	two	euros)	
by	May	23,	2012	in	return	for	cash	and/or	contributions	in	kind	
through	the	issuance	of	new	no	par	value	bearer	shares	(Approved	
Capital).	The	Management	Board	is,	with	the	approval	of	the	Su-
pervisory	Board,	authorised	to	exclude	the	shareholders’	statutory	
subscription	right	in	the	following	instances:
>	For	residual	amounts,
>	If	the	capital	increase	is	for	cash	and	the	issuing	price	of	the	

new	shares	does	not	significantly	undercut	the	market	price	
of	the	shares	of	the	same	class	and	features	already	listed	at	
the	time	when	the	issuing	price	is	finally	fixed	by	the	Manage-
ment	Board,	in	keeping	with	Sections	203	(1)	and	(2),	and	
186	(3),	fourth	sentence	of	German	Stock	Corporation	Law;	
this	authorisation	is	given	with	the	proviso	that	neither	at	the	
time	of	this	authorisation	becoming	effective	nor	at	the	time	
of	exercising	of	this	authorisation	may	the	total	of	ten	percent	
of	the	capital	stock	be	exceeded	by	the	total	(i)	of	the	shares	
which	are	issued	on	the	basis	of	the	aforesaid	authorisation,	
excluding	the	subscription	right,	and	of	the	shares	which	are	
issued	after	this	authorisation	takes	effect	on	the	basis	of	
another	authorisation,	valid	at	the	time	of	this	authorisation	
becoming	effective,	or	a	substitute	authorisation	of	the	former,	
to	utilise	an	amount	of	approved	capital	pursuant	to	Section	
186	(3)	fourth	sentence	of	German	Stock	Corporation	Law,	
excluding	subscription	rights;	(ii)	of	those	shares	which	may	be	
subscribed	to	on	the	basis	of	the	convertible	or	warrant-linked	
bonds	and	which	are	issued	after	this	authorisation	becomes	
effective,	utilising	an	authorisation	resolved	at	the	time	of	this	
authorisation	becoming	effective,	or	a	substitute	authorisation	
of	the	former,	pursuant	to	Section	186	(3)	fourth	sentence	
of	German	Stock	Corporation	Law,	excluding	subscription	
rights;	and	(iii)	of	the	treasury	stock	sold,	insofar	as	that	sale	
after	this	authorisation	becomes	effective,	on	the	basis	of	an	
authorisation	valid	at	the	time	of	this	authorisation	becoming	
effective,	or	a	substitute	authorisation	of	the	former,	is	for	
cash	by	a	means	other	than	via	the	stock	exchange	or	through	
an	offer	to	all	shareholders,	

>	For	capital	increases	for	contributions	in	kind	for	the	granting	
of	shares	for	the	purpose	of	acquiring	(including	indirectly)	
companies,	parts	of	companies	or	investments	in	companies	
or	assets	of	other	companies,

>	For	issuing	to	employees	of	the	company.
The	Management	Board	is	furthermore	authorised,	with	the	ap-
proval	of	the	Supervisory	Board,	to	specify	the	further	details	of	
the	effecting	of	capital	increases	from	approved	capital.

Conditional capital and share-based payments

Conditional Capital I
By	resolution	of	the	Shareholders’	Meeting	of	May	28,	2002	the	
capital	stock	is	conditionally	increased	(Conditional	Capital	I).	
The	Management	Board	was	authorised	to	issue	warrants	for	

subscription	to	new	bearer	shares	in	the	company	until	December	
31,	2004,	on	one	or	more	occasions.	Employees,	managing	direc-
tors	and	Management	Board	members	of	the	company	and	of	its	
affiliated	companies	pursuant	to	Section	17	of	German	Stock	Cor-
poration	Law	are	entitled	to	subscribe.	New	shares	are	created	
where	the	options	are	exercised.	These	pay	dividends	from	the	
beginning	of	the	financial	year	in	which	the	options	are	exercised.	
In	view	of	the	conditions	of	exercise	specified	in	the	shareholders’	
resolution,	stock	options	from	Conditional	Capital	I	may	no	longer	
be	exercised	since	the	end	of	the	2010	financial	year.	Conditional	
Capital	I	therefore	remained	unchanged	at	December	31,	2011	
and	amounts	to	EUR	21,984,	divided	into	21,984	no	par	value	
shares	(previous	year	EUR	21,984,	divided	into	21,984	no	par	
value	shares).

Conditional Capital II
By	resolution	of	the	Shareholders’	Meeting	of	June	1,	2005	the	
capital	stock	is	conditionally	increased	further	(Conditional	Capi-
tal	II).	The	Management	Board	is	authorised	to	issue	warrants	for	
subscription	to	new	bearer	shares	in	the	company	until	December	
31,	2011,	on	one	or	more	occasions.	Employees,	managing	direc-
tors	and	Management	Board	members	of	the	company	and	of	its	
affiliated	companies	pursuant	to	Section	17	of	German	Stock	Cor-
poration	Law	are	entitled	to	subscribe.	New	shares	are	created	
where	the	options	are	exercised.	These	pay	dividends	from	the	
beginning	of	the	financial	year	in	which	the	options	are	exercised.	
Conditional	Capital	II	at	December	31,	2011	amounted	to	EUR	
244,084,	divided	into	244,084	no	par	value	shares	(previous	year	
461,742	EUR,	divided	into	461,742	no	par	value	shares).

Conditional Capital III
By	resolution	of	the	Shareholders’	Meeting	on	May	29,	2008	the	
capital	stock	is	conditionally	increased	by	a	further	EUR	756,000,	
divided	into	756,000	no	par	value	shares	(Conditional	Capital	
III).	The	Management	Board	is	authorised	to	issue	warrants	for	
subscription	to	new	bearer	shares	in	the	company	on	one	or	more	
occasions,	until	December	31,	2014.	Employees	of	CENTROTEC	
Sustainable	AG	as	well	as	employees	of	affiliated	companies	as	
defined	by	Section	17	of	German	Stock	Corporation	Law	are	en-
titled	to	subscribe.	The	managing	directors/Management	Board	
members	of	the	above	companies	are	furthermore	entitled	to	
subscribe.	New	shares	are	created	where	the	options	are	exer-
cised.	These	pay	dividends	from	the	beginning	of	the	financial	
year	in	which	the	options	are	exercised.	Conditional	Capital	III	
at	December	31,	2011	amounted	to	EUR	616,470,	divided	into	
616,470	no	par	value	shares	(previous	year	728,671	EUR,	divided	
into	728,671	no	par	value	shares).

Share-based payment
CENTROTEC	uses	share-based	payment	transactions	counterbal-
anced	by	equity	instruments.	The	share-based	payment	agree-
ments	are	based	on	corresponding	resolutions	by	Shareholders’	
Meetings.	There	accordingly	exists	conditional	capital	totalling	
EUR	860,554	at	the	reporting	date	of	December	31,	2011	(previ-
ous	year	EUR	1,190,413),	divided	into	a	total	of	860,554	(previous	
year	1,190,413)	no	par	value	shares.	The	Management	Board	is	
authorised	to	issue	stock	options	for	subscription	to	new	bearer	
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shares	in	the	company	until	December	31,	2014	(on	one	or	more	
occasions);	the	Supervisory	Board	decides	on	their	granting	to	
Management	Board	members.	Employees,	managing	directors	
and	Management	Board	members	of	the	company	and	of	its	affili-
ated	companies	pursuant	to	Section	17	of	German	Stock	Corpora-
tion	Law	are	entitled	to	subscribe,	on	the	basis	of	individual	stock	
option	agreements.

Granting	of	the	stock	options	is	linked	to	the	fulfilment	of	indi-
vidual	performance	targets.	Employees,	managing	directors	and	
Management	Board	members	must	achieve	individually	agreed	
targets.	Attainment	of	targets	leads	to	the	granting	of	the	stock	
options.	The	vesting	period	until	the	earliest	possible	time	the	
options	may	be	exercised	is	two	years	from	the	date	of	issue	of	
the	option.	This	simultaneously	necessitates	a	two-year	period	of	
service,	so	that	the	option	does	not	lapse.	The	maximum	term	of	
the	options	is	seven	years	from	the	time	of	their	granting.
Exercise	of	options	is	moreover	tied	to	the	fulfilment	of	market	
conditions.	They	may	accordingly	only	be	exercised	if	the	market	
price	on	the	day	on	which	the	options	may	first	be	exercised	or	
at	a	later	time	during	the	term	of	the	options	has	risen	by	30	%	
on	the	exercise	price.	Exercise	is	moreover	permitted	only	during	
certain	periods	of	the	year.	These	exercise	periods	run	from	the	
third	to	the	eighth	stock	market	trading	day	following	the	day	on	
which	annual	and	quarterly	results	are	announced,	and	following	
the	day	on	which	it	is	announced	that	annual	press	conferences	
have	been	held.	New	shares	are	created	at	the	time	an	option	is	
exercised.	The	new	shares	pay	dividends	from	the	beginning	of	
the	financial	year	in	which	the	options	are	exercised.	The	exercise	
price	per	share	(subscription	price)	to	be	paid	upon	exercising	of	
the	options	is	currently	90	%	of	the	average	closing	price	in	Xetra	
trading	on	the	Frankfurt	Stock	Exchange	(or	in	an	equivalent	suc-
cessor	system),	calculated	from	the	prices	on	the	30	trading	days	
–	for	Conditional	Capital	I	–	or	on	the	10	trading	days	–	for	Condi-
tional	Capital	II	and	Conditional	Capital	III	–	preceding	the	day	of	
issue	of	the	option,	but	at	least	one	euro.

The	weighted	average	fair	value	of	the	options	issued	in	2011	is	
EUR	6.41	(previous	year	EUR	3.21).	The	options	were	measured	
with	the	aid	of	a	binominal	model.	The	model	took	the	parameters	
described	below	as	the	basis:

The	issue	date	of	the	2011	tranche	is	January	24,	2011	(2010	
tranche:	January	11,	2007)	and	the	exercise	price	is	EUR	15.80	
(previous	year	EUR	8.50).	As	in	the	previous	year,	no	dividend	is	
expected.	The	risk-free	interest	rate	is	2.86	%	(previous	year	3.08	
%)	and	is	based	on	risk-free	investment	alternatives	in	Germany	of	
a	comparable	term.	The	weighted	average	share	price	of	the	stock	
options	granted	in	the	period	under	review	is	EUR	19.00.	The	nor-
malised	volatility	of	CENTROTEC	shares,	based	on	the	historical	
daily	volatility	of	CENTROTEC	shares,	was	assumed	to	be	33.38	
%	p.a.	for	2011	(previous	year	33.95	%).	Volatility	describes	the	
intensity	of	fluctuation	in	the	share	price	around	its	mean	value	
over	a	fixed	period.	

Levels	of	target	attainment	and	fluctuation	rates	among	option	
holders	were	moreover	taken	into	account	when	determining	
the	underlying	option	totals.	As	soon	as	the	exact	number	of	
vested	options	in	a	tranche	is	determined,	the	anticipated	option	
figures	are	adjusted	to	bring	them	in	line	with	options	that	have	
become	vested.	As	the	consideration	received	is	in	essence	not	
considered	for	purposes	of	recognition	as	assets,	it	is	recognised	
overall	as	an	expense.	A	personnel	expense	amounting	to	EUR	
997	thousand	arose	in	the	2011	financial	year	from	the	stock	op-
tions	schemes	described	here	(previous	year:	EUR	721	thousand).	
A	further	personnel	expense	of	EUR	680	thousand	is	expected	in	
2012	from	the	stock	options	schemes	outstanding	at	December	
31,	2011.	The	weighted	average	share	price	of	the	stock	options	
exercised	in	the	financial	year	is	EUR	20.96	(previous	year	EUR	
15.36).

The	following	table	shows	the	stock	option	tranches	with	the	
number	of	options	that	may	still	be	exercised:
		

Stock option tranches

  Issue Issue Date of Options at Options at 
  date  price** expiry end 2011 end 2010 Changes

Granted	2005	 01/06/2005	 9.75	 31/05/2012	 5,760	 117,414	 (111,654)

Granted	2006	 13/09/2006	 10.50	 12/09/2013	 88,550	 104,946	 (16,396)

Granted	2007	 08/01/2007	 11.00	 07/01/2014	 101,769	 191,377	 (89,608)

Granted	2008	 23/06/2008	 11,60	 22/06/2015	 114,911	 150,377	 (35,466)

Granted	2009	 05/02/2009	 8.20	 04/02/2016	 82,259	 158,994	 (76,735)

Granted	2010	 11/01/2010	 8.40	 10/01/2017	 192,597	 215,000*	 (22,403)

Granted	2011	 24/01/2011	 15.70	 23/01/2018	 231,100*	 0	 231,100

Total    816,946 938,108 (121,162)

*	 Attainment	of	targets	not	yet	established
**	 The	exercise	price	has	correspondingly	fallen	by	EUR	0.10	as	a	result	of	the	dividend	payment	of	EUR	0.10	per	share	in	2011
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The	following	table	indicates	additions	and	disposals	of	options	
outstanding,	together	with	the	average	exercise	prices	of	move-
ments	and	reporting-date	totals:
		

Total options

  2011  2010 
Units/price in EUR Options Avg. exercise price Options Avg. exercise price

Start of year 938,108 9.55 1,024,997 9.13

Granted	 255,000	 15.70	 215,000	 8.50

Exercised	 (329,859)	 10.03	 (245,699)	 6.68

Expired	or	forfeited	 (46,303)	 12.07	 (56,190)	 8.64

End of year 816,946 11.02 938,108 9.55

	 of	which	exercisable	 393,249	 10.46	 564,114	 10.91

Non-controlling interest
This	item	includes	the	shareholders’	equity	attributable	to	the	non	
controlling	interests	of	EUR	2,382	thousand	(previous	year	EUR	
(428)	thousand).

11  Pension provisions

Employees’	entitlements	to	defined	benefit	plans	are	based	on	
statutory	or	contractual	arrangements	and	direct	commitments.	
The	pension	liabilities	in	Germany	stem	to	a	substantial	degree	
from	benefit	obligations	based	on	contractual	arrangements.	
These	constitute	defined	benefit	commitments	by	German	com-
panies,	based	substantially	on	benefit	arrangements	of	the	Essen	
Federation	and	on	guidelines	on	the	granting	of	company	pen-
sions	and	a	defined	benefit	scheme.	The	obligations	comprise	the	
payment	of	retirement	benefits,	payable	upon	reaching	pension-
able	age.	The	level	of	the	payments	depends	in	essence	on	the	
number	of	years’	service	completed	and	the	pensionable	salary	
prior	to	the	start	of	benefit	payments.	The	benefit	obligations	
based	on	these	contractual	arrangements	relate	principally	to	the	
existing	obligations	of	one	domestic	company.	The	plans	based	on	
statutory	arrangements	largely	consist	of	benefit	obligations	for	
a	limited	number	of	management	employees	in	the	Netherlands,	

who	will	receive	life-long	retirement	benefit	payments	from	the	
time	their	employed	relationship	ceases	as	a	result	of	reaching	
pensionable	age.	In	other	countries,	there	exist	commitments	to	
a	minor	extent.

Retirement	benefits	in	Germany	are	financed	exclusively	by	means	
of	pension	provisions.	The	benefit	obligations	in	the	Netherlands	
are	financed	mainly	by	means	of	external	pension	funds.

The	provisions	for	pension	plans	recognised	in	the	balance	sheet	
correspond	to	the	present	value	of	the	share	of	retirement	ben-
efits	earned	at	the	balance	sheet	date,	taking	account	of	future	
increases	(defined	benefit	obligation,	DBO)	less	the	fair	value	at	
the	balance	sheet	date	of	the	external	plan	assets,	after	adjust-
ment	for	accumulated,	unrecognised	actuarial	gains	and	losses	
and	unrecognised	past	service	cost.

The	pension	provisions	were	calculated	using	the	projected	unit	
credit	method	pursuant	to	IAS	19,	which	also	takes	account	of	an-
ticipated	pay	and	retirement	benefit	increases.	The	extent	of	the	
provisions	has	been	calculated	using	actuarial	methods	and	the	
latest	mortality	tables	(Germany:	G.	Heubeck	2005;	Switzerland:	
BVG	2005;	Netherlands:	“Collectief	1993.		
		

Key actuarial assumptions

    2011   2010
in % Germany Switzerland Netherlands Germany Switzerland Netherlands

Pensionable	age	(years)	 63	 -	 65	 63	 65	 65

Discounting	rate	 4.70	 -	 5.10	 5.10	 2.75	 5.10

Assumed	salary	increases	 2.50	 -	 2.00	 2.50	 2.00	 2.00

Assumed	pension	increase	 1.00	 -	 3.00	 1.00	 0.75	 3.00

Employee	turnover	 2.00	 -	 2.97	 2.00	 0.00	 2.97

Expected	return	on	plan	assets	 2.75	 -	 5.10	 2.75	 2.75	 5.10
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Discounting	has	been	based	on	an	interest	rate	in	line	with	a	
matching	average	interest	rate	for	high	quality	corporate	bonds.	
Values	for	statutorily	due	termination	payments	upon	taking	retire-
ment	are	also	included.	

Retirement benefit payments

in EUR ’000 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Fund-financed	obligations	 2,941	 4,069

Fair	value	of	plan	assets	 (2,998)	 (3,994)

Subtotal	 (57)	 75

Present	value	of	non-fund-financed	obligations	 23,257	 20,985

Unrecognised	actuarial	gains*	 285	 1,804

Pension provisions reported 23,485 22,864

*In	the	2011	financial	year	this	includes	the	effect	of	the	upper	limit	of	EUR	30	thousand	
pursuant	to	IAS	19.58B	that	has	not	yet	been	recognised	in	the	balance	sheet.

Development in external plan assets

in EUR ’000 2011 2010

Plan	assets	at	January	1	 3,994	 3,012

Deconsolidation	 (1,020)	 0

Expected	return	on	plan	assets		 7	 145

Actuarial	gains	and	losses	 3	 622

Exchange	differences	 0	 161

Contributions	by	employer	 22	 240

Contributions	by	plan	participants	 0	 68

Payments	made	 (8)	 (254)

Plan assets at December 31 2,998 3,994

The	“expected	return	on	plan	assets”	is	based	on	an	assumed	
long-term	return	of	between	2.75	%	and	5.1	%.	This	takes	account	
of	the	asset	structure,	maturities	and	reinvestment	opportunities	
at	the	balance	sheet	date.

Composition of plan assets

in EUR ’000 at December 31 2011 2010

Equity	instruments	 0	 44

Debt	instruments	 0	 826

Land	and	buildings		 0	 110

Other	plan	assets	 2,998	 3,014

Total plan assets 2,998 3,994

The	total	plan	assets	include	own	financial	instruments	amounting	
to	EUR	293	thousand	(previous	year	EUR	268	thousand).

The	pension	commitments	developed	as	follows:

Development in present value of defined benefit obligation

in EUR ’000 2011 2010

At	start	of	financial	year		 25,054	 22,838

Deconsolidation	 (1,159)	 0

Current	service	cost	 381	 544

Interest	expense	 1,062	 1,183

Contributions	by	plan	participants	 0	 99

Exchange	differences	 0	 179

Actuarial	gains	and	losses	 1,550	 1,027

Payments	made	 (689)	 (816)

At end of the financial year  26,199 25,054

Pension cost 

in EUR ’000 2011 2010

Current	service	cost	 381	 544

Interest	expense	 1,062	 1,183

Expected	return	on	plan	assets	 (7)	 (145)

Actuarial	gains	recognised	in	the	current	year	 (1)	 (12)

Total 1,435 1,570

The	current	service	cost	and	the	actuarial	gains	are	shown	under	
pension	cost,	whereas	the	interest	expense	and	the	expected	
return	on	plan	assets	are	reported	within	net	interest.	The	actual	
return	on	plan	assets	amounted	to	EUR	11	thousand.	For	the	2012	
financial	year,	payments	into	the	plan	of	EUR	114	thousand	and	
from	the	plan	of	EUR	772	thousand	are	expected.	

In	recent	years	the	financing	status,	comprising	the	present	value	
of	all	retirement	benefits	and	the	fair	value	of	the	plan	assets,	has	
changed	as	follows:

Development	in	defined	benefit	obligations	and	plan	assets
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Sensitivity analysis on pension provisions
The	calculations	of	pension	provisions	can	be	influenced	substan-
tially	by	the	discount	rate	applied.	We	have	therefore	in	addition	
calculated	the	pension	provisions	with	a	0.5	%	lower	discounting	
rate.	This	would	therefore	increase	the	carrying	amount	of	the	
defined	benefit	obligations	by	EUR	2,112	thousand.	

Development in defined benefit obligations and plan assets

Dec 31 in EUR ’000 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

Present	value	of	the	defined	benefit	obligation	 26,199	 25,054	 22,838	 19,106	 19,898

Fair	value	of	external	plan	assets	 2,998	 3,994	 3,012	 2,519	 2,251

Financing status 23,201 21,060 19,826 16,587 17,647

Experience	adjustments	to	plan	debts	 (3)	 (89)	 173	 1	 0

Experience	adjustments	to	plan	assets	 0	 3	 3	 0	 0

Provisions

   Claims and Other  
  Warranty and legal personnel- Miscellaneous 
in EUR ’000 obligations proceedings related costs provisions Total

01/01/2011 8,975 1,142 2,090 1,932 14,139

Added	 7,765	 253	 1,550	 1,831	 11,399

Used	 (5,377)	 (74)	 (746)	 (844)	 (7,041)

Reversed	 (412)	 (207)	 (671)	 (392)	 (1,682)

Exchange	differences	 0	 0	 0	 2	 2

Compounding	 138	 0	 0	 0	 138

Acquisitions	 710	 0	 0	 30	 740

Deconsolidation	 0	 (4)	 0	 (122)	 (126)

31/12/2011 11,799 1,110 2,223 2,437 17,569

Of	which	use	expected	<	1	year	 675	 150	 216	 2,035	 3,076

12 Provisions

The	following	table	shows	the	movements	in	provisions	in	the	year	
under	review:
		

A	distinction	between	short-term	and	long-term	provisions	was	
made	on	the	balance	sheet,	based	on	the	estimated	timing	of	
their	use.	The	provisions	for	warranty	obligations	are	calculated	
for	each	type	of	revenue	according	to	values	indicted	by	experi-
ence,	as	well	as	for	specific	individual	cases.	The	warranty	obliga-
tions	were	created	for	general	and	individual	warranty	risks	on	the	
basis	of	various	warranty	factors.	The	warranty	periods	generally	
last	between	2	and	6	years,	possibly	varying	upwards	for	goodwill	
reasons.	The	outflow	of	resources	for	claims	and	court	processes	
is	expected	within	the	next	1	to	3	years.	The	personnel-related	
provisions	largely	relate	to	adjustment	measures	agreed	and	
were	calculated	on	the	basis	of	court	settlement	proposals	or	
settlement	formulas	agreed	with	individuals	or	works	councils.	

The	personnel-related	provisions	moreover	include	provisions	for	
long-service	payments	made	after	employment	by	the	company	
for	a	specified	number	of	years.	Provisions	e.g.	for	impending	
losses	and	agency	commission	outstanding	that	will	largely	be	
used	next	year	are	recognised	as	a	liability	in	the	other	accruals	
and	provisions.	

13 Borrowings

The	following	table	shows	bank	liabilities	and	other	loans,	broken	
down	according	to	real	estate	loans,	general	credit	facilities	and	
other	loans.
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Liabilities maturities schedule

  Total Of which Of which Of which 
  outstanding maturity less maturity maturity more Interest
in EUR ’000 amount than 1 year 1 to 5 years than 5 years rate spread

31/12/2010     

Real	estate	loans	 9,696	 1,025	 3,528	 5,143	 1.8	–	6.1	%		

Other	loans	 85,735	 15,824	 61,131	 8,780	 1.7	–	6.0	%

General	credit	facilities	 16,512	 16,512	 0	 0	 1.7	–	8.5	%

Borrowings excluding leases 111,943 33,361 64,659 13,923 

Finance	leases	 303	 165	 138	 0	

Total 112,246 33,526 64,797 13,923 

	 	 	 	 	

31/12/2011     

Real	estate	loans	 11,842	 1,179	 5,010	 5,653	 2.1	–	5.9	%

Other	loans	 71,766	 17,399	 50,804	 3,563	 0.9	–	5.9	%

General	credit	facilities	 22,616	 22,616	 0	 0	 1.5	–	5.9	%	

Borrowings excluding leases 106,224 41,194 55,814 9,216 

Finance	leases	 2,035	 473	 1,562	 0	

Total 108,259 41,667 57,376 9,216 

Carrying amounts of liabilities denominated in  
the following currencies

in EUR ’000 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

EUR	 105,610	 108,145

DKK	 1,787	 2,414

KES	 572	 0

USD	 189	 112

PLN	 101	 0

CHF	 0	 1,563

SGD	 0	 12

Total  108,259 112,246

In	the	case	of	the	real	estate	loans,	the	fixed	interest	rates	in	the	
individual	loan	agreements	expire	at	various	times	between	2012	
and	2030,	with	the	result	that	the	risk	is	adequately	diversified.	
The	same	applies	to	the	other	loans,	where	the	fixed	interest	rates	
expire	between	2012	and	2020.	The	fair	value	of	the	financial	debt	
that	was	determined	by	discounting	future	cash	flows	is	approx.	
EUR	4.7	million	(previous	year	approx.	EUR	3.1	million)	above	the	
carrying	amounts.	

The	following	tables	indicate	the	level	of	securities	furnished:

Securities for liabilities to credit institutions

in EUR ’000 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Property,	plant	and	equipment	 45,710	 63,623

Intangible	assets	 8,065	 5,158

Inventories	 46,269	 41,068

Receivables	 24,615	 27,777

Other	assets/cash	and	cash	equivalents	 24,209	 25,583

Total 148,868 163,209

  Pledged interest in companies
  Ownership interest

Brink	Climate	Systems	B.V.	 	 100	%

Ned	Air	Holding	B.V.	 	 100	%

Ubbink	UK	Ltd.	 	 100	%

Ubbink	France	S.A.S.	 	 100	%

Ubbink	N.V./	S.A.	 	 100	%

Innosource	Holding	B.V.	 	 100	%

Centrotherm	Systemtechnik	GmbH	 	 90	%

Security	was	furnished	on	the	customary	commercial	terms	for	
lending.
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Finance leases
Leasing	arrangements	are	entered	into	only	to	a	limited	extent.	
The	decision	on	whether	to	finance	an	investment	measure	by	
bank	loan	or	by	lease	agreement	is	reached	on	a	case-by-case	
basis	and	depends	primarily	on	the	prevailing	terms	available	at	
the	time	of	deciding.	The	majority	of	finance	lease	agreements	
pursuant	to	IAS	17	(Finance	Leases)	incorporate	a	purchase	op-
tion	at	a	price	of	either	EUR	nil	or	well	below	the	anticipated	mar-

Finance leases

  Total Of which Of which Of which
  outstanding maturity less maturity maturity more
in EUR ’000 amount than 1 year 1 to 5 years than 5 years

31/12/2010    

Minimum	lease	payments		 322	 171	 151	 0

Of	which	interest	portion	 19	 6	 13	 0

Present values 303 165 138 0

31/12/2011    

Minimum	lease	payments		 2,174	 521	 1,653	 0

Of	which	interest	portion	 139	 48	 91	 0

Present values 2,035 473 1,562 0

ket	value.	It	is	therefore	to	be	expected	that	the	assets	in	question	
will	pass	into	the	ownership	of	the	CENTROTEC	Group	at	the	end	
of	the	lease’s	term.	The	following	table	shows	the	capital	lease	
obligations	with	corresponding	discounted	and	nominal	leas-
ing	instalments	including	the	interest	component,	broken	down	
according	to	term.	The	rise	of	EUR	1.7	million	mainly	relates	to	
investment	in	machinery	at	the	Fulda	and	Doesburg	locations.
		

14 Other liabilities

The	following	table	shows	the	breakdown	line	by	line:	

in EUR ’000 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Other non-current liabilities   

	 Purchase	price	liability	 9,282	 0

	 Derivative	liabilities	 1,922	 2,495

	 Miscellaneous	financial	liabilities	 154	 217

Other financial liabilities 11,358 2,712

	 Miscellaneous	liabilities	 376	 369

Other liabilities 376 369

Other current liabilities 

	 Interest	deferrals	 506	 588

	 Outstanding	invoices	 2,944	 3,000

	 Bonus	payments	to	customers	 4,623	 4,059

	 Credits	outstanding	 627	 759

	 Miscellaneous	financial	liabilities	 2,332	 2,964

Other financial liabilities 11,032 11,370

	 Taxation	and	social	premiums	 3,395	 3,297

	 Vacation	and	overtime	 5,859	 4,592

	 VAT	 2,697	 628

	 Advances	received	 9,064	 944

	 Partial	retirement	 2,704	 1,449

	 Employee	remuneration		 6,285	 7,526

	 Miscellaneous	liabilities	 1,794	 2,392

Other liabilities 31,798 20,828

The	actuarially	determined	obligations	for	partial	retirement	were	
discounted	at	3.80	%	and	recognised	as	a	liability	at	their	present	
value.	The	liabilities,	which	relate	to	current	partial	retirement	
obligations,	were	netted	against	assets	from	securities	amounting	
to	EUR	1,116	thousand	(previous	year	EUR	1,549	thousand).	The	
securities	were	acquired	via	a	trusteeship	in	order	to	fulfil	statu-
tory	requirements	in	respect	of	statutory	insolvency	insurance	for	
partial	retirement	obligations	entered	into.

The	miscellaneous	financial	current	liabilities	include	financial	
derivatives	totalling	EUR	103	thousand.
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15 Supplementary disclosures on
financial instruments

The	following	tables	show	the	carrying	amounts	of	financial	assets	
and	liabilities	according	to	measurement	category,	as	well	as	their	
fair	values:
		

Financial assets and liabilities

 At amortised cost At At fair value Stated Total
  acquisition  amount acc. 
  cost  to IAS 17

      Derivative
      financial
  Liabilities  Available- Available- instruments
  recognised at Loans for-sale for-sale used for
  amortised and financial financial hedging

in EUR ’000 cost receivables instruments instruments purposes

Balance sheet item at December 31, 2010	 Carrying	 Carrying	 Carrying	 Carrying	 Carrying	 Carrying	 Carrying	 Fair
	 	 amount	 amount	 amount	 amount	 amount	 amount	 amount	 value

Loans	originated	by	the	enterprise	 	 79	 	 	 	 	 79	 79

Investments	 	 	 1,075	 	 	 	 1,075	 1,075

Securities	 	 	 	 865	 	 	 865	 865

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	 	 41,123	 	 	 	 	 41,123	 41,123

Trade	receivables	 	 57,629	 	 	 	 	 57,629	 57,629

Derivative	financial	instruments	 	 	 	 	 69	 	 69	 69

Miscellaneous	financial	assets	 	 4,678	 	 	 	 	 4,678	 4,678

Total financial assets, December 31, 2010 0 103,509 1,075 865 69 0 105,518 105,518

Borrowings	excluding	finance	leases	 111,943	 	 	 	 	 	 111,943	 115,091

Finance	leases	 	 	 	 	 	 303	 303	 303

Trade	payables	 32,467	 	 	 	 	 	 32,467	 32,467

Derivative	financial	instruments	 	 	 	 	 2,509	 	 2,509	 2,509

Miscellaneous	financial	liabilities	 13,979	 	 	 	 	 	 13,979	 13,979

Total financial liabilities, December 31, 2010 158,389 0 0 0 2,509 303 161,201 164,349

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Balance	sheet	item	at	December	31,	2011	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Loans	originated	by	the	enterprise	 	 80	 	 	 	 	 80	 80

Investments	 	 	 52	 	 	 	 52	 52

Securities	 	 	 	 1,301	 	 	 1,301	 1,301

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	 	 48,146	 	 	 	 	 48,146	 48,146

Trade	receivables	 	 63,740	 	 	 	 	 63,740	 63,740

Derivative	financial	instruments	 	 	 	 	 	 	 0	 0

Miscellaneous	financial	assets	 	 4,362	 	 	 	 	 4,362	 4,362

Total financial assets, December 31, 2011 0 116,328 52 1,301 0 0 117,681 117,681

Borrowings	excluding	finance	leases	 106,224	 	 	 	 	 	 106,224	 110,894

Finance	leases	 	 	 	 	 	 2,035	 2,035	 2,035

Trade	payables	 41,879	 	 	 	 	 	 41,879	 41,879

Derivative	financial	instruments	 	 	 	 	 2,025	 	 2,025	 2,025

Miscellaneous	financial	liabilities	 20,365	 	 	 	 	 	 20,365	 20,365

Total financial liabilities, December 31, 2011 168,468 0 0 0 2,025 2,035 172,528 177,198
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The	category	of	loans	originated	by	the	enterprise	includes	long-
term	loans	that	are	measured	at	amortised	cost.	The	fair	value	of	
the	loans	corresponds	approximately	to	the	carrying	amount.

Interests	in	companies	not	included	in	consolidation	and	not	
accounted	for	by	the	equity	method	are	summarised	in	the	in-
vestments	category.	These	are	exclusively	non-listed	corporate	
enterprises.	The	investments	are	measured	at	acquisition	cost	as	
no	publicly	listed	market	prices	exist	and	the	fair	value	cannot	be	
reliably	determined	due	to	the	uncertainty	of	future	cash	flows.	
The	fair	value	could	only	be	reliably	determined	through	specific	
sales	negotiations.

The	carrying	amounts	of	the	assets	in	the	securities	category	cor-
respond	to	the	respective	market	prices.

The	assets	in	the	categories	cash	and	cash	equivalents,	trade	
receivables	and	miscellaneous	assets	have	predominantly	short	
maturity	dates,	with	the	result	that	their	carrying	amounts	at	the	
balance	sheet	date	correspond	to	the	fair	values.

The	categories	derivative	assets	and	liabilities	in	hedge	account-
ing	include	exclusively	hedging	instruments	designated	as	cash	
flow	hedges,	which	are	recognised	at	their	fair	value.

The	categories	trade	payables	and	miscellaneous	financial	liabili-
ties	fundamentally	contain	liabilities	with	regularly	short	maturi-
ties.	The	carrying	amounts	therefore	correspond	to	the	fair	values.	

The	categories	borrowings	excluding	finance	leases	and	finance	
lease	liabilities	contain	liabilities	predominantly	with	maturities	of	
more	than	one	year.	The	fair	values	are	determined	by	discounting	
the	cash	flows	associated	with	the	liabilities,	taking	account	of	
the	current	interest	rate	parameters.	The	individual	creditworthi-
ness	ratings	within	the	group	are	taken	into	account	in	the	form	of	
market	creditworthiness	and	liquidity	spreads	when	determining	
the	present	value.

Net gains or losses from financial instruments by 
measurement category
The	following	table	shows	the	net	gains	or	losses	on	financial	in-
struments	taken	into	account	in	the	income	statement,	by	meas-
urement	category.	Interest,	currency	translation,	impairment,	
reversals	and	results	from	disposals	were	taken	into	account	in	
determining	the	net	results.
		

    Financial liabilities Available-for-sale 
   Loans and measured at financial 
in EUR ’000  receivables amortised cost instruments Total

2010	 	 593	 (8,123)	 0	 (7,530)

2011	 	 (1,662)	 (7,465)	 0	 (9,127)

Derivative financial instruments
The	group	uses	derivative	financial	instruments	such	as	inter-
est	rate	swaps	and	caps	for	hedging	interest	rate	risks.	Forward	
contracts	to	hedge	against	exchange	rate	fluctuation	were	also	

  2011 2010
Financial derivatives Contract volume Total assets Total liabilities Total assets Total liabilities

Interest	rate	swaps		 45,314	 0	 1,927	 0	 2,426

Caps		 10,000	 0	 0	 9	 0

Floors		 0	 0	 0	 0	 14

Collars	 1,800	 0	 39	 0	 69

Forward	contracts	 2,473	 0	 59	 60	 0

Total 59,587 0 2,025 69 2,509

of	which	short-term	 	 0	 103	 60	 14

concluded	in	the	period	under	review.	They	comprise	cash	flow	
hedges.	The	following	table	shows	the	contracts	concluded.	
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The	full	fair	value	of	a	derivative	hedging	instrument	is	classified	
as	a	non-current	asset/liability	provided	its	maturity	exceeds		
12	months;	it	is	otherwise	classified	as	a	current	asset/liability.

The	ineffective	portion	of	cash	flow	hedges	recognised	in	the	
income	statement		amounts	to	EUR	280	thousand	(previous	year	
EUR	88	thousand).	During	2011,	net	unrealised	losses	from	the	
measurement	of	derivatives	amounting	to	EUR	797	thousand	(pre-
vious	year	EUR	171	thousand)	were	measured	income-neutrally	
within	equity.	EUR	287	thousand	was	reclassified	from	other	com-
prehensive	income	to	the	income	statement.

Interest rate hedging instruments
At	December	31,	2011	the	fixed	interest	rates	for	interest	rate	
swaps	varied	between	1.86	and	4.40	%	(previous	year	1.86	and	
4.40	%),	the	cap	was	4.25	%	(previous	year	4.25	to	5.00	%)	and	
the	interest	rate	for	the	collar	was	3.25	%	(previous	year	3.25	%).	
The	gains	and	losses	from	interest	rate	hedging	instruments	rec-
ognised	within	equity	(reserve	for	cash	flow	hedges)	are	continu-
ally	recognised	through	profit	and	loss	until	the	bank	loans	have	
been	repaid	(Note	13).

Forward contracts
Hedged	foreign-currency	transactions	with	a	high	probability	of	
occurrence	are	expected	to	occur	at	various	points	within	the	next	
twelve	months.	Gains	and	losses	on	future	contracts	in	foreign	
currency	at	December	31,	2011	that	are	recognised	in	the	hedg-
ing	reserve	within	equity	are	recognised	in	the	income	statement		
in	the	period	in	which	the	hedged,	planned	transaction	has	an	ef-
fect	on	the	income	statement	.	This	normally	occurs	in	the	twelve	
months	following	the	balance	sheet	date.

16 Other income 

The	breakdown	of	other	income	is	as	follows:

in EUR ’000 2011 2010

Reversal	of	provisions	 2,254	 629

Costs	passed	on/costs	refunded	 1,170	 1,099

Government	grants	 1,058	 1,012

Liquidation/reversal	of	reductions	for		
impairment	on	receivables	 322	 220

Foreign	exchange	gains	 214	 716

Insurance	and	other	compensation	 214	 256

Sales	proceeds	from	the	disposal	of	fixed	assets	 119	 118

Other	 4,293	 3,550

Total 9,644 7,600

The	compensation	comprises	payments	from	insurers	and	other	
compensation	received	or	claimed.

Government grants

in EUR ’000 2011 2010

Personnel-related	 711	 820

Other	 347	 192

Total  1,058 1,012

The	government	grants	consist	mainly	of	reimbursements	from	
the	Federal	Employment	Agency	for	employees	in	partial	retire-
ment.	Conditions	that	were	attached	to	these	payments	have	
been	fulfilled	at	the	balance	sheet	date.

17 Cost of purchased materials and services as
well as change in inventories

Cost of purchased materials

in EUR ’000 2011 2010

Cost	of	purchased	materials	 264,296	 227,696

Cost	of	purchased	services	 8,914	 8,838

Supplier	discounts	 (871)	 (867)

Total 272,339 235,667

Change	in	inventories	of	finished	goods		
and	work	in	progress	 1,811	 (4,674)

Adjusted	cost	of	purchased	materials	 274,150	 230,993

As	well	as	the	cost	of	purchased	materials,	the	change	in	invento-
ries	includes	personnel	expense	and	other	expense	components.	
However,	the	cost	of	purchased	materials	component	is	generally	
the	largest	single	item.

18 Personnel expenses and total employees

Personnel expenses

in EUR ’000 2011 2010

Wages	and	salaries	 117,062	 107,798

Social	insurance		 12,873	 11,969

Expenses	for	defined	benefit	plans	 380	 532

Expenses	for	defined	contribution	plans	 10,566	 9,809

Share-based	payment	 997	 721

Total  141,878 130,829

of	which	 	

Personnel	expenses	ratio	 26.4	%	 27.3	%
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Total employees

   2011  2010 
   Average At reporting date Average At reporting date

Individuals	 2,936	 3,015	 2,781	 2,781

FTE	(taking	account	of	short-time)	 2,819	 2,906	 2,662	 2,663

of	which	office	staff	 1,481	 1,522	 1,392	 1,326

of	which	industrial	workers	 1,338	 1,384	 1,270	 1,337

19 Other expenses

Other	expenses	rose	by	EUR	13.9	million	in	the	2011	financial	
year,	from	EUR	73.9	million	to	EUR	87.8	million.

Other	expenses	are	broken	down	as	follows:

Other expenses

in EUR ’000 2011 2010

Outward	freight	 14,539	 14,621

Travel	expenses	and	fleet	 11,510	 9,949

Promotional	costs	 9,803	 8,351

Guarantee	expenses	 6,819	 4,383

Energy	 4,385	 4,107

Maintenance	costs	 4,026	 3,933

Legal	and	consultancy	costs	 3,783	 2,550

Sales	commissions	 3,180	 2,702

Rent	for	buildings	 3,021	 2,892

Other	personnel	expenses	 2,617	 2,111

IT	expenses	 2,528	 2,146

General	running	costs	 1,960	 1,738

Bad	debt	losses	and	impairment	 1,921	 1,150

Communication	 1,534	 1,460

Insurance	 1,508	 1,416

Deconsolidation	expense	 1,304	 0

Depreciation	of	investments	 1,210	 0

Other	administrative	costs	 1,050	 1,065

Other	taxes	 819	 743

Leasing/other	rent	 618	 624

Exchange	rate	losses	 593	 86

Research	and	development	expenditure	 561	 353

Packaging	 500	 237

Patent	protection	 452	 328

Building	services	 449	 304

Membership	fees	(e.g.	Chamber	of	Commerce)	 402	 309

Waste	disposal	 326	 318

Losses	from	the	disposal	of	assets	 316	 231

Investor	relations	 204	 246

Other	 5,905	 5,543

Total 87,843 73,896

20 Interest income and expense

Interest	income	and	expense	is	broken	down	as	follows:

in EUR ’000 2011 2010

Interest	income	 289	 276

Interest	expense	on	loans	 (4,830)	 (4,673)

Other	interest	expense	 (1,331)	 (1,508)

Total (5,872) (5,905)

of	which

Retirement	benefit	obligations		 1,055	 1,038

The	total	interest	income	and	total	interest	expense	for	financial	
assets	and	financial	liabilities	that	are	not	measured	at	fair	value	
through	profit	or	loss	amount	to	EUR	(4,588)	thousand	(previous	
year	EUR	(4,464)	thousand).

21 Income tax

Income	tax	is	composed	as	follows:

in EUR ’000 2011 2010

Actual	income	tax	expense	for	the		
current	financial	year	 9,497	 10,254

Actual	income	tax	expense	for		
previous	financial	years	 (317)	 158

Deferred	tax	for	the	current	financial	year		
(previous	year:	including	prior	periods)	 (535)	 (1,443)

Deferred	tax	for	prior	periods	 352	 n.a.

Total 8,997 8,969

Deferred	tax	income	developed	as	follows:

in EUR ’000 2011 2010

From	temporary	differences	 1,729	 (1,378)

From	loss	carryforwards	 (1,546)	 (65)

Deferred tax income 183 (1,443)

The	relationship	between	actual	tax	expense	and	anticipated	tax	
expense	is	as	follows:
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Reconcilation of actual expense with anticipated  
tax expense

in EUR ’000  2011 2010

Result	before	income	taxes	(EBT)	 (404)	 34,541

Less	result	from	investments	recognised		
using	the	equity	method	 19,302	 (4,445)

Adjusted	result	before	income	taxes	 18,898	 30,096

Anticipated tax expense  
(on	basis	of	respective	company	tax	rates)	 (5,306) (8,725)

Anticipated	tax	rate:	28.1	%		
(previous	year:	29.0	%)	 	

Adjustments to anticipated tax expense  

Effect	of	non-deductible	expenses	and		
tax-exempt	income	 (836)	 (528)

Tax	effects	from	loss	carryforwards	 (2,619)	 (199)

Effect	from	changes	in	tax	rates	 (45)	 (112)

Adjustments	for	earlier	financial	years		
(actual	income	tax	expense	and	deferred	tax)	 (191)	 595

Tax expense according to  
income statement (8,997) (8,969)

Effective	tax	rate	(in	%)	 47.6	 29.8

The	effective	tax	rate	has	risen	from	29.8	%	for	the	prior-year		
period	to	47.6	%	for	the	period	under	review.	This	is	substantially	
the	result	of	the	deconsolidation	of	one	subsidiary	(EUR	0.9	
million).	In	connection	with	that	move,	additional	deferred	tax	
assets	on	loss	carryforwards	amounting	to	EUR	0.6	million	were	
reversed.	The	effective	tax	rate	was	also	increased	by	the	impair-
ment	of	deferred	taxes	on	loss	carryforwards	by	EUR	0.4	million	
for	one	British	subsidiary,	because	they	are	no	longer	likely	to	be	
utilised.	The	same	applies	to	one	German	company	–	EUR	0.2		
million	–	and	one	Spanish	company	–	EUR	0.2	million.

22 Non-controlling interest

A	share	of	gains	and	losses	is	due	to	the	other	shareholders	of	
CENTROTEC,	as	stated	separately	under	non-controlling	interests.	
The	net	loss	shares	amount	to	EUR	25	thousand	at	the	reporting	
date	(previous	year	net	loss	share	EUR	176	thousand).	These	com-
prise	profit	shares	amounting	to	EUR	329	thousand	(previous	year	
EUR	1	thousand)	and	loss	shares	amounting	to	EUR	354	thousand	
(previous	year	EUR	177	thousand).

23 Earnings per share

The	earnings	per	share	(basic)	and	the	diluted	earnings	per	share	
are	illustrated	in	the	following	table.	The	basic	earnings	per	share	
are	calculated	on	the	basis	of	the	profit	or	loss	for	the	period	at-
tributable	to	the	shareholders	of	CENTROTEC	Sustainable	AG	in	
relation	to	the	weighted	number	of	shares	issued	throughout	the	
year,	less	treasury	stock	(12,080	shares).	

Basic earnings per share

  31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Consolidated	net	income	(net	loss)	of		
shareholders	in	EUR	’000	 (9,376)	 25,748

Weighted	average	ordinary	shares		
issued,	’000	 17,164	 16,750

Basic earnings per share in EUR (0.55) 1.54

The	diluted	figure	includes	potential	shares	from	stock	options	in	
the	number	of	shares	to	be	taken	into	account,	over	and	above	
the	number	of	shares	in	the	basic	figure.	The	diluted	earnings	per	
share	are	based	on	the	assumption	that	all	stock	options	granted	
through	stock	option	schemes	that	could	be	exercised	if	the	bal-
ance	sheet	date	were	the	end	of	the	contingency	period	had	actu-
ally	been	exercised.	Due	to	the	fact	that	the	exercising	of	stock	
options	is	tied	to	the	fulfilment	of	individual	and	corporate	targets,	
it	is	expected	that	only	a	smaller	number	of	options	than	the	
maximum	number	granted	will	be	exercised.	The	dilutive	effect	is	
calculated	on	the	assumption	that	the	issue	of	shares	on	the	basis	
of	potential	exercise	of	options	is	made	at	fair	value,	being	the	av-
erage	quoted	price	of	the	shares	during	the	financial	year	in	ques-
tion.	The	number	of	dilutive	options	thus	determined	is	treated	as	
an	issue	of	ordinary	shares	for	no	consideration.	Such	ordinary	
shares	generate	no	proceeds	and	have	no	effect	on	the	net	profit	
attributable	to	ordinary	shares	outstanding.	Such	shares	are	dilu-
tive	and	are	consequently	added	to	the	number	of	ordinary	shares	
outstanding	in	the	computation	of	diluted	earnings	per	share.	

Diluted earnings per share

  31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Consolidated	net	income	(net	loss)	of		
shareholders	in	EUR	’000	 (9,376)	 25,748

Weighted	average	ordinary	shares		
issued,	’000	 17,164	 16,750

Assumed	exercise	of	stock	options	granted		
(weighted	average),	’000	 246	 236

Weighted	average	diluted	ordinary	shares		
issued,	’000	 17,410	 16,986

Diluted earnings per share in EUR (0.54) 1.52

24 Segment report and revenues

The	CENTROTEC	Group	has	identified	three	reportable	segments,	
which	are	organised	and	run	largely	independently	in	accordance	
with	the	type	of	products	and	services	they	offer:	Climate	Sys-
tems,	Gas	Flue	Systems,	and	Medical	Technology	&	Engineering	
Plastics.	The	three	segments	are	distinguished	essentially	by	their	
product	ranges.	The	Climate	Systems	segment	encompasses	
extensive	products	portfolios	of	equipment	for	heating,	ventilation	
and	cooling	in	order	to	maintain	a	healthy	home	climate	in		
every	interior.	One	particular	focal	area	is	integrated	systems	in-
corporating	solutions	that	use	renewable	energies.	The	Gas		
Flue	Systems	segment	manufactures	and	sells	plastic	and	metal	
gas	flue	systems.	The	product	range	is	rounded	off	by	almost	
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1,000	components	for	gas	flue	systems	engineering	and	innova-
tive	roof	products.	Finally,	the	smallest	segment	Medical	Tech-	
nology	&	Engineering	Plastics	develops	and	sells	its	own	and	OEM	
products	from	the	sphere	of	medical	technology	systems	and	
comprehensive	solutions,	spinal	implants	and	semi-finished	prod-
ucts,	prefabricated	parts	and	assemblies	made	from	engineering	
plastics	for	medical	technology	and	plant	engineering,	all	from	a	
single	source.	One	Management	Board	member	is	responsible	for	
each	segment.	Dr	Huisman	is	responsible	for	Climate	Systems	
and	Gas	Flue	Systems,	and	Dr	Traxler	for	Medical	Technology	&	
Engineering	Plastics.	The	subsidiaries	are	allocated	to	one	of	the	
three	segments	in	line	with	their	product	range	and	the	manage-
ment	responsible	for	them,	and	consolidated	accordingly.	Details	
of	which	fully	consolidated	companies	in	the	Consolidated	Finan-
cial	Statements	are	allocated	to	which	individual	segments	are	
indicated	in	the	presentation	of	the	consolidated	companies.

The	revenues	relate	principally	to	deliveries	of	goods.	They	are	
reported	net	of	VAT,	returns,	discounts	and	price	reductions.	
The	“Gas	Flue	Systems”	segment	also	includes	the	figures	for	
CENTROTEC	Sustainable	AG.	Inter-segmental	business	is	priced	
according	to	the	arm’s	length	principle.	Pricing	is	comparable	
to	third	party	transactions	less	cost	items	(in	particular	distribu-
tion	costs),	which	do	not	occur	in	inter-segmental	transactions.	
Income	and	expenditure	are	allocated	directly	to	the	individual	
companies	within	the	individual	segments.	The	segment	expenses	
and	income	also	include	allocations	of	expenses	for	the	holding	
company.

Inter-segmental	relationships,	i.e.	relationships	and	transactions	
between	the	individual	segments,	are	eliminated	from	the	con-
solidation	column.	This	simultaneously	reconciles	the	figures	with	
those	in	the	Consolidated	Financial	Statements.

The	depreciation	and	amortisation	for	the	segments	represent	the	
loss	of	value	by	the	segments’	long-term	assets,	the	investments,	
and	the	respective	additions	to	the	fixed	assets	and	intangible	as-
sets	for	the	segments.

The	segment	assets	include	the	fixed	assets	and	current	assets	
for	each	segment.	Entitlements	to	income	tax	rebates	and	de-
ferred	tax	assets	capitalised	are	not	included.	

Reconciliation of assets

in EUR ’000 2011 2010

Total	assets		 408,688	 366,194

Associated	companies	accounted	for	using		
the	equity	method		 11,458	 28,144

Loans	originated	by	the	enterprise		
and	investments	 1,433	 2,019

Entitlements	to	income	tax	rebates	 4,111	 3,204

Total (ASSETS):  425,690 399,561

The	segment	liabilities	include	the	operating	liabilities	and	provi-
sions	for	each	segment.	Income	tax	liabilities,	deferred	tax	liabili-
ties	and	financial	debt	are	not	included.

Reconciliation of liabilities

in EUR ’000 2011 2010

Total	liabilities	 137,497	 104,749

Borrowings	 108,259	 112,246

Income	taxes	payable	 22,481	 21,750

Shareholders’	equity	 157,453	 160,816

Total (EQUITY AND LIABILITIES): 425,690 399,561
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25 Cash flow statement

The	Consolidated	Cash	Flow	Statement	shows	how	the	group’s	
cash	and	cash	equivalents	changed	in	the	course	of	the	financial	
year	under	review	as	a	result	of	cash	inflows	and	outflows.	A	
distinction	is	made	between	cash	flows	from	operating	activities	
on	the	one	hand	and	cash	flows	from	investing	and	financing	
activities	on	the	other.	The	cash	flows	from	operating	activities	
are	determined	according	to	the	indirect	method,	by	adjusting	the	
earnings	before	interest	and	taxes	for	non-cash	items,	changes	
in	working	capital	(receivables	and	other	assets,	inventories	and	
liabilities)	and	all	changes	that	are	allocable	to	investing	and	
financing	activities	to	produce	the	cash	flow	from	operating	activi-
ties.	By	contrast,	the	interest	result	and	the	income	taxes	paid	
are	based	on	actual	cash	flows.	The	financial	resources	consist	
almost	exclusively	of	demand	deposits	and	the	availment	of	cur-
rent	accounts	with	commercial	banks.	The	financial	resources	are	
composed	as	follows:

Breakdown of financial resources

in EUR ’000 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

Cash	in	hand	 44	 28

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	 48,102	 41,095

Bank	overdrafts	 (22,616)	 (16,512)

(included	in	“Short-term	borrowings”	item)	 	

Total 25,530 24,611

The	cash	flow	from	operating	activities	showed	a	year-on-year		
rise	of	EUR	6,003	thousand	in	2011,	reaching	EUR	41.8	million	
(previous	year	EUR	35.8	million).	This	improvement	is	mainly	
thanks	to	the	progress	achieved	in	optimising	internal	processes	
and	the	resulting	reduction	in	net	working	capital.	The	cash	flow	

from	investing	activities	amounted	to	EUR	-28.9	million	in	2011,	
compared	with	EUR	-22.1	million	in	the	previous	year.	The	cash	
flow	from	financing	activities	amounted	to	EUR	-12.0	million	
as	a	result	of	the	further	increase	in	net	repayments	(previous	
year	EUR	-8.7	million).	In	total,	financial	resources	in	2011	thus	
amounted	to	EUR	25.5	million	at	the	end	of	the	period	(previous	
year	EUR	24.6	million).

Financing streams 

in EUR ’000 2011 2010

Financial	resources	raised	 4,193	 4,772

Financial	resources	repaid	 (17,842)	 (15,067)

Change in borrowings (13,649) (10,295)

Cash inflow from asset disposals

in EUR ’000 2011 2010

Net	residual	carrying	amounts	 1,639	 902

Gain/loss	on	asset	disposals	 (197)	 (113)

Proceeds from asset disposals 1,442 789

Short-term	credit	facilities	to	secure	constant	liquidity	have	been	
arranged	with	several	credit	institutions	that	are	independent	of	
each	other.	At	the	balance	sheet	date,	the	available	borrowing	
facilities	from	current	account,	guarantee/surety	or	discount	lines	
and	from	a	free	credit	facility	included	amounts	to	EUR	27.5	mil-
lion	(previous	year	EUR	28.3	million).

Substantial	non-cash	transactions	result	from	the	change	in		
deferred	taxes	and	the	issuance	of	stock	options.	
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K_	 Other	particulars

1_Contingent liabilities and miscellaneous  
    particulars 

The	customary	warranty	obligations	are	assumed,	for	which	provi-
sions	have	been	formed	where	claims	are	probable.	In	the	context	
of	its	ordinary	business	activities,	the	company	moreover	regularly	
enters	into	contingent	liabilities	from	guarantees,	cheques	and	
bills	of	exchange,	among	other	things.	Furthermore,	contingent	
liabilities	may	arise	from	areas	of	the	group	in	which	there	exist	
statutory	arrangements	on	partial	retirement	but	for	which	no	
provisions	have	been	recognised,	as	it	is	unlikely	that	employees	
in	those	areas	will	call	upon	the	existing	statutory	arrangements.	

Provisions	were	formed	for	areas	in	which	the	probability	of	use	is	
greater	than	50	%.	

Overall,	it	is	assumed	that	over	and	above	the	situations	described	
here,	no	substantial	liabilities	arose	as	a	result	of	the	contingent	
liabilities	during	the	audit	period,	or	only	to	the	extent	evident	in	
these	Notes.

The	following	table	shows	the	non-capitalised	operational	leasing	
obligations	at	the	balance	sheet	date,	with	the	corresponding	lease	
instalments	broken	down	by	maturity	or	minimum	remaining	term.	
		

Operational leasing

    Of which maturity Of which maturity Of which maturity
in EUR ’000  Total less than 1 year 1 to 5 years over 5 years

31/12/2010

Minimum	lease	payments		 	 7,930	 2,237	 4,946	 747

Of	which	interest	portion	 	 909	 104	 388	 417

Present values  7,021 2,133 4,558 330

31/12/2011    

Minimum	lease	payments		 	 9,269	 2,455	 5,843	 971

Of	which	interest	portion	 	 1,030	 78	 701	 251

Present values  8,239 2,377 5,142 720

The	operating	leases	result	mainly	from	lease	arrangements	with	
a	term	of	between	one	and	five	years	for	passenger	cars	that	are	
used	principally	by	our	field	service	employees.	We	in	addition	
have	tenancy	agreements	for	buildings	in	Mainburg	and	Staphorst.	
No	purchase	option	exists.

2_Significant events occurring after the balance  
     sheet date

No	further	significant	events	have	occurred	at	and	after	the	
balance	sheet	date,	or	only	to	the	extent	that	they	are	already	
represented	as	such	or	evident	from	the	remarks	in	the	group	
management	report.

3_Related party disclosures

Parties	are	considered	to	be	related	if	one	party	has	the	ability	
to	control	the	other	party	or	exercise	significant	influence	over	
the	other	party’s	financial	and	operating	decisions.	Pursuant	to	
IAS	24,	the	members	of	the	Management	Board	and	Supervisory	
Board,	close	members	of	their	families	as	well	as	subsidiaries	
that	are	not	fully	consolidated	and	equity	investments	can	fun-
damentally	be	considered	to	be	related	parties	in	the	case	of	the	
CENTROTEC	Group.	Related	parties	were	not	involved	in	any	large,	
atypical	or	unusual	transactions	of	the	CENTROTEC	Group.

Legal transactions with Management Board members and 
Supervisory Board members
In	the	event	of	work	remunerated	separately,	the	Supervisory	
Board	regularly	checks	that	services	rendered	on	an	ad	hoc	basis	
by	Supervisory	Board	members	involve	substantially	more	than	
that	which	can	normally	be	expected	from	a	Supervisory	Board	
member	within	the	context	of	their	Supervisory	Board	duties.

The	Chairman	of	the	Supervisory	Board	(Guido	A.	Krass)	holds	a	
participating	interest	in	Pari	Holding	GmbH,	Munich	(“PH”).	PH	
might	therefore	be	classified	as	a	“related	party”,	even	though	the	
Management	Board	does	not	believe	that	control	actually	exists	
between	the	parties.	Other	companies	of	the	Pari	Group	could	
likewise	be	classified	as	“related	parties”,	for	example	Pari	Capital	
AG.	Costs	of	EUR	116	thousand	(previous	year	EUR	31	thousand)	
for	consultancy	services	were	incurred	in	the	financial	year.	Mr	
Krass	received	remuneration	of	EUR	40	thousand	(previous	year	
EUR	25	thousand)	as	a	member	of	the	Supervisory	Board	of		
CENTROSOLAR	Group	AG.

Dr	Heiss	is	also	a	member	of	the	Supervisory	Board	of		
CENTROSOLAR	Group	AG	and	has	concluded	a	consultancy	
agreement	with	it.	The	framework	consultancy	agreement	envis-
ages	ad	hoc	consultancy	by	Dr	Heiss	on	legal	questions	arising	
in	the	course	of	business	operations,	as	well	as	on	special	ques-
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tions.	An	appropriate	remuneration	per	hour	of	his	services,	plus	
statutory	VAT,	is	to	be	paid	as	consideration.	As	in	the	previous	
year,	Dr	Heiss	did	not	charge	any	fees	for	legal	consultancy	in		
the	financial	year.	As	a	member	of	the	Supervisory	Board	of		
CENTROSOLAR	Group	AG,	Dr	Heiss	received	remuneration	of		
EUR	30	thousand	(previous	year	EUR	24	thousand).	

Legal transactions with the CENTROSOLAR Group
The	CENTROSOLAR	Group	supplied	Ubbink	B.V.	and	its	subsidiar-
ies	with	solar	modules/mounting	systems	to	the	value	of	approx.	
EUR	0.6	million	in	arm’s	length	transactions	in	the	2011	financial	
year.

In	addition,	Centrosolar	Glas	GmbH	&	Co.	KG	sold	goods	to	the	
value	of	approx.	EUR	1.4	million	(previous	year	EUR	1.4	million)	to	
Wolf	GmbH	in	arm’s	length	transactions	during	the	2011	financial	
year.	

The	group’s	total	receivables	from	CENTROSOLAR	Group	AG	
amounted	to	EUR	353	thousand	(previous	year	EUR	395	thou-
sand)	at	December	31,	2011.	This	compared	with	liabilities	of		
EUR	35	thousand	(previous	year	EUR	31	thousand)	at	the		
balance	sheet	date.

Other legal transactions with persons who could potentially 
be regarded as related parties
The	private	companies	Immobilien	GbR	Wülbeck	and	Solar	GbR	
Wülbeck	could	possibly	be	quantified	as	related	parties,	as		
Dr	Huisman	(Chairman	of	the	Management	Board	of	CENTROTEC	
Sustainable	AG),	Dr	Kirsch	(Chairman	of	the	Management		
Board	of	CENTROSOLAR	Group	AG)	and	Mr	Wülbeck	(Managing	
Director	of	Centrotherm	Systemtechnik	GmbH	and	of	Centrotec	
Composites	GmbH)	hold	an	interest	in	them.	Immobilien	GbR		
Wülbeck	erected	an	industrial	building	which	is	used	by	Bond	
Laminates	GmbH	for	appropriate	consideration.	CENTROTEC	
holds	a	24.95	%	interest	in	Bond	Laminates	GmbH.	Solar	GbR		

Wülbeck	operates	photovoltaic	systems	on	the	roofs	of		
Centrotherm	Systemtechnik	GmbH	and	Bond	Laminates	GmbH.

Furthermore,	Sauerland	Solar	Fund	GmbH	&	Co.	KG	(SSF)	could	
be	classified	as	a	related	party.	The	company	is	a	closed-end	fund	
of	which	only	senior	employees	and	Management	Board	members	
of	the	CENTROTEC	Group	are	members.	CENTROTEC	Sustainable	
AG	has	concluded	a	service	contract	with	SSF	KG.

Relations between the parent company and the subsidiaries
The	activities	of	CENTROTEC	Sustainable	AG	focus	essentially	on	
performing	strategic	and	financial	holding	functions	for	the	opera-
tive	affiliated	companies,	on	advising	and	supporting	them	for	
individual	projects,	and	on	providing	services	on	behalf	of	group	
companies	in	the	areas	of	accounts,	taxes,	payroll	accounting	
and	data	processing.	CENTROTEC	in	addition	steers	the	group	
finances,	coordinates	investor	relations	and	provides	support	for	
projects	at	the	subsidiaries,	including	particularly	mergers	and	
acquisitions	activities.

Total remuneration of the Management Board 
The	total	remuneration	of	the	Management	Board	members	(in-
cluding	retired	members),	including	the	value-assessed	options		
issued	in	2011,	was	EUR	1,770	thousand	(previous	year	EUR	
2,006	thousand).	The	total	remuneration	comprises	non-perfor-
mance-related	and	performance-related	components	and	also	
includes	social	contributions	and	fringe	benefits	such	as	company	
cars	and	pension	commitments.	The	total	amount	also	includes	
the	expense	incurred	in	2011	for	options	granted,	which	have	a	
theoretical	value	of	EUR	506	thousand	(previous	year	EUR	448	
thousand).	The	remuneration	of	the	Management	Board	is	shown	
according	to	member	in	a	separate	remuneration	report,	in	keep-
ing	with	the	criteria	of	the	Corporate	Governance	Code.	The	remu-
neration	of	each	individual	Management	Board	member	is	shown	
in	the	following	table:
		

Management Board Non-     
members performance- Performance- Components with  Total Total
  related related a long-term in  remuneration remuneration
  component1,4 component4 centivising effect2 Other benefits3,4 2011 2010

Dr	Gert-Jan	Huisman	 398	 0	 204	 37	 639	 584

Anton	Hans	 138	 1	 87	 34	 260	 247

Alfred	Gaffal	
(until	March	31,	2011)	 72	 40	 109	 2	 223	 553

Jacko	van	der	Stege	
(until	December	8,	2011)	 152	 0	 26	 34	 212	 210

Dr	Christoph	Traxler	 290	 0	 80	 4	 374	 366

Retired	members	 0	 0	 0	 62	 62	 46

Total 1,050 41 506 173 1,770 2,006

1	 Incl.	employer’s	social	contributions,
2	 Valued	options,	
3	 Expense	for	pensions,	company	cars	and	other,	
4	 Current	component
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The	Supervisory	Board	of	CENTROTEC	Sustainable	AG	and	Jacko	
van	der	Stege	reached	an	agreement	on	the	ending	of	their	col-
laboration	on	December	13,	2011	and	he	left	the	Management	
Board.	Mr	Gaffal	entered	retirement	at	the	end	of	March	2011.

Remuneration of the Supervisory Board
The	fixed	remuneration	totalled	EUR	108	thousand	(previous	year	
EUR	108	thousand).	In	addition	other	expenses	amounting	to	
EUR	1	thousand	(previous	year	EUR	2	thousand)	were	claimed,	in	

particular	for	travel;	the	distribution	of	the	first	dividend	meant	the	
variable	remuneration	component	came	to	EUR	8	thousand.	The	
total	was	distributed	as	follows:	Mr	Krass	EUR	51	thousand,	Dr	
Heiss	EUR	38	thousand	and	Mr	Pochtler	EUR	28	thousand.	.

Directors’ holdings 
The	following	table	shows	directors’	holdings	at	the	balance	sheet	
date
		

The	stock	options	have	been	issued	on	the	same	terms	and	condi-
tions	as	to	the	other	employees.

Management Board and Supervisory Board
Members	of	the	Management	Board:	
Dr Gert-Jan Huisman,		
Nijkerk,	Netherlands,	merchant	(Chairman)
Since	May	2002	Management	Board	Chairman,		
since	April	2011	Board	Member	for	Climate	Systems	and		
since	December	2011	Board	Member	for	Gas	Flue	Systems

Anton Hans,  
Apeldoorn,	Netherlands,	merchant	
Since	January	2008	Finance	Director	and	since	May	2007	Finance	
Director	of	Brink	Climate	Systems	B.V.

Dr Christoph Traxler,		
Fulda,	Germany,	physicist
Since	April	2004	Board	Member	for		
Medical	Technology	&	Engineering	Plastics

Alfred Gaffal,		
Mainburg,	Germany,	merchant
From	January	2007	to	March	2011	Board	Member	for	Climate	
Systems	and	from	June	2002	to	March	2011	Managing	Director	of	
Wolf	GmbH

   31/12/2011  31/12/2010
Management Board  Shares (total) Options (total) Shares (total) Options (total)

Dr	Gert-Jan	Huisman	 35,704	 258,976	 65,704	 226,234

Anton	Hans		 0	 76,221	 0	 67,405

Dr	Christoph	Traxler	 0	 134,126	 0	 129,262

Supervisory Board

Guido	A	Krass	 2,400,000	 0	 2,400,000	 0

Dr	Bernhard	Heiss	 45,550	 0	 45,550	 0

Christian	C	Pochtler	 0	 0	 0	 0

CENTROTEC

Ordinary	shares	 17,291,820	 0	 16,961,961	 0

Treasury	stock	 12,080	 0	 12,080	 0

Jacko van der Stege,		
Voorthuizen,	Niederlande,	Dipl-Ing	
From	2010	to	December	2011	Board	Member	for		
Gas	Flue	Systems

Members of the Supervisory Board:
Guido A Krass,		
Oberwil-Lieli,	Switzerland,	entrepreneur	(Chairman)
Dr Bernhard Heiss,		
Munich,	Germany,	entrepreneur
Christian C Pochtler,	MA,		
Vienna,	Austria,	entrepreneur

The	following	members	of	the	Management	and	Supervisory	
Boards	also	hold	other	non-executive	directorships	as	defined	in	
Section	125	(1),	third	sentence	of	German	Stock	Corporation	Law:
Guido A Krass	 Wolf	GmbH,	Mainburg,	Germany	
	 medimondi	AG,	Fulda,	Germany		
	 (Chairman)
	 CENTROSOLAR	Group	AG,	Munich,		
	 Germany	(Chairman)

Dr Bernhard Heiss	 Altium	Capital	AG,	Munich,	Germany
	 CENTROSOLAR	Group	AG,	Munich,		
	 Germany
	 Langenscheidt	KG,	Munich,	Germany		
	 (Deputy	Chairman	of	Advisory	Board)
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Christian C	 Denzel	AG,	Vienna,	Austria
Pochtler, MA	 PP	Capital	AG,	Vienna,	Austria	(Chairman)

Anton Hans		 medimondi	AG,	Fulda,	Germany
	 M.A.L.S.	Holding	B.V.,	Houten,		
	 Netherlands

Dr Christoph Traxler	 Rolf	Schmidt	Industriplast	A/S,	Kolding,		
	 Denmark	(Chairman)

4_Corporate Governance Code

Pursuant	to	Section	161	of	German	Stock	Corporation	Law,	the	
Management	Board	and	Supervisory	Board	of	a	company	listed	
on	the	stock	exchange	are	obliged	to	declare	once	a	year	whether	
and	to	what	extent	the	code	has	been	and	is	complied	with.	

The	Management	Board	and	Supervisory	Board	of	CENTROTEC	
Sustainable	AG	have	declared	the	extent	to	which	the	recommen-
dations	of	the	Government	Commission	on	the	German	Corporate	
Governance	Code	are	complied	with	by	the	respective	companies.	
The	regularly	submitted	declarations	and	explanations	are	perma-
nently	available	on	the	website	of	CENTROTEC	Sustainable	AG	at	
www.centrotec.com.	

5_Independent auditors’ fees

The	auditors	of	CENTROTEC	are	PricewaterhouseCoopers	AG,	
Germany.	The	amounts	shown	below	do	not	contain	the	fees	for	
other	independent	auditors	of	group	subsidiaries,	nor	do	they	con-
tain	the	amounts	for	international	subsidiaries	of	the	group.	

in EUR ’000 2011 2010

Auditing	services	for	the	financial	statements	 353	 303

Other	certification	services		 0	 0

Tax	consultancy	services	 0	 5

Other	services	 87	 20

Total expenses  440 328

6_Date and approval of the financial statements

The	financial	statements	were	approved	by	the	Management	
Board	and	authorised	as	a	whole	for	issue	on	March	21,	2012.

Once	approved	and	ratified	by	the	corporate	bodies	and	following	
their	publication,	these	financial	statements	may	only	be	amended	
to	the	extent	that	is	permissible	by	law.

Brilon,	March	21,	2012

Dr	Gert-Jan	Huisman,	Chairman

Anton	Hans

Dr	Christoph	Traxler
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Independent Auditors’ Report

We	have	audited	the	consolidated	financial	statements	prepared	
by	Centrotec	Sustainable	AG,	Brilon	–	comprising	the	statement	
of	financial	position,	the	income	statement,	the	statement	of	
comprehensive	income,	the	statement	of	movements	in	equity,	
the	cash	flow	statement	and	the	notes	–	for	the	financial	year	
from	January	1	to	December	31,	2011.	The	preparation	of	the	
consolidated	financial	statements	and	group	management	report	
in	accordance	with	IFRS,	as	adopted	by	the	EU,	and	the	additional	
requirements	of	German	commercial	law	pursuant	to	Section	
315a	(1)	of	German	Commercial	Code,	is	the	responsibility	of	the	
company’s	Management	Board.	Our	responsibility	is	to	express	an	
opinion	on	the	consolidated	financial	statements	and	group	man-
agement	report	based	on	our	audit.

We	conducted	our	audit	of	the	consolidated	financial	statements	
in	accordance	with	Section	317	of	German	Commercial	Code	and	
German	generally	accepted	standards	for	the	audit	of	financial	
statements	promulgated	by	the	Institute	of	Public	Auditors	in	
Germany	(IDW).	Those	standards	require	that	we	plan	and	per-
form	the	audit	such	that	misstatements	materially	affecting	the	
presentation	of	the	net	assets,	financial	position	and	financial	per-
formance	in	the	consolidated	financial	statements	in	accordance	
with	the	applicable	financial	reporting	framework	and	in	the	group	
management	report	are	detected	with	reasonable	assurance.	
Knowledge	of	the	business	activities	and	the	economic	and	legal	
environment	of	the	group	and	expectations	as	to	possible	mis-
statements	are	taken	into	account	in	the	determination	of	audit	
procedures.	The	effectiveness	of	the	accounting-related	internal	
control	system	and	the	evidence	supporting	the	disclosures	in	
the	consolidated	financial	statements	and	the	group	manage-

ment	report	are	examined	primarily	on	a	test	basis	within	the	
framework	of	the	audit.	The	audit	includes	assessing	the	annual	
financial	statements	of	those	entities	included	in	consolidation,	
the	determination	of	the	entities	to	be	included	in	consolidation,	
the	accounting	and	consolidation	principles	used	and	significant	
estimates	made	by	the	Management	Board,	as	well	as	evaluating	
the	overall	presentation	of	the	consolidated	financial	statements	
and	the	group	management	report.	We	believe	that	our	audit	pro-
vides	a	reasonable	basis	for	our	opinion.

Our	audit	has	not	led	to	any	reservations.

In	our	opinion,	based	on	the	findings	of	our	audit,	the	consolidated	
financial	statements	comply	with	the	IFRS	as	adopted	by	the	EU,	
and	the	additional	requirements	of	German	commercial	law	pursu-
ant	to	Section	315a	(1)	of	German	Commercial	Code,	and	give	a	
true	and	fair	view	of	the	net	assets,	financial	position	and	results	
of	operations	of	the	group	in	accordance	with	these	requirements.	
The	group	management	report	is	consistent	with	the	consolidated	
financial	statements	and	as	a	whole	provides	a	suitable	view	of	
the	group’s	position	and	suitably	presents	the	opportunities	and	
risks	of	future	development.

Essen,	March	21,	2012

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Aktiengesellschaft
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Ben	Buitung	 ppa.	Matthias	Schwarze-Gerland
(German	Public	Auditor)	 (German	Public	Auditor)

Financial Calendar 2012

March 29		 Analysts	Meeting/Publication	of	2011	accounts
	 Frankfurt	am	Main
May 15	 Publication	of	Q1	2012	Quarterly	Report
May 22	 Annual	General	Meeting	of	Shareholders
	 Brilon
August 14	 Publication	of	Q2	2012	Quarterly	Report
November 13	 Publication	of	Q3	2012	Quarterly	Report
November 19 – 21 	 German	Equity	Forum
	 Frankfurt	am	Main
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